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1 Dongguan Lee & Man 2 Jiangsu Lee & Man
REEX SRR IE L

Annual 590,000 tons of paper Annual 1.12 million tons of paper
production production
capacity: capacity:

FERE . SOEMAAL FERE . 112 B A 4K

Guangdong Lee & Man 1 Chongqing Lee & Man
EREX : EEEX

Annual 2.30 million tons of paper Annual 900,000 tons of paper,
production and 110,000 tons of tissue production 180,000 tons of pulp and
capacity: paper ot ; capacity: 575,000 tons of tissue
FER 230BMEAR K 11 B MR 4K paper
FERE : 0EMAAR - 18EME KSR
K57 5BMAEAR

Vietham Lee & Man

HMEEX

Annual 550,000 tons of paper/
production products
capacity:

FERE : SSEEIA,Em

7 Malaysia Lee & Man :
BERAZEX — o

Annual 700,000 tons of paper and
production 400,000 tons of pulp board
capacity:
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AR EH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive directors

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss Jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH sp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung

Mr. Yip Heong Kan

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas Jp

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sas Jp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss /p
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung
REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

DNEEH (&)

PRINCIPAL OFFICE

5th Floor, Liven House
61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
In Hong Kong and Macau:

Hang Seng Bank

Standard Chartered Bank
Citibank, N.A.

HSBC

Bank of China (Hong Kong)

In the PRC:

China Construction Bank
Bank of China

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3, Building D,

P.O. Box 1586, Gardenia Court, Camana Bay,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1100,

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54 Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://www.leemanpaper.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE
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BEERE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FET TET Tz
RESULTS £}
Revenue WA 25,836,884 32,208,082 27,144,210 25,867,966 32,511,417
Profit before tax BRI BT 6,323,175 6,127,332 4,020,195 4,321,472 3,794,283
Income tax expense FlERS (1,282,883) (1,247,112) (719,930) (668,960) (542,523)
Profit for the year FERF 5,040,292 4,880,220 3,300,265 3,652,512 3,251,760
At 31 December
W2A318
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TET FET TET THT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ZERAE
Total assets MEE 43,289,793 42,776,828 43,497,407 46,300,491 52,453,843
Total liabilities BAaE (21,373,675  (19,630977)  (17,414,787)  (16,050,076) [EN{EAEIELE))
Net assets EEFE 21,916,118 23,145,851 26,082,620 30,750,415 33,402,998
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

In 2021, the novel coronavirus pandemic situation remained unstable
and a new variant of the virus brought further uncertainties to global
economic recovery. Major economies around the world had
announced substantial fiscal stimulus packages and launched
vaccination programs to aid economic recovery. However, the
ongoing political tensions between the US and PRC governments,
rising energy prices and intensifying inflationary pressures all meant
that enterprises still faced challenges that could impact their business
and operations.

China remained a global leader in pandemic prevention and control,
with stable economic growth and recovering consumer confidence.
For 2021, the Group recorded total revenue of HK$32.5 billion,
representing an increase of 25.7% from that of the previous year,
while the profit for the year decreased by 11.0% to HK$3.25 billion
as a result of rising costs, and net profit attributable to owners of the
Company, ordinary shareholders for the year was HK$3.12 billion.
The earnings per share for the year were HK71.87 cents (2020:
HK80.99 cents).

The board of directors has proposed a final dividend of HK11 cents
per share for 2021 (2020: HK18 cents). The Group’s aggregate sales
for the year amounted to 6.34 million tons, while its net profit per
ton was HK$513.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2021, the “waste ban” was fully implemented in Mainland China,
resulting in a ban on the import of waste paper. As a result, waste
paper, as a raw material, has been in tight supply and pulp prices
continued to rise. In addition, the restricted international shipping
capacity has caused a supply chain bottleneck and transportation
costs have skyrocketed as a result. After the National Development
and Reform Commission published the “Proposal for Modifying the
Mechanism of Dual Control of Energy Consumption Intensity and
Volume ( (52 & BV TH 2 5 & 70 4 i BE R TR BE 7 22) ), various local
governments imposed restrictions on power supply and production
activity, resulting in a surge in energy prices which in turn led to a
sharp rise in paper manufacturing costs. In the face of changes in
market supply and demand and government policies, the Group
actively strengthened its foothold in order to respond to the situation.
The Group has continued to consolidate upstream resources and
develop a vertical business model covering pulp-manufacturing and
waste paper recycling in order to integrate the industrial chain and
ensure the supply of raw materials. At the same time, the Group has
continued to expand its scale, control costs, and increase production
capacity on the basis of its existing businesses, creating more
opportunities for growth in its results.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

In 2022, Mainland China’s economy is expected to see steady growth
amid the ongoing epidemic control and international disputes, and
this, coupled with robust consumption, and the implementation of
various environmental protection policies, will play a positive role in
the development of the paper manufacturing industry. The Group
will continue to optimize its industrial chain so as to diversify its paper
and pulp business, further improve operational stability and
strengthen its profit base. The Group has supported the “Belt and
Road” initiative by targeting the Southeast Asian market, expanding
its presence into international markets and making good use of local
resources to optimize its operating efficiency. It has already added
new production capacity or established production factories in
countries such as Vietnam, Malaysia and Indonesia, and will continue
to seek business opportunities in Belt and Road countries and cities in
the future. The Group is confident in the long-term development of

the of the paper manufacturing industry in the region.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

Packaging paper remains the Group'’s core business. In the wake of
the pandemic, online shopping has become more commonplace,
which has driven up the demand for packaging paper. In addition,
the plastic restriction order implemented by the Chinese government
has led to a trend of using paper packaging instead of plastic, which
has in turn driven the demand for packaging paper. The Group is
actively expanding its recycled pulp business and the coverage and
diversification of its production capacity with the aim of sustainably
enhancing the Group’s profitability. The second paper-making
machine in the Malaysian plant was put into production in April 2021
with an annual capacity of 350,000 tons. The Group also completed
the acquisition of an enterprise in Cambodia and the project is
currently in the early stages of coordinating the land acquisition and
plant construction. In addition, the Group plans to add semi-chemical
pulp production lines at its plants in Jiangxi province and Chongging,
respectively, in order to increase the supply of virgin fiber pulp for
packaging paper.

Regarding the tissue paper business, the market demand for
consumer tissue is increasing thanks to the growing economy, the
increase of per capita disposable income and the pandemic, which
has increased hygiene awareness among the public. The Group
considers the consumer tissue business as its major focus and has,
therefore, established an integrated product chain. The Group has
endeavored to improve the quality of consumer tissue paper and has
boosted its scale of production. The Group produces natural bamboo
unbleached tissue in order to satisfy the needs for health and
environmental protection as well as consumption requirements. The
Group will expand its capacity in line with market and customer
demand, and will add new production lines for consumer tissue
paper at its Jiangxi plant. The total annual production capacity of
consumer tissue paper has now reached 900,000 tons.

10 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2021 Annual Report
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

The Group is committed to providing quality products at reasonable
price while also fulfilling its corporate social responsibility by reducing
pollution and carbon emissions through waste paper recycling and
advanced production technologies, thereby bringing more
environmentally friendly products to customers. In the long term, the
paper manufacturing industry still has tremendous room for
development. The Group will seize opportunities to expand its market
scale and maintain its competitiveness in the paper manufacturing

industry.

CONCLUSION

The Group would like to express its sincere gratitude to its employees
and shareholders for their continued support. Leveraging its leading
position in the paper manufacturing industry and its consistently solid
development advantages, the Group intends to further enhance its
profitability and create greater benefits for shareholders, employees

and society.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DA

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to owners of the Company,
ordinary shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
HK$32.5 billion and HK$3.12 billion respectively, while its net profit
per tonne was HK$513.

The earnings per share for the year was HK71.87 cents when
compared with HK80.99 cents for the year ended 31 December
2020.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group’s distribution and selling expenses was HK$1,009 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021 as compared to HK$718
million for the year ended 31 December 2020. It represented about
3.1% of the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021 and was
increased as compared to about 2.8% for the year ended 31
December 2020.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s general and administrative expenses was HK$1,564
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 as compared to
HK$1,164 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. It
represented about 4.8% of the revenue for the year ended 31
December 2021 and was increased as compared to that of 4.5% for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

12 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2021 Annual Report

TR LK e g
REXE

m=R

HZE2021F12A31HEFEHNWRA KRR
NEEB A - TEIRBRFEEEEF DR A
325t X31.21E8 T - EWEALF]513
BIT ©

AKEEMERERNAE71.8781  #H=ZE
2020F 12 A31H IEFEAIA80.997 1l -

REBEHZ2021F12A3MBLEFEN
DHENEEEBRA1009EE T MEE
2020F12H31BEFERTASEBT o
EHZE2021F12A31H L FER D 84 M58
EERHWALD3 % - BEE2020912
A318IEFE42.8%E 0 °

HERITHER
AEBEEHZE2021F12A31HIEFED
BERTHERAE1564EBEIT > ME
F2020F 12 A31HIEFE A11.64EE
T EE2021F12A31MBILFENEE
MITHERBERALAL.8% @ BEZE2020
F12A31HIEFERIA.5% B -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

FINANCE COSTS

The Group's total finance costs (including the amounts capitalised)
was HK$192 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 as
compared to HK$314 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in average interest rate
on bank borrowings during the year.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS" AND CREDITORS'
TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 59 days and 17 days, respectively, for the year ended
31 December 2021 as compared to 71 days and 10 days, respectively,
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Group's debtors’ turnover days were 41 days for the year ended
31 December 2021 as compared to 46 days for the year ended 31
December 2020. This is in line with the credit terms granted by the
Group to its customers.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days were 26 days for the year ended
31 December 2021 as compared to 30 days for the year ended 31
December 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group (comprising of the Group’s
ordinary share capital, perpetual capital securities, reserves and non-
controlling interests) as at 31 December 2021 was HK$33,403 million
(2020: HK$30,750 million). As at 31 December 2021, the Group had
current assets of HK$15,003 million (2020: HK$12,003 million) and
current liabilities of HK$12,190 million (2020: HK$8,585 million). The
current ratio was 1.23 as at 31 December 2021 as compared to 1.40
at 31 December 2020.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. As at 31 December 2021, the
Group had outstanding bank borrowings of HK$14,061 million
(2020: HK$11,327 million). These bank loans were secured by
corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As at 31 December 2021, the Group maintained bank
balances and cash of HK$1,909 million (2020: HK$1,185 million).
The Group’s net debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings net of cash
and cash equivalents over shareholders’ equity) increased from 0.33
as at 31 December 2020 to 0.36 as at 31 December 2021.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to

meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group’s transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States
dollars. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 December 2021.
The Group has used currency structured instruments, foreign
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency

exposure.

14 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2021 Annual Report

RBEE UBERRELERE

R2021F 128318 REEBHNKRE
e (EEASELBRRA  KEEXRE
5 RERLEREEZ) BT R334.03
BB (20204 : 307.508 ) - I
2021512 A31H - X&EERNREBEE
# 150.03 1 7L (2020 F : 120.03 &
BIr)  MagBBERA121.90EEF T
(20204 : 85.85{8& L) ° H20214F 12
A31B®REILEE /.23 » MHR20204F
12A31881A1.40 ¢

AEE—RUABEENRSRE - UK
EE CBRPARFEz EEZEARRITIRE
WEERBRBEAXBNEEES - B
2021F 128318 - AEBERKREEIRT
EFA140.6118 87T (20204 : 113.27
BAEL) ZERTERBARAET
MEBARRENAREREAER - R
2021F 128318 - AEBERHBFRITEH
K3 & 19.09E % T (20204 : 11.8518
BL) AEENFEABEBLE(EE
BERReRASEEMRURTER)
2020F 12 A31HA/0.33 LA E20214F
12H431H/90.36 °

REBAEHRWRS KA HEANRTHE
AEUNENASENREREEESH
g °
REENZHGREEEEFTZENET - A
R¥ s ETLFE - HE2021F12A831H
EFER  AEBNZEIRDESRE
HIERFEHMBETMEARNBERTE -
AREEFRAEBAEBTA INEEERE
1S - fESNER RS R 2 A o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEENBE DT (&)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a workforce of more than
11,000 people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive
level and are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant
labour market and economic situation. The Group also provides
internal training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff
performance and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its

employees.

1=

MR2021F 128310 XEBEBEBTHEB
11,0004 - EEHMMBF RN EFEFE K
FoUeBFIG BEERYBERBELT
MGREETRBE - ARETRESR
HAPLHFI - WIRETRARAEERF
BERRATAL ©

il

AEEYBEBETMNEARERE - K
TREEUNSLETEH  EHRERKRE
KRBREENBTHEMNEHAREE - &
SEEEBWNBEERL -

BYGERARAT 2021 £ 15



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EhRE

TRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The Board of the Company believes that
sound and reasonable corporate governance practices are essential
for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and maximising
shareholders’ interests. During the year under review, the Company
has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
"Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely
receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-
to-day operations of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management, the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021, the accounting principles and practices adopted and discussed
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2021. The
Model Code also applies to other specified senior management of
the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive directors:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sBs jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun MH Jp

Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung

Mr. Yip Heong Kan

Non-executive director:
Professor Poon Chung Kwong G8s Jp

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

During the year, the Board comprises of five executive directors (one
of whom is the Chairman), one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive directors. In addition, three of the
independent non-executive directors possess appropriate legal,
professional accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business
operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly
identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.

E
RERAEG
BEGEHE:

WITES

FXEEtrenes cvu+(FE)
BXORFGEsrnE A THL

FiER L

Emgit

FERITEE -
BERN BB exmes AFmL

B IEITES -
FRUR &4
Peter A. Daviesst 4
RS E

FRN EFSERBOURTES(HP—
fIRER)  —CIFATEFER =B

FEHRITESE - UL

BN TES

DHIREE 2R BEGHEERME

BEELR -

EESTRERNAKE 2 BEBRE R E
R -BFENTEEAKELEXH UG

RENMABPEAE

BUFATEENERREEREREE
BERAZABTRENFFEENAG BF
SHEE B FATEFTHRALBEY
HERHEND - REAEGTF EMRAURELZ
FrEBIZ LR - ARREEESIBIEH
TESRELTRANEIAGEREMEL
ZFEBMEHERK - MBIV IFATES
R EARRABERBANFRERR

BYGERARAT 2021 £

17



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment

within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

FREALEES EE2ABEHRLE
Tttux% ERRZEE FeBRARD

R
REBEZTHRABETEES 0%
RN RS EREIE ©

T EFABRER

BEEHERN  —ExERRERABY
XU RERRA 2 ARERMANEETEE
% BENSREBTERA BN
REESEW - FTHER -

ExelhEFZ Rz eRLEmEEE
BIRECWERE  MAEERVERED
B E =& XXM MR E F SoE s 1R
RWER  FEREGUNARRBEMNEL
BRERHE -

FR CHARZREZSSE  SEEY
FIERFHIIMT -

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of director EEpE HEER SREKH
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss EXERELwenes cFHt 6/6
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH Jp FXWE L pmns «Fmt 6/6
Mr. Li King Wai Ross PR E 6/6
Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung FHEREE 3/3
Mr. Yip Heong Kan EmEiE 3/3
Professor Poon Chung Kwong G8s Jp BRNB R 2z E2E AT+ 6/6
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREE 6/6
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviesst 4 6/6
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David IS/t 6/6
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Each appointed director receives formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure proper
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the

Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

The directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions to the
Company. The participation by individual directors in the continuous
professional development programme with appropriate emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in
2021 is recorded in the table below.

BUZEEFOR BRI ZERERSE
A 2ERBMARER ZABEIN - K
BRZEFHARA 2 EBNEFTEE
B2 WD MBRN LA KA
MEERE NZBEERER -

EEMREREERLETHAANS MB L
AR/ ARBELER - TRHRIIEE
ER2021FRBEVEELTRARAESTZ
AR BERBECHEEXEREZ
S BT o

Attending external

seminars/
Reading regulatory programmes
updates 88

BMEEERT SNEPHEBE M

Name of director EEpR EHEH watg EE
Executive directors BITES

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sgs Je FNEELtwenes cFHt v v
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH Jp FRE EwanEs Fat v v
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FERE v v
Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung THEPEE v v
Mr. Yip Heong Kan EmgkaE v v
Non-executive director *HTES

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gs Jp BRI E senEs A THT v v
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRUESTE

Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviesst 4

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David FEREE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current

members include:

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. To conform to the
provisions of the Code and the Listing Rules, the written terms of
reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March 2012, and
revised in (i) January 2016 to reflect the additional responsibilities of
the Audit Committee arising from the Stock Exchange’s proposal on
risk management and internal control under the Code applicable to
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016; and (ii)
January 2019 to reflect the amendments of the Code with effect
from 1 January 2019. A copy of the terms of reference is posted on
the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group's financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and
objectively of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides
an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps
under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a

review of the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the

individual attendance of each member is set out below:

FAR- - ABRZRERZESSE @ @5
RE®HFEBERFINNAT :

Number of attendance

Name of member BE%SR R
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David ISyt 3/3
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREAE 3/3
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviest 4 3/3
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FNEES

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the ¥ MMZEE &M 2005F K WK E R
current members include: &

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman) FERK A (EE)

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR £

Mr. Peter A. Davies

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code and advises and makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee ensures that no director or any of his
associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were approved and
adopted on 28 March 2012 to conform to the provisions of the

Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in

the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year and all

members have attended in the meeting.

Peter A. Daviesst &

FHWEB S RMNTRIMEKZB.1.2(0
(i) MEFERAEEBEERSRER
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March 2012 and
the current members include:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss jp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive directors. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March
2012 to conform to the provisions of the Code, a copy of which is
posted on the Company’s website.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. One Nomination Committee meeting was held
during the year and all members have attended in the meeting.

Nomination Policy

Objectives
The key objectives of the Nomination Policy (the “Nomination

Policy”) shall inter-alia include the following:

o to set out the criteria and process for the nomination and
appointment of directors of the Company;

o to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company'’s business; and

o to ensure the Board's continuity and appropriate leadership at
the Board level.
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Appointment and Re-appointment of Director

Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity,
qualification, expertise and experience of the candidate who is
considered for being appointed/re-elected as director and apply due
diligence in compliance with all applicable provisions of the laws of
the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules including any amendments
thereto from time to time. Also, the Nomination Committee shall
consider recommendations for candidates to the Board from

shareholders of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall obtain all applicable declarations
and undertakings as provided under the laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Listing Rules. In the case of independent non-executive
directors, the Nomination Committee shall ensure that the
independent non-executive directors meet the criteria of

independence as laid down in the Listing Rules.

While recommending any potential new member(s)/re-appointment
of existing member(s) to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall

consider the following:

o candidate’s character, integrity, qualifications including
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
and diversity criteria under the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company which are relevant to the Company’s business and

corporate strategy, other commitments and the like;

o any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

o requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the

independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

o the potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,

independence, gender diversity and diversity of perspectives;

ZERERES

REZBSGRERPABLIBERZTIXNEES
BERFEANBIE - B - EXENHNE
B WRIEAAEANRASES AN N E
AR R BIEE R B A S R]
TERAT - I RBZBEEEEX
REABERAEESRENREARS -

REZBEEBREFSHEZEIM TR
AR R E RS A B R M B RAMARE © 5L
BIUFNTESME REZEQREER
BUFRTEETA LMRBMAENIEL
IR o

ERESSHRBIAEENNKE BB
REKER REZEEEREZENTE
I8

s REBEANMKR  HiE BEEBRERE
XER X MBRERERERE
R A% LR HIE E R BB &
EBHRBN S TR E R EAMAGE

S .
=

c AEREFESALHRROEM
AR E

s EEERITRAUNBRLRIYBUE
ENZEEAZERE ETARRA
B UAENRERBILAL

s REAEEE g &% B
- ZcER RZ BT E
EEREFEWARNEBEER

BYGERARAT 2021 £ 23



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

(%)

SEERRE

o willingness and ability to devote sufficient time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s);

o such other criteria which are appropriate to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy and the Board’s succession
plan and, where applicable, which may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from
time to time for nomination of Directors and succession
planning; and

o any other factors as the Nomination Committee may deem fit
to consider in the best interests of the Company and
shareholders of the Company.

Once the Nomination Committee determines that an additional or
replacement director is required, the Nomination Committee may
take such measures that it considers appropriate in connection with
its evaluation of a candidate, including inquiry of the person or
persons making the recommendation or nomination, engagement of
an outside search firm to gather additional information, or reliance
on the knowledge of the members of the Nomination Committee,
the Board or the management.

The Nomination Committee may retain the services of other
professional third parties to assist in identifying and evaluating
potential candidates.

The Nomination Committee and the Board shall ensure that the
composition of the Board is in conformity with the laws of the
Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and all other applicable laws and
regulations.

In accordance with the Articles of Association and applicable laws
and regulations, Mr. Lee Man Bun, Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung, Mr. Yip
Heong Kan and Mr. Peter A. Davies, shall retire by rotation and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the next forthcoming
annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
the directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company has devised a policy on Board diversity (the “Policy”)
to ensure adequate diversity in its Board, with effect from 1 January
2019.

Vision

The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board’s
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to
maintain high standards of corporate governance. The Company will
continue to monitor and develop new objectives for implementing
and achieving improved diversity on the Board as and when it

considers appropriate with regard to the specific needs of the

Company and the market from time to time.

Policy Statement

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diversified Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive

advantage.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, which will include but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and the like. The ultimate decision will be based on
overall contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board and the Company.

Review of the Policy

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Policy and will from time to time review the Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Policy. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any

such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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During the year, the Company continued to monitor the board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires board
appointments to be made based on merit and candidates to be
considered against an objective criteria, including diversity. In order
to maintain an appropriate mix and balance of talent, skills,
experience and background on the Board, the Nomination
Committee developed measurable objectives to implement this policy
and monitored progress towards achieving these objectives during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

The current board composition was also evaluated by reference to,
among other things, the age, gender, cultural and educational
background and professional experience of each director, against the
Company’s business model and specific needs.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the fee payable to the
Company’s external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out below:

FR - ARBBBEEREESHKRNZ T
LR ZBREREETSLEUAARE
TRRA - WAZTEETHRIGEGHERE
FANE - REZESRSCESERIFEE
WA e e BREkESHEA KT
BRI A2 B IR E M Ll ECR - R
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BRARNRINEZ AN ENNE R
T

HK$'000

FET

Audit services EZRTE 9,839
Non-audit services (included tax matters, FEEERE(BEREEE -

review and other reporting services) FEH N EMEBRRE) 1,812

11,651

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group's risk management and internal control systems provide a
clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as
reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage it risks across
business operations effectively.
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The Group has established a risk management framework, which
consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the Risk
Management Taskforce (i.e. Senior Management). The Board
determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and has the overall
responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and the
overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control

systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management
Taskforce identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement
of the Group's objectives, and assesses and prioritises the identified
risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and
risk owners are then established and assigned for those risks

considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to provide internal audit services, which assist the Board and
the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design
and implementation of internal controls are identified and
recommendations are proposed for improvement. Significant internal
control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the
Board on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are
taken.

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to
the Audit Committee and the Board at least once a year. The Board
had performed annual review on the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, including but not limited
to the Group’s ability to cope with its business transformation and
changing external environment; the scope and quality of
management’s review on risk management and internal control
systems; result of internal audit work; the extent and frequency of
communication with the Board in relation to result of risk and
internal control review; significant failures or weaknesses identified
and their related implications; and status of compliance with the
Listing Rules. The Board considers the Group'’s risk management and

internal control systems are effective.
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The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“"SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the Safe Harbours as provided in the
SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The
Group is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcements are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or
false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which requires

equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2021, the
directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and prepared the
accounts on the going concern basis. The directors are also
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website
of the Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the

Company’s businesses at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual

report.

Dividend Policy

The Board considers sustainable returns to shareholders to be one of
the main objectives of the Company. Stable dividend payment to

shareholders is the primary objective of the Company.

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company, all of the shareholders have equal rights
to dividends and distributions. The Board determines the interim
dividend and recommends the final dividend which requires the
approval of shareholders. In addition to cash, dividends may be
distributed in the form of shares. Any distribution of shares also

requires the approval of shareholders.
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Retained profits can be used to achieve growth in corporate value.
The Board has been making effective use of retained profits to
strengthen the operating base and the development of businesses.
According to the dividend policy adopted by the Company on 1
January 2019, the Board takes into account the following factors

when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

o financial results;

. cash flow situation;

o availability of distributable profits;

. business conditions and strategies;

o future operations and earnings;

o development plans;

o cash requirements;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

o interests of shareholders as a whole;

o any restrictions on declaration and/or payment of dividends;
and

o any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

In practice, the Company will not declare any dividend(s) where:

o there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is
or would be, after a dividend payment, unable to pay its
liabilities or discharge its obligations as and when they become
due;

o pursuant to dividend decision date, the Company is insolvent
or bankrupt or where, as a result of paying dividends, the
Company would be rendered insolvent or bankrupt; or

o there is any other case set forth by any law.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder

meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
shareholder meeting.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must
be signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the
principal office of the Company, which is presently situated at 5/F.,
Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company’s Articles of Association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal
of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general

meetings of the Company.
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ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

With growing concerns from the various walks of life on how
enterprises have shouldered their social responsibilities, Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (“Lee & Man Paper”, the “Group” or
“We") has prepared this Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (this “Report” or “ESG Report”) for the period between 1
January 2021 and 31 December 2021 (the "Year”) in accordance
with the requirements under Appendix 27 “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” of the Main Board Listing Rules of
Hong Kong Exchange in order that stakeholders can better
understand our performance in respect of environment, social and
governance (“ESG") and related information.

REPORTING STANDARDS AND SCOPE

Unless otherwise stated, this Report focuses on the Group's core
paper manufacturing business in Guangdong, Jiangsu, Chongging
and Vietnam. The annual production capacities of above-mentioned
plants accounted for nearly 80%" of all plants of the Group with
thousands of employees hired, exerting a clear and significant
contribution on the Group's operation and ESG performance. The
Group reports on the policies, measures, performance and key
performance indicators with significant impacts on ESG issues based
on the following four principles.

o Materiality: Significant environmental and social issues are
determined by key stakeholders;

o Quantitative: Measurable key performance indicators are
reported in a quantitative way with narrative and comparative
data where appropriate, and further improvement goals are
set;

o Balance: The Group’s ESG performance is reported in an
objective and fair manner,

o Consistency: Consistent methodologies are used to make data
comparable.

As the Group’s plants in Malaysia and Indonesia only commenced their production
in late 2021 and still were at their start-up stage, their actual production was
insignificance as compared to the Group’s overall production and therefore was not
included in the calculation of the Group’s production capacity.
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Information contained in this Report has been identified by the
personnel in charge of the Group’s ESG together with our key
stakeholders, and material ESG issues have been prioritised in
accordance with the materiality assessment. Preparation of the
Report involved participation of the management and employees
from all departments and has been approved by the Board to ensure
the truthfulness and accuracy of the content and create values for all
stakeholders.

BOARD STATEMENT

Looking back to 2021, the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic
remained severe across the world. Although the paper manufacturing
industry continued to face challenges of international trade
disruptions, domestic supply-side reform and tightened
environmental regulations and so forth, the Group still strove to
achieve sustainable strategic goals in line with sustainable
development and was able to overcome challenges.

The Board assumes the full responsibility of sustainable development,
including formulating the long-term, medium-term and short-term
development directions, evaluating the risks and opportunities of the
Group's key ESG issues, reviewing and ensuring the effectiveness of
the relevant risk management and internal control systems. Besides,
the Board also supervises senior management of the Group to
continually optimize the governance structure, promotes the
implementation of ESG initiatives and reviews reports prepared by
the dedicated working team on a regular basis with an aim of

making progress on sustainable development of the Group.

During the Year, we proactively carried out sustainable development,
including helping frontline workers to combat the pandemic and
adopting the pandemic prevention and control measures throughout
the year to safeguard the health of employees. After each major
pandemic outbreak, in order to avoid the shortage of daily necessities
that may be caused by halt in production, we have made every effort
to maintain production by strictly complying with local governments’
policies on pandemic control in order to ensure the provision of

household paper while safeguarding the epidemic prevention.
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The Group has also launched and funded a number of charity
projects to fulfill its corporate social responsibility to help the poor
and the disabled. In terms of environmental protection, we have
applied energy-saving and emission-reducing elements in our
domestic and international industry chains and products, and
invested resources in the development of environmentally friendly
production technologies as a timely response to climate changes and
extreme weather conditions, so as to protect the safety of factory
workers and avoid property losses. In addition, we have improved our
labor management mechanism and enhanced staff welfare to bring

benefits to our employees.

Our excellent governance system, combined with stringent
production procedures and quality control, enables us to create value
for our customers, the public and other stakeholders through our
products and services. This year, we were certified as the “Top 10
Enterprises of Paper Industry in China Light Industries” and “Top 200
by the China Light Industry

Council, demonstrating that we are recognized by the community.

Enterprises in China Light Industries”

Looking ahead, we expect to achieve our targets in sustainable
development matters. In addition to our occupational safety targets,
we have set four environmental targets, using the figures in 2019 as
baseline to reduce overall air emissions by 2%, waste water by 1%,
non-hazardous waste by 2%, and to reduce annual unit product
consumption (coal and water) at our major plants by 1% in or before
2025. We will continue to increase our investment in public service
and community, and regularly review the progress on ESG-related
targets on an annual basis and continue to pursue greener
performance. With Lee & Man Paper as our starting point, we will
work together with our stakeholders to drive sustainable

development for a better future.

Board of directors
7 March 2022
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ESG CULTURE AND VISION

Embracing people-oriented principle
Protecting environment and saving energy
Striving for improvements

Contributing to society

Lee & Man Paper always adhered to a principle that places equal
emphasis on production and operation, recruiting the right talents
and letting them do their best, as well as environmental protection.
Through sound corporate governance, we aim at creating a future in
which operation will be performed in parallel with sustainable
development. We continue to invest resources in climate change
management, environmental conservation and technology research
and development to reduce emissions and strive to produce
sustainable products with the highest quality. With our aim of
establishing a people oriented and efficient corporate culture in the
long term, the vision of environmental protection and harmony will

be promoted to the whole country and even beyond.

ESG MANAGEMENT AND POLICIES

The Group has established a sound risk management and internal
control system, which is fully supported by the Board. We have
developed a management structure with established rules and
regulations, and specified the risks and respective persons in charge
of internal processes. Independent third party consultant is engaged
every year to conduct a comprehensive risk assessment and internal
audit for the Group to prepare risk management and internal audit
reports, which will be reported to the Audit Committee. We strive to
provide the Board with all-round information covering the
environmental, social and governance risks, including business
operation, occupational health and safety under the pandemic,

response to domestic and foreign environmental protection policies,
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compliance and anti-corruption, climate change, etc., to ensure
effective management and control and seize opportunities as they
arise. The Board of the Company attaches great importance to the
Group's sustainable development and has established an ESG task
force led by senior management, whose members including the
heads of the quality control department, human resources
department, information technology department, administration
managers and sales managers, etc., to identify major ESG issues,
manage the Group's ESG risks and opportunities and monitor the
Group’s ESG performance on a regular basis, and report to the
management. The management will assess its impact and develop
long-term and short-term plans to address potential risks, which will
be reviewed and approved by the Board. The Group’s ESG structure
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Thg Board

Senior management
(including the heads and

Dedicated working team
(the environmental protection team,
safety steering team and

Formulate the overall ESG development direction and
ensure the effectiveness of the risk management and
corresponding internal control system in respect of the
Group's ESG, with a view to minimising the ESG risks exposed
by the Group and capturing opportunities,
while promoting the Group's sustainable development.
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Establish ESG management approaches, formulate
ESG policies and related measures to
integrate ESG elements into operations.
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Coordinate and supervise ESG issues
(including ESG report), regularly review the progress
of key performance indicator targets and
make fine adjustments.
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Business units and
related personnel
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Comprise personnel with relevant
environmental and safety management
qualifications to materialise the implementation
of ESG policies and measures and
report to the management on a regular basis.
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Set personal sustainable development
goals and integrate the Group'’s
philosophy into daily work.
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STAKEHOLDERS IDENTIFICATION AND ENGAGEMENT

Our stakeholders are internal and external interested parties of the

Group, which are closely related to the ESG management and

performance of the Group. By sorting out the individuals and parties

that can affect or be affected by the operations of the Group, the

management summarises the following seven key stakeholder

groups. The Group values the engagement of each stakeholder and

actively collects their opinions and expectations through interactions

in daily operation, understands the impacts brought to them by our

operation, so as to identify the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities.
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Employees
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Customers
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Suppliers and business
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Investors and shareholders
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Government and regulatory
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Community groups
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Internal communication channels
Intranet and employee newsletters
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Official website

Advertisements and communication
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Business meetings

Audit and performance evaluations
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Annual general meeting
Annual and interim reports
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Public consultation
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Official website
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Social services
Charity activities
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Performance evaluations and
regular meetings

Training and activities
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Service hotline and opinion survey
Interviews and meetings with customers
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Site visits

Industry forums
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Circulars and announcements
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During the Year, the stakeholders of the Group expressed concerns
in the following areas, among others:

o Use clean energy to reduce emissions

o Increase the use of innovative technology to reduce wastes

from production

o Improve product quality and thereby increasing customer
satisfaction

° Enhance occupational safety management in factories

o Cultivate the human resource and provide more trainings

The above considerations will be incorporated into the future
operational strategies of the Group in order to respond to the
demands of stakeholders.

ESG MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In order to determine the ESG issues that are significant to the
Group, the Group has conducted an ESG materiality assessment with
the representatives of the aforesaid key stakeholder groups through
interview and questionnaire. Relevance and materiality of issues are
assessed by internal and external stakeholders in order to identify and
analyse the most significant ESG issues of the Group. Such ESG issues
are determined in accordance with the ESG aspects as stated in the
Appendix 27 “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” of the Main Board Listing Rules of Hong Kong Exchange and
based on other factors which have an impact on the Group’s
operation and management system, objectives and core value, and

risks and opportunities.
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EXTERNAL ASSESSMENT
ShEBER 1

Conducted by the

representatives of external

INTERNAL ASSESSMENT
YRRk

Conducted by the Group’s employees

MATERIAL
ISSUES

ER

e

at different levels based on the

influence and materiality of that ESG stakeholder groups based on

the influence and materiality
of that ESG issue to such
stakeholders
HNERFE (0 E R B RARIRZESG

mRHHETEREEM
EH S

issue to the Group’s sustainable

operation

SEAZLRINE TRIEZESGH
BHEERELEERNATER
BEEZMMmMIELFS
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MATERIALITY MATRIX

Based on the assessments by stakeholders on various issues, we have
identified the 28 issues that are most significant to the Group's
stakeholders and our development, and these issues are ranked
according to the materiality. In response to the increased concerns of
the Group's stakeholders on environmental issues during the Year,
the reporting focus of the Year has also been adjusted. The Group
will continue to improve the group’s development framework to
meet the needs of stakeholders in ESG management.

Green supply chain
HeftEe 02

>

Prohibition of child
and forced labour
friEE T REgEAT

and donation

HAE

Biodiversity
E3/E2:4:3

Materiality to the Group’s stakeholders

Anti-bribery, anti-fraud

and anti-money laundering @ .

B ILARRE - HREE

HEEERE

EERMHERE

BABZRHNERSTERZENTD - RIAER
BT28EHAKERNERBEZERM
ERAEEMESGERE  UHHEREERRE
EHES - AREASEEAREER D ELRR
AEMET LT NFEMERSELITE
P  AEBERGEECSEBERIE
R RESGERLMBRHNEMS

Occupational health

and safety
wiﬁ%r{st% Air emissions and
Working hours . . sewage discharge
and holidays BERISRBERR
o fi P2
TEREH Cﬁog@ance Wastes from production

HEBEY)
Compensation and benefits of staff members

RARE EBEEE
Equality, diversity Recruitment - Product quality EEFMEBEF
and anti-discrimination and dismissal and safety 25 Recycling of resources
F% - ek B KRR EREERETS HRE Y
ﬁ RIEHE Continuing devel
I:EK Procurement and 24 Ofosnttal?fu:ggmszssopmem Matnagemem of
supplier management BIRERR Environmentally e wage
H.m.l.l RBEAERERE ot . friendly products e
rotection of privacy RREM
fea) newe & . )
U:
After-sale services and ﬁfs ?ngergy
'H{II handling of complaints g .
$ ERRBR
ARELIE
ﬂz Reasonable marketing Wastes from Use of packaging materials
and promotion 27 ek
] ARTHREE gfﬂce work BRYFHES
[P} o - WABERY

Community investment

Noise pollution
RESR

Greenhouse gas

MERRE

Climate change
FIRE(L

Materiality to the Group’s business >

B Compliance management
BHRERE

M Staff development
BT ¥R

I Environmental protection
RIRRE

HESEXRBNEEN

Product quality
EmmE

B Community investment

HERE

40 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2021 Annual Report



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERKRSE (H)

AWARDS & ACCOLADES FOR 2021

The Group has been putting continuous efforts since its inception
with consistent commitment to our customers, employees and  f *
community. Adhering to a principle that places equal emphasis on
production and operation as well as environmental protection, we
stay committed to offering quality products and services to the  #F -
customers. With the support from various sectors, we have received

2021 FFRERIEMEE

AEBBATAR —BRRRHHE  HE
BT  HEAEBEN—  FREE
KERRSREVENTE  THAER
TREEBENERERYE - ABEAX
AFEERMESTZHRAUESTE -
TH) /20215 55 RIBFIEEE -

a number of recognitions during the Year. The following table sets

out some of the awards and accolades received in 2021:

Awards and Honors

RIEMRKE

Awarded by
BN

Top 200 Enterprises in China Light Industries 2021
2021 FHBEETE_AARdE

Top 10 Enterprises of Paper Industry in China Light
Industries 2021
202" FHBEEIRERTRTRBEE

The certificate of “High and New Technology Enterprise”

SR bEES

Quality Brand Incubator

g

L B %

2l

National Level Green Factory
KR E TR

Advanced collective enterprise for energy conservation
and circular economy in 2020 (awarded in March 2021)

2020 EENRE R MEIR R TE i 2 62
(202143 AME3)

China National Light Industry Council
HEETERAE

China National Light Industry Council/
China Paper Association

FRETERAE TEERHES

Department of Science and Technology/Department of
Finance/State Taxation Administration of Guangdong
Province

BERERRE M BE/ HEER

National Quality Supervision and Testing Centre
for Paper Products
BHRAHEmESEERRBRP O

Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the
People's Republic of China
i AR EFIE T EME B LI

Organizations such as Management Committee of
Changshu Economic and Technological Development
Zone

BEAREBERMAERERERESS
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Awards and Honors

RIFMRE

Awarded by
BB

Excellent enterprise for energy-saving and emission
reduction in the special assessment of economic
development in 2021

202V FEREEREBERESHERSFLE

AA Grade Enterprise for Quality and Credit for
Industrial Enterprises in Jiangsu Province in 2021

2021 EIIEHE LEPEESERAAALE

Enterprise with Harmonious Labor Relations

Demonstration Unit for Harmonious Labor Relations

ML BB EFHREE L

Care and Respect for the Elderly Unit
WEELEL

People Government of Changshu City

BANARBMA

Jiangsu Provincial Administration for Market Regulation

THEMSEEEER

Chongging Federation of Trade Unions of
Chongging Municipal Human Resources and
Social Security Bureau

BEETAMBEETHAIS

Chongging Federation of Trade Unions of
Chongging Municipal Human Resources and
Social Security Bureau

EETAHREETRALS

Chonggqing Senior Citizen Development Foundation

EETEFEXERESS
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PEOPLE-ORIENTED
Anti-corruption

Anti-bribery, Anti-fraud and Anti-money Laundering

The Group attaches great importance to integrity supervision, and is
committed to preventing corruption, bribery, fraud and other
behaviors that are illegal and against commercial ethics, to make sure
we have always observed laws and regulations on prevention of
commercial crimes in our daily operations, including but not limited
to the “Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the "Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China”
and so forth. Enterprises are required under laws and regulations to
abide by the principles of fairness, equality and integrity, to act in a
lawful manner, to adhere to commercial ethics, and not to operate
business by means of theft, bribery, deception, compulsion or other

improper means.

The Group believes that to achieve anti-corruption, it relies the
cooperation of both internal and external parties within the
organization. Therefore, all employees are required to abide by the
“Standards for Commercial Ethics” compiled by the Group, which
restricts employees to serve the Company and customers with
professional compliance, equality, fairness, and integrity. The
Worker’s Manual of the Group also clearly stipulates code of personal
and professional conduct for their stringent compliance, pursuant to
which employees are not allowed to accept any special privilege
during transactions, including but not limited to rebates, expensive
gifts, luxury hospitality, etc., so as not to affect their objectivity and
professional judgment. In addition, each employee of the Group has
to sign an “Undertaking to Integrity”, undertaking that he/she will
not use his/her position to seek for unfair benefits nor gain personal
profits to the detriment of the Company.

BLA R

k&S

PIEREEE - REF RO R
FEEASEERRREE  BAINEBE
B B MEFERIZMERBEERD
TR BREEREBEETHAMLEESE
REBREINER  BRRTRA(HE
ARKFMBERE) - (PEARAME R
HEE) (PEARAMBRALEE S
FR)E - FRBREXFTRERBYEF - 2
FBEFRA REAMT BTAXE
B TISUNERE B MGEF - BARE
NEMANEE FREE -

AEBHEEREARESAEBRZTANA
E-Hit - FAEEINFEETASER
He(EEBERAH)  BRETIUEXA
B FEQLE  BELEENTARELRA
MEP - AEEOEIFRIPTANHRE
TEARBEZZR T ARBRBHEL - PER
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The Group has also put in place an anonymous whistleblowing
mechanism for employees. Any person who comes to know that the
interests of the Company are infringed by any person or issue may
lodge a complaint or grievance with the Personnel Section, the
Human Resources Department, the Administration Department or, in
general, with the department head who has the authority to deal
with the matter. The Complaints and Grievances Handling
Department will conduct an independent investigation within 7
working days of receipt of the complaint or grievance, and will
immediately report to a higher authority in the case of a serious issue
involving a large number of parties. The Grievance and Complaint
Handling Department shall keep the identity of the employee who
makes the complaint or lodges the grievance confidential, and any
breach of confidentiality shall be dealt with by the Company in
accordance with the rules and procedures. We have regularly
assessed and reviewed the internal management system to ensure
that potential corruption risks can be effectively prevented. The
results of the above review and audit will be reported to the Audit
Committee to ensure that the relevant risks are acknowledged,
assessed and addressed. In order to emphasise the Group’s integrity
policies and allow employees to clearly understand the Company’s
anti-corruption policy and the importance of integrity, the human
resources department and the legal department regularly provide
anti-corruption trainings to the management and employees, and

new comers are required to receive integrity education and training.

In the meantime, business counterparties of the Group, including
customers, suppliers and contractors are required to sign an
“Undertaking to Eliminate Bribery” by promising no bribery will be
conducted and integrity will be upheld together with the Group, and
violators shall bear the losses and all legal consequences of the
Group. The Group also encourages its partners to provide their anti-
corruption policies for our reference, ensuring that both parties

cooperate on a fair, open and just basis.

During the Year, the Group did not find anything which constituted
a breach of the aforesaid and other local laws and regulations related

to anti-corruption or anti-money laundering.
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Employment

Lee & Man Paper regards employees as one of its valuable assets and
relies on their contributions to create a competitive advantage for the
Group. The Group actively attracts and motivates outstanding talents,
assists employees in developing their potential to realise the people-

oriented core value.

Given that staff in Mainland China represents a majority of the
personnel of the Group, the Group fully complied with the
requirements of the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” and
other relevant local employment laws and regulations. In accordance
with the requirements, employees are entitled to compensation,
holidays and leaves, occupational safety, trainings, insurance and
benefits, the right to propose for the handling of labour disputes and
other labour rights. The Group has established policies and
procedures ensuring the implementation of statutory requirements
and hence providing its employees with a work and living
environment of higher level of quality, fairness and respect. In
response to the expansion of the Group, we have further sorted out
and adjusted our domestic and foreign human resource management
strategy to specify the responsibilities and rights of both employees
and employers, strengthening the protection for our staff.

o
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Recruitment, Promotion, Compensation and Benefits

Talents are always in demand and the Group has been eager to
recruit those who share the same values and visions with us so that
we can build a diversified and professional team full of passion. By
external recruitment and internal promotion channels to recruit and
promote staff, as well as the establishment of our internal
“Recruitment Management Policy”, “Promotion Management
Policy”, “Appraisal Management Policy”, “Salary Management
Policy”, "Termination Management Policy” and other relevant
guidelines to govern administrative works including staff recruitment,
appraisal and termination, the Group ensured high efficiency,
compliance and transparency throughout the process. The Group
also distributed the Worker's Manual to staff introducing its culture
and core values, admission and appraisal, benefits and holidays,
working hours and overtime regulation, training arrangements etc.,
ensuring that staff had full understanding of the human resources
policy of the Group and the right to protect their own interests.
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In order to enable employees to better develop on the existing basis,
improve work ability and strength to become outstanding talents, the
management team maintains two-way communication with
employees, and determines the salary, personal development plans
and training of each employee in accordance with their performance,
experience, expertise and job duties, to enable them to grow with
the Company. We strive to provide employees with better-than-
market benefits and compensation packages to attract and retain
talents.

In terms of benefits, the Group maintains provident fund and social
insurances for its employees, ensuring that they can work only after
being insured. It also takes full consideration of employees’ needs by
arranging convenient accommodation and meals for employees and
their families. Our employees enjoy work injury leave, marital leave,
paternity leave, maternity leave, compassionate leave, business trip
leave, annual leave, personal leave, sick leave and medical insurance,
and bonuses based on employee performance and the Group's
profit.

We implement forty hours work week arrangement to ensure
reasonable working hours so as to give employees sufficient rest and
to avoid overwork. The additional working hours must be agreed and
the “Overtime Request Form” must be filled by employees, and then
the form should be submitted to the human resources department
for record. For any complaints relating to working hours which are
against employees’ wishes or unreasonable, the Group will arrange
follow-up investigations by the human resources department to

protect employees’ labour rights and interests.
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Employees’ Data for the Year

AEEEBTHIE

All employees engaged by the reported plants are full-time AREFEMEANEIZAZBET - 8T
employees. The total number and percentage of employees are as HIREI N B DL HLT -

follows:
Employees by gender

EEMA

?

81%

B Male B ™ Female &

Employment category by position

B R

5%

23%

72%
B General staff
—MRETL

= Mid-level staff and
management
FRETREERE

B Senior management
mRERE

Contract types
aHER

0%

100%

B Long-term contract ™ Temporary contract

REIEH Fafs & 4
Employees by age Employees by region
EEFR B EREESEY

1%

‘ 16%
23% ‘
13%
45%
@ Jza/

B Aged below 30 H Vietnam Lee B Chongging Lee
30BRA T and Man and Man
R IR BEEX
B Aged 30-49 .
30-49%% B Jiangsu Lee ® Guangdong Lee
and Man and Man
I Aged 50 or over TTEREX FERIEX
50pRk A =
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Total number of employees 2021 2020
BTHAH 20215 20205

By gender

45l

Male 5,600 5,623
e

Female 1,283 1,290
z

By contract types

BHEE

Long-term contract 6,883 6,913
FHELD

Temporary contract - -
W B & 49

By position

B E Rl

General staff 4,995 4,924
—MET

Mid-level staff and management 1,569 1,690
FRETINERE

Senior management 319 299
RRERE

By age group

FeER

Aged below 30 1,559 1,615
305 AT

Aged 30-49 4,535 4,628
30-495%

Aged 50 or over 789 670
50853 A k=

Region

&

Guangdong 3,077 3,047
BR

Jiangsu 1,825 1,829
a3

Chongging 880 864
BF

V[etnam 1,101 1,173
i
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Employee turnover rate 2021 2020
BIRAKE 20215 20205

By gender

E3:]]

Male 16% 14%
e

Female 25% 20%
Z

By age group

FieER

Aged below 30 29% 28%
30m AT

Aged 30-49 15% 12%
30-495%

Aged 50 or over 10% 9%
5073k LA _E

Region

&

Guangdong 19% 16%
BR

Jiangsu 14% 7%
TLER

Chongging 13% 8%
BF

Vietnam 24% 31%
R
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Employee Care
We foster employees’ loyalty through a positive corporate culture,
promote and strengthen cohesion among teams, cultivate closer
relationship between employees and the Company, and achieve the
objective of “a win-win situation for both employer and employee as
ne”. The Group insists on maintaining good communication with
employees. The interaction between employees and the Company
can make both parties easier to hear and understand each other. We
also continue to improve employee services in terms of meals,

accommodation and amenities based on employees’ needs.

We regularly provide recreational activities and festive celebration
activities, such as the Spring Dinner, the National Day Celebration
Dinner, sports competition, luck draw event and staff birthday party
and so on, to encourage employees and their families to participate
s0 as to share the joy of life and promote physical and mental health
of employees. In addition, the Group has set up an employees’
welfare fund to help them meet emergency needs. If an employee or
his/her family had a need for financial assistance due to an
emergency, the Group would directly release emergence fund from
the welfare fund to the employee to provide them with caring

assistance and help them through the difficult time.

Recreational activities for employees

BETIXNRERES

BIRIZE
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Basketball game
R &

Chess gathering
REEE
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Ten Years of Service T FEEM

A ten-year management service award ceremony was held at the BRI Y BT +EEIE RIEEHEEE
Guangdong plant. Mr. Lee Ho Chung Jude, the Executive Director of = o KA BMITEE R E B L KBRS
the Company and Deputy General Manager of the Group, was HEATELEFE  AZZ+FEIERGE
invited to attend the ceremony and awarded gold medals to several EEEBEE L - UER QMM AIE X
recipients of the Ten Year Management Service Award. He also EBEFMEL MBS ERAER
expressed his gratitude and congratulations to the recipients who — RELGHFIMNE - EFEGLENE AT HEE
worked hard and contributed to the development and progress of T ' thRATEEIAENBTEBZ TERT
Lee & Man at their respective positions. By doing so, the Group not  EI| 2 B i 5 9 A IS R FIBERE 0 B 115 o
only sought to motivate employees, but also give them the warmth

and care of the Group during the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Equal Opportunities and Anti-Discrimination

The Group encourages mutual respect and trust among our
employees, strives to build a harmonious Lee & Man family, and
prohibits any behavior that undermines a harmonious and integrated
team. The Group is committed to creating a working environment
with fairness, openness and mutual trust for its employees since its
establishment. The Group has drawn up its “Management Rules
against Discrimination, Harassment and Torture”, ensuring that our
employees receive equal treatments in our daily operations and in
every aspect of our human resources arrangements and would not
be subject to discrimination on grounds of ethnicity, nationality,
religion, political affiliation, sex, marital status and physical disability.
The Rules also prohibits all forms of harassment, coercion and
misconduct so as to safeguard the wellbeing of our employees. The
Group takes seriously any violation of the Code, and in the face of
unfair treatment or harassment, employees can report such incidents
in written form and put it into our “feedback box”, allowing the
human resources department to conduct investigations and follow-
up. The related employees will be informed of the results and any

form of retaliation is strictly forbidden.

The human resources policies of the Group have been in compliance
with all local labour laws in aspects such as recruitment, dismissal,
salary and benefits, working hours and holiday entitlements. During
the Year, the Group did not find anything which constituted a breach
of the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” and other
relevant local laws and regulations in relation to employment and

human resources.
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Health and Safety

As the Group's production procedures involve the use of machinery
and the operation with high risks, we have attached great importance
to the occupational safety of our employees, and have taken all
appropriate measures to safeguard the health and safety of our
workplaces. The safety work of the Group is primarily governed
under the “Law of Production Safety of the People’s Republic of
China”, the “Law of the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases of the People’s Republic of China” and other relevant safety
regulations, standards and systems. The regulations emphasised that
production safety is important for the safety of employees’ lives and
property. We shall take the objectives of “Safety First, with Emphasis
on Prevention and Integrated Governance” as our guiding principles
to establish a sound system of accountability for production safety
and the prevention and control of occupational diseases, and to form
policies and procedures for safety management with a view to be
effectively engaged in production safety. The Group complies with

the requirements under laws and regulations in five ways as follows:
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Policies and procedures for Production Safety Management

We have formulated a sound “Policy for Production Safety
Management” to provide for stringent standards for occupational
safety. Employees shall comply with safety requirements specified in
such policy including those on hazardous goods handling, fire safety
management, warehouse safety management, safety requirements
for special operators and so forth. Moreover, employees are required
to implement the responsibility system for production safety, strictly
follow processes and comply with the safety operation procedures.
The Group has also issued its Worker’'s Manual setting forth policies
and practices on occupational safety for reference by all employees,

to facilitate the implementation of its safety policies;

Designated Safety Managers

We appointed safety managers to take responsibility for the
supervision and monitoring of the safety affairs of the Group and to
ensure its effectiveness. Safety managers shall, based on national
laws and regulations and its objectives of safety management,
determine the annual plan on safety work deployment and
investment, and regularly convene safety meetings at all hierarchical
levels of staff, to know the progress and effectiveness of its safety
work and advocate the concepts of production safety to its

employees;

Policy for Safety Roster and Inspection

A comprehensive policy for safety roster and inspection is in place,
pursuant to which the departmental persons-in-charge shall regularly
inspect equipment and facilities, warehouses, electricity and gases,
meters, maintenance results, hygiene, fire safety equipment and fire
safety systems and so forth, and immediate rectifications shall be
adopted against potential threats to safety. On a daily basis,
production staff shall inspect specified areas to further ensure
production safety;
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Safety Education and Training

We have established a mechanism for safety education and training,
under which we systematically plan for training programs and
provide trainings on policies and regulations, occupational safety and
health, case study for accidents and emergency management, in
response to employees’ needs for safety trainings. Employees are
required to meet pre-set training hours every year to ensure adequate
acquisition of safety knowledges. The Group also regularly organises
first aid, fire-fighting, evacuation and escape drills. Different posters
and notices are also posted in production workshops to remind
employees of the importance of occupational safety all the time; and
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Policy for Prevention of Occupational Diseases and Mechanism
for Management and Inspection of Accidents

Our policy for prevention of occupational diseases and mechanism
for management and inspection of accidents are effective in
safeguarding against the occurrence of occupational diseases, and in
identifying accidents and unsafe factors. The Group has set out
guidelines to be applied in case of emergency to ensure that
employees respond in a correct and timely manner to minimise the

loss arising from and impact of accidents.
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In view of the above, looking forward, our occupational safety goals

are:

o to attain over 99% of the staff safety training achievement

rate;

o to arrange occupational health and safety body checks for all

employees at least once a year;

. to treat noises and air emissions in line with national standards;

o to achieve zero mortality in safety accidents and no fire

accident throughout the year.

Data on work-related fatalities and injuries are as follows:

bR - RERK > RPANBELZ2AE
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BANEATCHETHHEET

Data on occupational safety 2021 2020 2019
BEZ28E 20214 20204 20194
Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 0
AT THAR

Lost days due to work injury 4,558 4,086 8,160
EITEMBERNTIERSE

Prevention and Control of the Pandemic

The Group and its plants have established a pandemic prevention
and control team as soon as possible since the outbreak of
COVID-19, and has implemented stringent precautionary measures,
requiring all employees to follow the “prescribed guidelines”, such as
wearing masks, measuring body temperature, sterilising the whole
body and filling in health information form before entering factory
area. Employees’ safety and health are placed as the first priority.
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Throughout 2021, the Company has continued to carry out a series
of anti-epidemic measures, including recording employees’ health
and travel history, prohibiting employees from entering and exiting
factory casually, providing employees with flexible work
arrangements, strengthening the factory’s epidemic prevention and
disinfection work, purchasing and distributing anti-epidemic supplies,
equipping canteen with partitions, requiring employees to maintain
social distance at canteen, and promoting personal hygiene to
employees. The Group has also arranged leave for all employees who
felt unwell, or have been to high-risk places and exposed to patients.
It will also pay the quarantine and testing fees for employees in need.
The above measures have effectively lowered the risk of workplace
infection.

Caring for the safety of employees, the Group has continued to
enhance its safeguards and investment on improving the employees’
workplace, and has received professional recognition. Our plants in
Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong and Jiangxi were granted with
ISO45001 certification for occupational health and safety,
respectively. During the Year, the Group did not aware of any
material breach of the “Law of Production Safety of the People’s
Republic of China” and other local laws and regulations in relation to
occupational health and safety.

Training and Development

Talent is the cornerstone of the Group’s development. The Group
treasures every employee and believes that an excellent team can
create greater value for the Group. The Group has customised its
“System for the Management of Training” for cultivating every
employee by inspiring his/her potential and devising annual training
programmes based on the combination of the needs of the Company
and the individual needs of employees, thereby achieving joint
development and attaining goals.
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The training programmes can be divided into four categories:

Internal Training

AESEE]

External Training

ShEBIE I

Management
Trainee Program
EEREBLE
HE |

Top-up degree
training

EA A

l

>

BIAREEZD R/IATOEHE

Admission training: It covers introduction to the firm, rules and procedures, and
attendance and salary matters, mainly for familiarising new joiners with the Group’s
background and expectations of the Group on employees

ABEEI - BEEN - RESIEMEHFHIAR  BHAABET THRASENER
REETTIEMERE

Production safety: It borrows the concepts of 7S management practices originated
from Japan and the relevant ISO requirements, allowing employees to enhance
production quality and to improve working environment

£ERE  SERNBARN7SEERSEEMS - ARISORBFRENER - 8T
REEERTHERRESE

Fire safety: It raises employees’ awareness of fire safety and improves their ability to
address emergencies

HBERE REEINHAEBARBESERTHRE R

Environmental protection knowledge training: It strengthens the importance of
energy saving and emission reduction and environmental protection knowledge, and
raises the awareness of employees toward sustainable development

RRABIFI  RRDERFNBRN  REETHRREAIFEZFRNES

Expertise training: Employees are assigned to receive training offered by third party
institutions for acquiring the most updated industry information and techniques
desirable for increasing productivity and competitiveness

TEREFEFI : HMNERB N REF I EETIRY - BERITESHEN - BETE
AR - MBE TIRS4EE N KIEREFE N

Training for special position: Experts are engaged to conduct trainings for enabling
such employees to attain adequate knowledge and skills for their positions

BREAEI  ZHEREGBTETE BRETARMABMKEBETHE

Targeted training: For employees who have the potential and ability to join the
management, the Group would arrange comprehensive management training
programmes for them to prepare them for promotion

BRI HRNBEBELENARNBEAERENET AEESR/ATHGRSEIRE
FIFRIE - (ERETHER

Develop potential successors: We select trainees and fully subsidize them to attend
a two-year diploma course on paper-making technique offered by the South China
University of Technology in Guangzhou every year. After graduation, those trainees
would be assigned job duties at different positions in the Group

BEEUEA  §FKERBEIENERIE T REEE R M F R ER R ORR
B WEBMEER  EXEELTHIAEENRS BEELAR

Technical knowledge enrichment: Jiangsu Lee & Man signed a letter of intent with
Nanjing Forestry University for the provision of top-up degree training, and the Group
financed those production technicians with college diploma to receive top-up degree
training, enriching their professional and technical knowledge, combining theory and
practice, and improving their overall quality
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Training data of each category

EFEREIIHIE

Percentage of trained employees 2021 2020
EZEIETHES 20215 2020F
By gender

5]

Male 61% 86%
e

Female 54% 83%
z

By position

AR5

General staff 64% 84%
—RET

Mid-level staff and management 50% 88%
PRETIRERE

Senior management 25% 87%
EREEE

Average training hours per employee 2021 2020
BT HEZRI TR 20215 2020F
By gender

5]

Male 2.73 1.67
e

Female 2.88 1.00
z

By position

B &R

General staff 2.42 1.02
—RET

Mid-level staff and management 4.02 310
PHRETIREREE

Senior management 3.68 1.11
BRERE
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Labour Standards

Prohibition of Child and Forced Labour

The Group recruits qualified workers in adherence to the principles of
fairness, openness and free will. Every subsidiary of the Group
entered into legal employment contract with employees in
accordance with the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China” or applicable local labour laws and there was no forced
labour. In the meantime, the Group only recruits people who have
attained the age of 16 in strict compliance with the “Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China” and other applicable local labour
laws and regulations. The Group formulated its own “Management
Rules for the Use of Minors as Labourers and Prohibition against the
Use of Child Labour” to prevent the use of child or illegal labour and
to protect the legitimate rights and interest of the minors. During the
recruitment process, the human resources department would check
the personal information of applicants and conduct background
investigation. If such investigation generated any irregular result, the
Group would retain the record and cease the application process
accordingly. In the “Worker’s Manual”, the Group also encourages
employees to whistleblow on the use of false identity documents in
order to achieve effective control from different perspectives.

In view of the aforesaid internal control measures, during the Year,
the Group did not find anything which constituted a material breach
of any of the abovementioned labour standards or other relevant

laws and regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND ENERGY
CONSERVATION

Emissions

The Group is a world-leading manufacturer of containerboard, pulp
and tissue paper and is in possession of several large scale
manufacturing plants for papermaking, pulp-making and tissue paper
in China. Therefore, the operation of the Group is principally
governed by the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Environmental Protection”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution”, the “Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Air
Pollution”, and the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution Due to Solid
Wastes” in Mainland China and regulations and emission standards

in other local laws.

In accordance with the requirements, environmental protection
strategies adopted by enterprises shall follow a principle of “priority
to protection, emphasis on prevention, integrated governance, public
participation and liability assumption of damages”, in order to
prevent and control pollution and damages with compliance
measures, to establish an accountability system for environmental
protection and to clarify responsibilities of enterprises and related
responsible officers, hoping to create commercial value for all
stakeholders while reducing the impact on environment. The use of
advanced and latest pollutant treatment technologies are also
encouraged by China for facilitating the environmentally-responsible

development.

In response to the government’s total ban on the import of solid
waste products from 2021, we have significantly increased our
purchases of domestic waste paper, and set up plants overseas to
process waste paper raw materials before importing to China to
ensure that our green production model of converting waste paper

into environmentally-friendly products is not affected.
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Being well aware that environmental protection is an important basis ~AEE FARERESAISELZRENEER
for its development, the Group has adopted a number of  E® - K EREZ T8 o 18 i K BS 158 7 0%
improvement and monitoring measures to ensure performance of FERBITHREREMNETT - AEEFKE
our environmental responsibilities. The Group has established various — #J & T8 IR (R B 58 EA 45 g B2 45 ¢

environmental protection policies and measures including:

Setting Up Environmental Team

B BRR/NME

Led by our Chief Executive Officer, the environmental team comprises members having the relevant expertise,
including senior flue gas treatment experts, sewage treatment technicians, environmental monitoring professionals
and environmental protection technicians so as to ensure effective implementation of the following measures.
HERHTERETER BHEEBESAN  BESRERCIER  J5KEEAS - BREIAS BIRREZE
Bt AB S - (RE T HIERRRRIE S AR BT -

Duties of Environmental Team
RIRDARE

1. Holding internal control meetings regularly to review environmental issues in the plants, to update themselves
with applicable environmental laws and regulations and to give advice on any improvements;

2. On an ongoing basis, the team engages themselves in environmental protection measures to be taken in
production processes, including those employed to lower water consumption, treat sewage water and air
emissions more efficiently, save energy and monitoring emissions to ensure continued compliance with high
environmental protection standards.

1. THAFANEZeER  SEEHNARMBEANRRSEE  BASKERREERRTENEIEX - T AT
FEEZEERRERIEE 2%

2. TEHTEL£EBRETHRRER BRRAIEKE ERAEARNEKEERN SHERERAE  KAE
RRHERBRIERM REFMEES - R FHEEISRRIZE -

Environmental Policies and Measures

RARBRRER

v set up policies for emissions treatment to provide clear targets and state the responsibilities and division of
labour for environmental protection measures adopted by the Group;

v formulate guidelines for energy-saving and reduce emission at the source;

v as part of the various efforts to make us one of the companies which best complies with environmental
protection principles in the world, our different plants have employed technologies with high efficiency to
reduce emission and keep our emission below the latest emission standards laid down by the government as
well as internationally applicable environmental management standards.

v RIBIREREBIVE - RRREEREMAARNBEFENBES T

v RIMERRIBEIRIES! - WEIRSEIREE
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The Group is committed to satisfying all applicable laws and
regulations on environmental protection, including the
aforementioned laws and regulations and other local law
requirements and emission standards. During the Year, the Group
did not find anything which constituted a breach of relevant
environmental protection laws and regulations. Looking forward, in
order to further alleviate the impact on environment, the Group has
set up various five-year goals based on the 2019 baseline, including:

AEEHHETVERRFRESBFE
BPIER - B LA kA PER KA
it R R B R RBERE - AFE
W NEEWLEBREAERRERE
MHEREGDERBBR - MRAK - [
—FPREHRENZE  A2019F R E
o AREBEFCOHETZHESFRE
B

5-year goals based on 2019

Category bench mark Status in 2021
ER LL2019F HEENSFHR 20215 R

Air emissions Reduce by 2% Reduce by 5%
& R HE R FE1K2 % [ 155 %

Waste water emissions Reduce by 1% Increase by 5%
TEIRBEL FE1E1 % FH5%
Non-hazardous waste Reduce by 2% Increase by 8%
BEERY 2% FH8%

Unit product coal consumption Year on Year reduce by 1% Slight increase by 1%
IEREBENERERE Rl T 1% WH1%

Unit product water consumption Year on Year reduce by 1% Increase by 16%
FEREFEEMERFEKE A L T B&E1 % EA16%

During the year, difficulties of control in waste water, non-hazardous
waste, consumption of water and coal were elevated due to the
rapid increase in international price of coal and issuance of tightened
environmental protection policies implemented by Chinese
government that restricted import of raw material from international
waste residue markets. The Group continued its productions in use
of supplementary material procured in local market with relatively
low heating value including coal ash, cinder, wood chip since the
Group was unable to import raw material from international markets
anymore and which leads to the increase in non-hazardous waste
and consumption of coal. At the same time, due to the dual control
of energy consumption policy imposed by Chinese government, the
Company's operations were ran in an abnormal frequency. Machines
are required to be washed with fresh water for every time when they
shut down, and that increases the consumption of water and sewage
discharged.
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The Group will continue to invest supplementary resources in
achieving our targets. Through improving operation workflow and
adopting the relevant measures below, we are confident in fulfilling

our five-year goals and endeavour towards a sustainable future.

Air Emissions

To ensure sufficient power supply for operating paper-making
machines in our production, the plants of the Group have had their
own thermal power stations operating coal-fired generators and
therefore, there have been gas emissions including nitrogen oxides
and sulphur oxides. Different plants of the Group have established
energy-saving policies to regulate energy consumption for production
activities and offices. Relevant measures also include formulation of
energy consumption targets, establishment of an inspection system
for energy usage, training programs and promotion for energy
conservation etc.

Case Study: Environmentally friendly Thermal Power Station

Environmentally friendly circulating fluidised bed boilers used in our
thermal power stations can achieve efficient combustion of all kinds
of coal. As the combustion temperature in this kind of boilers is lower
than that in pulverised coal boilers, less nitrogen oxides would be

generated.

In each coal-fired power station, the most advanced air emissions
treatment facilities have been installed, including the employment of
highly efficient bag filters to reduce ashes, SCR/SNCR de-nitration
systems to eliminate nitrogen oxides, and limestone-gypsum flue gas
desulfurisation system to curb sulphur dioxide gas. We have
successfully reduced smoke and sulphur by more than 99.9% and
90% respectively.
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Our effective wet desulfurisation facility further reduced sulphur — [fE4h » B2 BB EBR RS 3 - & —
dioxide emissions to much less than 400 mg/m® as required by the H I -Gt FHBNERERERNE X
“Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Thermal Power Plants”  GB13223-2011¢ X E R A &35 2 W HE i
(GB13223-2011) in China. The Group has monitored the quality of 122 )BER A F 7 757 K400 HIZE%E o K
air emissions on a real-time basis by using online detection &EEFRBERERRESHEDBINESR

equipment to ensure outperforming the relevant national standard. MEE  BRENEEERABRBENE

i

\ i
L

Circulating Fluidised Bed Boilers
BRI IR SRYE
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Sewage Discharge TG IKHERR
Water is indispensable in paper production operations. In order to  KEEHKEEBIZEFRTAIBRIH—IR - A
reduce sewage discharge generated from its production and improve ~ J& 4 EE@E':P HI)5KBERN - IRmI5KE

quality of sewage treatment so as to meet regulatory standards, the IEMRE @ ZEEERBRIZE - AEEFE

Group has put efforts into the following three aspects: 7 DATEHE%? :

Management Planning EERE

e Established a sound “Guidelines for Sewage Treatment”, ¢ il TEEMCFKEmREES) 7 H
setting out a list of key points for operating and inspecting EKEREHENRERREZE -
sewage treatment facilities, procedures for repair and RERETIFIBE@EEEBKOB
maintenance and duties of the relevant responsible teams, to %o E—HRAZEREITRRE
further improve the performance of facilities and ensure its R P 8 2
output;

e Recruited sewage treatment technicians with professional o FEFEAZEERNIGKEREFE
qualifications and professionals responsible for reviewing the ZEBHEAERERMENEZAT

effectiveness of sewage treatment from auto-monitoring data;

gt
e

Sewage treatment station

V57K BE FR Uy
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High-tech Treatment Techniques

68

Introduced the most effective sewage treatment techniques
employed by the paper-making industry worldwide, specifically
the combined use of physiochemical coagulation-sedimentation
pre-treatment, anaerobic + aerobic digestion and fenton
technologies to achieve thorough treatment;

Implemented the integrated management of sewage discharge.
Our sewage treatment stations have been equipped with
automatic programmable logic controllers and online

surveillance systems to monitor the discharge of sewage;

Strictly followed the monitoring requirements of the standards
for water pollutants. With the use of internationally advanced
sewage treatment techniques and facilities, we have
successfully maintained stability in the volume and quality of
sewage discharge, with the CODcr level of major pollutants as
well as the levels of NH3-N and SS in full compliance with the
maximum limits on discharges by pulp and paper-making
operations under National Standard “GB3544-2008" (Standard
on Discharge of Water Pollutants by the Pulp and Paper-Making
Industry). After multiple treatments, sewage discharged by the
Group's operations has achieved more than 99.5% of

pollutants removal;

Achieved water re-use by the rate of more than 80% in its
production and water discharge less than 10 m® per tonne of
paper produced. Our sewage treatment stations have been
equipped with water re-use systems to raise sewage re-use and

reduce water consumption;

BRMREETE
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Enabled a reasonable re-use of sludge and methane generated
in the sewage treatment process. Water content of the sludge
was lowered to around 50% with fully automatic recessed
plate filters and then the dried sludge was burnt at thermal
power stations in order to reduce solid wastes. The methane
generated in the anaerobic treatment systems in the sewage
stations was also collected and used as part of the fuel for the
boilers in the power stations, thus greatly saving the coal

required.

Compliance With Regulatory Standards

Annual inspection on the air emissions and sewage disposal

from boilers and sewage stations by environmental department;

Conduct regular calibration for air emissions and sewage online
monitoring systems;

Conduct repair and maintenance for environmental equipment

on a regular basis to meet the emission standards.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions BERBEER

Greenhouse gases of the Group are mainly emitted from coal-fired ZAEBREREHMEERAMEEE -
power generation. The plants have their own thermal power stations, T ERZAEY - BEAME L FRAE
producing electricity through operating coal-fired generators, which EE /1 - B EZ KHAEN R ERBE
discharge greenhouse gases directly and indirectly. With regard to a B o B & — X5 TR B HE S e+ 3K
series of emission reduction measures adopted, our greenhouse gas 972021 F /)R = R B HEMER = F T %
emission was reduced by 2.5% in 2021 as compared with the previous  2.5% ' B/~ 7 PR BER R ©

year, which showed our emission reduction accomplishments.

Emission Data R &R

Major emissions, direct and indirect greenhouse gas” resulted from AFEREHBENEEEHMEENEE
production activities for the Year within the reporting scope are as  #EW¥ - EEEEEAZERE WA T
follows:

Types of Emissions Unit Data in 2021 Data in 2020
BHYESR B 20215 8B 2020F &ii5
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,)’ tonnes 1,657.11 1,522.08
AE/LPNO,) W
Sulphur Dioxides (502)3 tonnes 1,022.89 933.66
—REHR(S0,)’ Mg
Particulate matter (PM)’ tonnes 91.61 115.48
BN HI(PM)? 72
Sewage tonnes 56,405,288.00 53,613,511.92
HEEFK i

70 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2021 Annual Report



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERKRSE (H)

Types of Emissions Unit Data in 2021 Data in 2020
HHRyER By 2021 HiB 2020F &%
Direct and indirect greenhouse gas (Scope 1)*  tonnes carbon dioxide 5,133,639.15 5,211,809.25
BEELEERERE(HE—)" equivalent

W—E/tikE =
Other indirect greenhouse gas (Scope 3y tonnes carbon dioxide 38,952.43 93,611.57
Hib B AERE(HE=)® equivalent

7= =
Intensity of greenhouse gas emission tonnes carbon dioxide 1.25 1.19

A T & B R
BEERETE

Since the electricity of the Group comes from our own generator units without

equivalent/per tonne of
products produced

Mg — S iRE =
BHEEE B

additional purchase of electricity, the indirect greenhouse gas emissions under

Scope 2 of the HKEx Reporting Guide Index are not applicable.

Emissions resulted from the Group’s power generation activities that use fossil
fuels.

Scope 1 emissions are the direct greenhouse gas emissions resulted from sources
owned and controlled by the Group which are calculated in accordance with the
Accounting Methods and Reporting Guidelines of “Greenhouse Gas Emissions
for Paper-Making and Paper Products Manufacturing Enterprises (Trial
Implementation)”, issued by the PRC National Development and Reform
Commission.

Scope 3 emissions are the indirect greenhouse gas emissions resulted from water
used for the Group’s production which are calculated in accordance with
“Greenhouse gas reporting — Conversion factors 2020" issued by the Department
for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy of United Kingdom.

FAEBEGHAESHERAEE TRINEES -
HULB R PRSI s| s e RAE A TR
PERRTER

B EAREEER AR EEEEME
Ao
HE—HRERBTERRERUEZRESH
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EhHREWRERER (H17) &8 AEEE
BB RERBBRAEENERRE
FEEBER

HEZHRIERBEERNE  EREIER
B & % B & [Greenhouse gas reporting —
Conversion factors 2021 & & g A< % B f 7k
EEOBEREREHEMR -
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Wastes

The wastes generated in our operations were mainly non-hazardous
ones produced in the course of paper-making, together with a small
guantity of wastes due to routine office work. In order to reduce and
dispose of waste produced in the paper-making process, the Group
has established the “Guidelines for Waste Management” to classify
wastes of all production activities and clarify the workflow of
processing. Policies also provide for guidelines for the storage,
transport and disposal of wastes and require them to be recorded to
ensure that treatment process is in compliance with rules and is safe.

The Group has principally reduced or disposed of wastes generated
from its paper-making operations in three ways:

o Sewage treatment facilities in plants will filter sewage
generated from the paper-making process. This process would
generate certain amount of sludge. It is then burnt in boilers
after treatment and deep drying. The energy generated by
burning the waste in a circulating fluidised bed boilers could be
reused in the paper-making process and therefore, not only
secondary pollution would be avoided but also saving energy;

o The Group used lots of waste paper as a raw material in its
paper-making operations, paper-making residue was left
behind after extraction of useful fibres for the paper-making
process. As the residue contained different impurities, the
residue was carried to a washing line where reusable metal
wires and plastics in the residue were collected and sold to
recyclers;

o Established “Directory of Hazardous Wastes”, so as to
segregate hazardous wastes before processing or disposal of
the recyclable.

BEEM
AEEZEMEENBENEIERERBR
TREANEZERY  THELEAETT
B AFELRERY - STEERBRESD
FRELHBERMHN D MEE - AEED
RIUCEERMERREE))HAKEMER
BEENBERMETHR  HEAEEER
TERIE - BRNMBERVNFR  E&H Rk
RERMIESILEREDHAESR - BREE
BEZEAH -

AEBTEBRAUATEFAREESE
vy

o TIHHISKEEREEBERBIE
MRELMNEK FHEBAGE
EBEWSE - SRKREMARE
BKEBOXERBERLE - BIBEE
AL PR 58 18 2% G2 O R W P EE A O BE
ERREREE  TETEEK -
R RENE T BERBRE

s AFAEFHEEMLEEBRRETERKRE
BEERRE  BAKREDREAN
EREERR T ERES - AEH
EEREBSERKRENRBERE
ME - MEGRBRBE UKL E
YRHE TR E AT EE

s WmE(EREEWMELR) HAED
BrRERY EmMEEHER
ElIE D -

Sludge recycling equipment
EVEEE & g
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The Group has actively adopted the aforesaid measures of treating S£BEEIRER FIEHEIEEEY @ 5K
wastes, striving to meet the standard of processing solid wastes, 100%EFI( EH & BRITEYE B ITE
liquid wastes and hazardous wastes stipulated in the “Measures of &) B jE 5% )N 1% 8 B8 17 85 75 Bk 25 & 13 9%
Guangdong Province on Implementation of Administrative Licensing &Y% RFTER& B EE - R EMEERIT
for Controlled Waste Treatment” and the “Measures on the FRIBFZEXE o

Management of Hazardous Waste Transfer”.

Major wastes resulting from the Group’s production activities for the AKEBRAKNFE RS SHE RN AEEEIIE

Year within the reporting scope are as follows: EREFEEEMOT

Types of wastes Unit Data in 2021 Data in 2020

BERYER B 202158 2020 EiE

Non-hazardous wastes

BEBERY

Paper-making residue tonnes 260,334.88 215,607.91

EEEE 7

Coal ash, cinder tonnes 848,506.85 810,966.45

IR~ g i

Impurities contained in waste paper raw tonnes 146,091.79 142,733.93

material (Including plastics, metal wires) I8

BERRAMEME(BRER  #4F

Sludge tonnes 250,825.41 255,661.07

Ep= Mg

Wood chip tonnes 318.39 225.97

ARIAREE i

Hazardous wastes®

BEBRERY®

Waste batteries tonnes 35.65 21.35

REEM i

Used oil, waste paint, waste liquid etc tonnes 199.83 177.42

FEHEH  REMZ - BERE i

Used lamps/bulbs tonnes 0.66 1.32

ERE,/BA 7]

¢ Types of Hazardous wastes are identified with reference to the “Directory of ~ © s \ REMBEBEEREDEHOER
National Hazardous Wastes” issued by the Ministry of Environmental Protection BREMRE)MESHEEEEZEYRELE -

of the People’s Republic of China.
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USE OF RESOURCES

With sustainable development as the prerequisite, the Group sets
goals for resource consumption to protect environment, to make
rational and scientific use of energy and resources and to reduce
production costs. The Group has formulated the “Guide for Energy-
saving and Control and Management of Resources” to regulate the
use of energy and resources in various activities. The policy specifies
the responsibilities of and division of labour among departments,
whereby departments related to production including the
procurement department, the production department and
departments using maintenance workshops and facilities are required
to control the consumption of energy and resources such as raw
materials, equipment, water, electricity, paper, packaging materials
and so on. Administrative departments including the human
resources department, the administration department, the back-end
department and so on are responsible for carrying out resources-
saving education for all employees of the Group, monitoring,
recording and comparing the monthly usage of energy and resources.
Generally speaking, the Group takes “education as principal and
supplementing with management and control” as the guideline for
resources-saving, and lead employees to implement green
production. The Group has also set targets for coal, electricity and
water usage for the year by achieving 1% reduction in consumption
per unit production of major factories on yearly basis compared with
that of corresponding period in last year and will conduct year-end
review of the amount of resources usage for the year in order to
pursue better environmental performance on an ongoing basis.
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The Group has actively adopted measures for energy conservation
and emissions reduction, striving to curb energy consumption in each
of its production processes. Apart from 1SO50001 energy
management certification, the Group has indeed received
commendations of the Government Examination Team for Energy-
Saving and Emissions Reduction for our promotion and
implementation of various measures to save energy, reduce emissions
and achieve environmental protection alongside economic growth.

Measures for saving energy and reducing consumption include:

o Reducing energy consumption by substituting high-
performance equipment for older ones and making relevant

changes to its electricity facilities;

o Adopting efficiency-enhancing and energy-saving technologies
such as the full use of frequency conversion and high voltage

compensation devices;

o Closely monitoring energy input and output as well as energy
consumption by production and non-production operations
with an effective mechanism for measuring, monitoring,
analysing and appraising energy consumption, and the
corresponding personnel to manage the use of energy. The
Group has installed water and electricity meters in various
regions of the plants and implemented a system of rewards

and punishments;

o Departments are required to conduct data analysis and
comparisons on a monthly basis to effectively promote energy
conservation and environmental protection to the whole
Group.
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Energy Consumption

The logistics and production processes in our daily operations have
involved the use of great amounts of energy. Diesel and coal have
been the major energy sources we used. Each plant has its own coal-
fired generators to ensure availability of sufficient power necessary
for the high power consuming paper-making machines, and
therefore have not purchased electricity power from the national

power grid.

Improving energy efficiency is one of the ways to effectively reduce
energy consumption. To ensure coal quality has met standards, the
Group adopts strict measures on management of coal storage and
transportation. The Group also conducts regular repair and
maintenance on generators to achieve an optimal operation of
generators and efficient combustion of coal and in turn improve
energy efficiency. In addition, the Group has also employed co-
generation technology to turn residual heat from the power
generation process into heat source for use in paper-making, thus
considerably raising the efficiency of energy use and reducing the

consumption of coal.

Additionally, in order to achieve energy-saving and emission
reduction, the Group requires the use of latest technologies in every
segment along the production process. Moreover, the Group has
introduced a number of projects which aimed at lowering energy
consumption, For instance, there was frequency-conversion
modification of high electricity-consuming machines which helped to
achieve better energy saving performance and lowered the
production cost and energy-saving technology improvement project
for the air pre-heater of thermal power stations implemented by
Jiangsu Lee & Man has saved approximately 1,200 tons of standard
coal this year. Moreover, methane and certain of the solid wastes
which were side products in the sewage treatment process referred
in the “Sewage Discharges” and “Wastes” sections above could be
burnt in boilers in the thermal power stations, therefore saving fuel
for the coal boilers.
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The Group has also continued to optimise energy management. It
has raised the efficiency of energy use both in the power generation
process and in the paper-making process and have therefore
successfully lowered the energy consumption per unit year by year.
The Group regularly tracks and records energy consumption. During
the Year, the overall energy consumption per tonne of paper
produced by the Group was less than 0.30 tonne of standard coal,
even lower than the national average which is approximately 0.60

tonne of standard coal comparatively.

AEETHEICERERE  RETBEN
Mo EEBRRERR RS R E @ 15
BUERESFHERRK ANEBETEHER
NCHEREE  AFEEAR  A&KEELE
E —MAAREY AR A BERE D P00, 30 MR HE KL -
EERNEFEE MR FEA 0. 60MA R AL
MEEFHHE -

Water Usage

As water has been a necessity for our paper-making operations,
water used in our production has accounted for a major part of the
Group's water consumption. In order to minimise the consumption
of clean water resources, the Group:

o Regarding water source: the Group has upon governmental
approval obtained its water supply by directly taking water
from rivers and then carrying out purification process to satisfy
the industrial water standard. In doing so, we have helped
protect the valuable potable water resources.
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e As for water saving: the Group encourages recycling and has o B EKITE  NEESHEBRE

principally adopted the strategy of employment of advanced A FEXWMABBiE SREX
and highly efficient sewage treatment techniques for reusing s KERETIE2EEER KBRS
water in its production. The use of closed circulatory system for A YRV TXRKNHHABEERR
industrial water successfully increases the recycled water ratio Fo EERBRFERABRABKRNL
in production to more than 80%. As a result, the amount of FIHEB80% « K AR T KIAKH
natural water required by the Group has been considerably BF -

lowered.

o In regard to maintenance: to prevent leakage from water o EEFH @ THHE AT HBE K

pipelines and to preserve water resources, the Group also B BIRKAE - KEEEE RH MoK
checks water pipes and repairs water tanks, water taps and Fib o MEFBKEBENREBRL
other water supply facilities regularly. e ZREE—HKER -

Direct water extraction

from rivers
A BBk Water Paper-making
purification production
BREF EEER
Closed

circulatory system
Reusing water in production
HERRAS
S ERKEREBA
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Use of Packaging Materials

Some of our paper products required the use of plastic materials for
packaging so as to prevent products from contamination or damages.
The “Guidelines for Packaging Materials Management” is established
by the manufacturing department for waste reduction purpose
through packaging materials classification, labelling, storage and
usage. Also, simple packaging will continue to be our principle so as

to alleviate any environmental impacts.

Energy and Resource Usage Data

Through the above measures, the Group and our employees together
achieved the objective of resources conservation. This year, energy
and resource consumption in respect of production activities within

the reporting scope of the Group were as follows:

2021
20215

BEVFER
AEENBEOBRBEHRRBOFTERLEEE
FHETTEE  MBREMISRNER -
AEEMEERFISHT T(REDHE
BESIDUNAEEEDHNDE - 8
FREER - BODHRE - AEETE
BHERABOEERA  BROHRENT
@,

EREERAEER

BB LERE  AREEETELHIE
RBTERMOONBE - AFEAR AKH
BERENLERDMYRNERNER
REWT :

2020
20205

Energy and resource

(per tonne of

Intensity Intensity

(per tonne of

consumption Unit Annual data  production) Annual data  production)
BE(REMW RE (REMH

BERRERAE B FEER ERE{y) FEER EEEN)

Types of fuel

MEER

Coal tonnes 2,939,446.43 0.7090 2,983,287.88 0.6700

B s

Diesel litres 5,098,838.12 1.2298 5,795,669.79 1.3016

s AT

Petrol litres 133,012.50 0.0321 111,462.82 0.0250

i T

Water resources

KEIR

Water tonnes 92,523,588.00 22.3157 88,984,386.00 19.9850

K T8

Packaging materials

BRI

Plastic materials tonnes 253.68 0.0001 409.50 0.0001

BRER U7
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ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The use of the environment and natural resources is closely related to
the climate change. The impact of commercial activities on the
environment and natural resources has always been a great concern
to the Group. As a commitment to reduce the logging of timber and
reduce the impact of human activities on natural environment, we
have been using recycled paper as the materials for paper-making,
the primary business of the Group. In addition to complying with
environmental regulations and international rules on protection for
the natural environment, the Group has also incorporated concepts
of environmental friendliness into our internal management and daily
activities. In our striving to attain environmental sustainability, we
have successfully received I1SO 14001 Certification for Environmental

Management.

With the aim of actively promoting environmental protection and
efficient use of resources, we have monitored the potential effect of
our business operations on the environment on an ongoing basis and
promoted the green office and the green production environment in
adherence to four principles, namely, “Reduce”, “Re-use”, “Recycle”
and “Replace”, in order to minimise the impact of our operations on

the environment.

Noise Treatment

As our plants have been equipped with large paper-making
machinery and coal-fired generators, their operation would cause
rather big noises. In view of this, the Group has implemented the

following measures:

o The Group has chosen to use low noise equipment and
products as far as possible in the course of building the pulp
and paper production lines and the thermal power stations in
order that noises could be lowered at the sources;

BRERKRER
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. In an effort to lower sound pollution to the environment, the
Group has installed sound isolation facilities to contain noises
due to running of machines and has added silencers on noisy
equipment such as blowers and exhaust fans;

o The Group has built soundproof control rooms at the pulp and
paper-making workshops where workers can work in a healthy
environment without being influenced by the big noises;

o The Group has added more vegetation in the factory area to
help dampen the spread of noises apart from purifying the air.

Timber Logging

Among the packaging paper produced by the Group, 98% was
made from recovered paper and only 2% from timber virgin pulp.
This was exactly an example of our utmost efforts to protect forests
and creatures, and minimise the impact of our operations on the

natural environment.

Though the pulp used in production is derived from timber logging,
the Group has no activity in respect of deriving pulp directly from
timber logging. In order to lower the price of raw materials and
achieve the goal of environmental protection, the Group is committed
to developing production machinery that can produce green
sustainable product by treating tons of waste paper as raw material.
In the future, the Group hopes to further raise the percentage of
waste paper being used as raw material and become one of the
containerboard manufacturers with the highest recycling rate in the

world.
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Environmentally Friendly Products

The Group invested in the research and development of
environmentally friendly products maximising the efficiency of
utilisation of wastes and minimising the addition of chemicals such as
brightener and fluorescer. The Group currently produces products
including environmentally friendly test linerboard and environmentally
friendly coated white linerboard in pursuit of becoming a leader of
green products in the industry with an aim to alleviate the
environmental impact caused in the process from producing to using
its products and thus offering more environmentally friendly choices
to its customers.

Starting from the selection of raw material, the Group produces
environmentally friendly test linerboard with 100% use of recycled
waste corrugated board, and uses sorted clean newspaper as the
main component of environmentally friendly coated white linerboard,
turning wastes into treasures.

RIRE M

AEBANBAMBRFRER  ZFARE
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Environmentally friendly product

RREm

Environmentally friendly coated white linerboard

RIRBMREARE

Environmental Awards and Certifications

As described in the sections on environmental protection above, the
Group has been making great endeavours to keep possible pollutions
and negative impacts of our operations on the environment to a
minimum. The Group has received recognitions from government
authorities, professional bodies and many others in the community
including certifications and awards for the investments and efforts
we have made in respect of environmental protection.

Environmentally friendly test linerboard

RIRFEIRAR

RRRBIERDE

bR - BB RIRRESE - AKE
BNTMH - TEFEAEELE P A BEERK
RIRESAMEEFE - ARENRER
EOHERANERMBNFZE T ZEK
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Over the years, certifications and accolades won by the Group have

included the following:

The Group/Specific Plants
&M@ HE

g4
T

AEBEEFAFENREN

K aRArgn

Certifications/Accolades Obtained
R4

All plants in Mainland China and Vietnam
BB AP B R B N iR R B

All plants in Mainland China and Vietnam
B B A P R S % i R TR

All plants in Mainland China and Vietnam

BB AT B RS KRS

Hongmei, Huangyong, Jiangsu and
Jiangxi plants

g EE - I IAEE
Hongmei, Huangyong, Jiangsu and
Jiangxi plants

g ER - IE  IEKE
Hongmei, Huangyong and Jiangsu plants
Hig BB IEEE

Lee & Man Paper
BEAR

Lee & Man Paper
B ER

Lee & Man Paper

EER

Hongmei and Huangyong plants
G EERE

Hongmei plant

AR
Chongging plant

ISO9001 Certification for Quality Management
1ISO9001 52 & & Hl R &

ISO14001 Certification for Environmental Management
ISO14001 REEEBRRAE

Forest Stewardship Council’s Chain of Custody (FSC-COC) Certification
AMRBRGEHEEEERE(FSC-COQ)

IECQ QC 080000 Certification for Hazardous Substance Process
Management System
IECQ QC 080000 EWHE HEE

B RARE

ISO45001 Certificate for Occupational Health and Safety Management
System
ISO45001 B ERFEL 2 EERARE

ISO50001 Certificate for Energy Management System
ISO500018E/RE 12 R AR FE

Named a “National Outstanding Enterprise Proactively Fulfilling Social
Responsibility"
2 EERET BEERHBEE

Hong Kong-Guangdong Cleaner Production Partner (Manufacturing)

BEBREERH (BUER)

Named an “Environmentally Friendly Enterprise”
RERFEERE

Named a “Cleaner Production Enterprise in Guangdong” and an
“Qutstanding Labour Law Compliant Enterprise in Guangdong”

EREBREECRRERESIMITEESEE

Named an “Advanced Energy Conversation Unit”
Eig i BB KR

Named an “Advanced Ecological Improvement and Environmental
Protection Unit”

RERELEEMRE
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Cope with Climate Change

Global warming is notably affecting the natural climate by increasing
the frequency and intensity of extreme weather and natural disasters
such as rainstorm, flood and drought, which greatly aggravated the
damage and impact of various natural disasters. To cope with the
intensified threat of climate change, management of our Group has
regularly assessed the potential risks that may arise from cause
climate change during production and operation and adopted
preventive and contingency measures.

We have strategically selected location for our plants and drawn up
the “Extreme Weather Catastrophes Contingency Plan”. We classify
the extreme weather catastrophes into four degrees, namely very
significant, significant, major and general according to the degree of
harm that may be caused by such risks. Meanwhile, we have
established a clear contingency system and set up the Steering
Committee on Extreme Weather Contingency and Rescue, which
expressly stipulates functions of each member, alert actions and
contingency measures. We arrange publicity, trainings and drills for
employees regularly, aiming at enhancing the vigilance and abilities
towards disasters. We will assess how bad we will be affected by the
extreme weather such as hurricane, rainstorm, thunder, hail and
flood so that we can take relevant safety measures and provide a
safe place for our employees. With these measures, we will safeguard
our employees’ safety and avoid losses arising from the malfunction
of equipment. In addition, our plants have their own thermal power
stations and backup power which are necessary for a continuous and
stable production and can reduce the risk of halt in production due
to regional power blackout.

{20 e B

ERERBEZEEAREK ﬁ S8 3m K
BB - BRE - HKRLZEFRKNIE
KM Kﬂlam%ﬁ%iﬁi“ﬁ’ﬁ&

BERFERE  REHBBHRENRIRE
z $%@E’\J%‘:EEHH§WEEE%§%EP

RixZ{mA e EBMEERR - XK
HX?E%&FEZ R

HPIRE M R A E I - HIE R R
RAEFRSTAR)  RRER AT G2 EK D
EERE  #BRmRXRLES REMESE
BBFHNEXR -BERX -BA—K-H
B RPIRZTEMAEERR KT
fBRim R RESRIEEGNE  AXRET
BB BEE EETEHNERER o FA
TeRTEHARNE TETSE  JIE
B R BINELBMEXEN  KEE
B #&W - FE KB HKERRHKR
LIRS TEFE T EELRE2ERIRE
HLe2HEREE TR  REETEGY
2WBREERMBR - RAK - ZHEH
ABUMEBEIR - BREFEFHER

TR EEEE  BEABNEEEHEE
B -

84 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2021 Annual Report



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERKRSE (H)

STRIVING FOR IMPROVEMENTS
Supply Chain Management

As a production enterprise, supply chain management has always
been a critical aspect in our quality control system. The Group works
closely with suppliers to enhance their sense of responsibility, help
them mitigate environmental and social risks and build a green
supply chain. We hope to work together with the supply chain
partners to purchase environmentally friendly products and services
and to fulfill our commitment to environmental protection to the
extent it is practicable and cost-effective. We have established a
"Policy on Procurement and Suppliers Management” to conduct a
comprehensive assessment on suppliers and contractors in
accordance with ISO guidelines in respect of, among others, their
environmental protection policies, occupational safety policies, to
ensure that they meet the requirements of national safety,
environmental protection, laws and regulations, have a certain level
of social responsibility management, reach the quality of the Group’s
production and service, and adhere to the sustainable procurement.
In case of any irregularities, the Group will suspend or terminate the
cooperation relationship with relevant suppliers.

i FEE
HEEEE

ER—FKEELE  HERBEERAKER
SERERFRGETRAMBHNIRAZ
— - REEHEFETAE  RAHER
B BEPEMBREIMAERR - TE
meftER - ZMAFE2EM‘ERNAIER
HERB S - EATRTAEBERENE
AT EBRARERNMRE - BEHIRE
RAEM ARG - REIRY T(RBREMER
EEGHIE)  HHERIRBHERISOR
FETHEAE  MEERRBER  BE
RERRENE  BRENFEERZE
RIR - ERER B -EHGEEEIERK
£ EINEEEENRBHRERE B
THRBERRE MBBRERTR
SEeTERKRILEARERENA FH
1% -
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Procurement of Raw Materials

The Group uses waste paper instead of virgin pulp as a raw material
for paper-making, and the waste paper is supplied from all over the
world including United Kingdom, United States and Canada. Our
Group has arranged sourcing agents of waste paper around the
world to collect waste papers and purchase the specific dedicated
waste papers in person through various channels including recyclers,
supermarkets, local authorities and retailers, so as to ensure the
quality of our products. The raw materials are shipped by our logistics
teams so that the Group can better control the logistics to ensure
efficient transportation time and use of low-carbon mode.

Besides, the Group has been operating more than 50 waste paper
collecting and packing sites in Mainland China and has also been
sponsoring a number of other business partners in China to source
high quality waste paper locally as a way to develop paper sources as
well as to support paper recycling, so as to improve the green supply
chain.

Number of our suppliers located in Mainland China and Vietnam is as

follows:

R B 5B
SERAEARKRAFEERR - BER
HEREE RS - MR - XBERINE
RE -KEESHLHEARBENRE - 8
BEEEACWE  BRMES  TBT
MAKTEBFELRTRERER - L H
BEARBRERENERES  BRRE
mELIER - RV HBaEENEEEBKE
® o REREE ZEBMIEEYIRAR -
FE IR = RUE B AR B ©

S—FHHE NEBEEFREBEALERB50R
BEEBKREITER  RNEHZRBEANE
ERHBREMER - WERERRM
BEA AAERT S FEAEWERE - &
RERTEFEHERNBRE -

BAPIGL AR B A 3 K R ) R R 2R B 0
T

Number of suppliers’ 2021 2020
HEEHE’ 20214 20204
Mainland China 1,492 1,590
A A

Vietnam 322 327
i

As the number of the Group’s suppliers in Mainland China and Vietnam
accounted for 93% of the Group’s total number of suppliers, representing the
majority of the Group’s suppliers, suppliers from other countries and regions
including America, Australia, Southeast Asia, East Asia, South Asia, Japan, South
Korea, Taiwan, the Czech Republic and Thailand were not included in the
disclosure.

7 mREEETFEAMREEOREREEER
SEEMEEHBEMNIEBR  BEEETEX
B AEMERRbRBIEEM - RN -
REgEs - K3 AR BME - AE
% REMHEERL THAREEER -
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Product Responsibility

Product Safety

With customers as our first priority, the Group has always stressed
the importance of fulfilling their requirements with high-quality
products and services. The Group ensures that product information is
made available to customers in a transparent, true and accurate
manner during its sales process. The paper products of the Group are
subject to the “Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of
China” and other laws, regulations and standards related to product
safety and quality. Enterprises are required under laws and
regulations to shoulder responsibility for product quality and ensure
that products comply with quality and safety standards. As such, the
Group has established the “Procedures for the Surveillance,
Measuring and Control of Products” to supervise and inspect
incoming raw materials, semi-finished products and finished

products.

EmRZE

AEERFHANERE  USEEMNERM
RBEMEEFHTR - ARERRETFE
HERETESNERENEH  EEA
B - AEENARBZ(PEARKM
BEREEX)REMEREML 2 A
BROEPVERRIZERRRE <« EARERD
XFAEEMREET UTHRERTA
mERLZRIRE - REEABHET TE
fn B2 AR AR 2 2 A2 S ) B AN R AR
FR R mREEITEES Rl -
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As we highly value product safety, we have obtained IECQ QC
080000 certification for the hazardous substance process
management of our four plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong
and Jiangxi. As a proof that our paper products are free of banned
hazardous substances, the certification can boost customers’
confidence in the products of the Group. Meanwhile, the various
plants of the Group have also successfully obtained 1SO9001
certification for their quality management system. We have also
obtained the Forest Stewardship Council’s Chain of Custody (FSC-
COQ) certification, a proof that the Group values its product quality
and the sustainability of forest operations. Moreover, the Group has
established a risk assessment team to assess product quality and
safety risks regularly in order to address issues promptly for
protection of the Group’s and customers’ interests. We control our

product quality in the aspects from source, production, finished

REFB+HERERTSE  HE - T -
EOR ROT I UE S A S HEVSIECQ QC
080000 B EWMEBEETIERE - LRF
FPTIMATEEMMESERDT S EMELE
EEVE  BPIRENEFPFHASEEER
BIE 0 o AREBERE JREVS 71509001 af
EERREMBANRERANEHES
RB(FSC-COQ) * BRTAEEBLHRNE R
mENEREHEERMOAIFELSE
BER o WEoh » REER TR/
B THHEREERTRZHEENR
B LEARFIELEY  REAEERE
FOFZ RMEZRERERE - £E « K
M BRBENFAAERREILH

products to after-sale tracking:

01 Source monitoring
01K RE 2

The Group requires suppliers to provide inspection
reports on materials, warranty against the use of
hazardous substances, MSDS and so forth. The quality
department also conducts sample checking and batch
inspection in respect of incoming materials to ensure
the compliance with quality requirements. The
purchasing department is responsible for preparing the
list of qualified materials for reference of other
departments.

AEBERUEAREEDHORAKSE  TERE
EMEREFE  FEEMBERLKH KR (MSDS)
FEM - BRI HRETHRRILERR -
BREBENAEK - REIFAERH B
REEMEPILE -

02 Production process
02 £EBIE

The Group adopts automated and computer-monitored
production processes, while the quality department
conducts inspection on semi-finished products and
records results on the logbook of inspection during
production process, before moving on to the next
stage. In case of any inadequacy, the relevant
production staff members will be notified immediately
for rectification.

AEEEREBCERERNLER]E  HiaalHm
BERmETRR SREEBRERRBRLHE  HE
TEBRIFET ERETARIER - HEAL
EABBIZENAMIE -
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03 Inspection of finished products

03 Ak Am e i

The Group conducts inspection of finished products for
physical index and the content of hazardous substances
in accordance with the “Operation Guidelines on the
Inspection of Finished Products”. Regular sample
inspection will also be conducted on the finished paper
products after sale, while waste paper and pulp
samples are sent to testing agencies for the inspection
for hazardous substances.

AEBRE(KRRBIEEREEE )N IR T H KR
YIREENBENESEETRER - AREITEN
ﬂ%féﬁﬁﬁkﬁu?EELfﬂEiﬂffﬁﬁ%ﬁ I A BEAR ~ REEAR
BRI B EMERARERNR

04 After-sale services

04 & 1% R#5

In each of sales territories in China, the Group has
professional after-sale service team to keep close
contact with customers and ensure that their problems,
complaints and opinions are properly addressed and
handled. The Group has drawn up its “Operation
Guidelines on Customer Services”, which explicitly
stipulates the problem handling time and follow-up
process of the after-sales service team, so as to meet
the customer requirements clearly and efficiently.

AEERBEAZHERREEENSERBEE -
HEFRBETHE  WRHESZH  RF - BERLY
EEEEHREINMERE ASKERHRLT(ERPR
BIEEEEE) AXREEEREEEROMER
EBRERMEBERE LW  SBUHREEFE
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The Group takes customers’ feedbacks seriously. If the customer has
any questions about the quality after sale, the Group will arrange the
customer service department and the specialist from sales department
to go to the customer’s site for verification and quality inspection.
The specialist will keep personal and written communication with the
customers in the process. If the products fail to meet the
requirements of the order, the customer service department will
assist to arrange the recall or discount according to the situation after
checking by sales manager. The management of the Group strictly
monitors the quality of our products and performance of our services.
Complaints and product recalls are assessed and reviewed monthly
for understanding the causes and formulating solutions, so as to
optimize the relevant workflow and improve customer satisfaction.
Looking ahead, we will continue to evaluate our business
performance and strive for providing the best quality products to our
customers.

The percentage of product recalled and data on complaints for the
Year are as follows:

AEEREHFETESE  SREODE
EFYERMEARME  AEEELHE
FREHMERHEENEEINBERESE
&oETRERE - BRETFEERFER
FHREXEHER  NEIERKETE
2R EITHEEEZR  EnfBAEP
ARAE A B - MBERLHEHITE - &
SENEEERTEREMEE RRHE
B UeFARKRFRERBKEFET
BRI LR THRERRALHERRTR
UEEHERE  BREAZPHEE °
ARBMEREFHEBRALFRRE
FRtEABENER °

REER - AEBEE G BRI ) R AR
BER -

Product data 2021 2020
EmBE 20215 20204
Weight of product recalls accounted for total sales 0.060% 0.042%
EnEKESHEHEER

Number of complaint received 1,749 2,241

BRENIRFHA

Responsible Marketing

The Group pays great attention to build a good relationship of
mutual trust with customers, presenting the most authentic and
high-quality services and products to customers. Every salesperson
has received professional training. The Group requires that the sales
department strictly follows the “Operation Guidelines on Customer
Services” prepared by the Group to regulate and standardise the
behavior of employees, and ensures that the relevant sales and
publicity materials are in line with the Group’s guidelines. Once any
false and exaggerated advertising means are found, the Group will
impose severe punishment. The sales department also regularly holds
meetings with the employees, and updates products information and
marketing plans, so as to ensure that the employees have a clear
understanding of the products and unify marketing methods.

BIEITH
AEEERRTFEYRIFERERE N
IREFPEZRAKAEEABENER LR
B8 UHEBHKBEREI A%
BERHEETBEBRREBRUNER
RIGEXEEREE)  RBENRELETH
TR BREBENHERSEMANER
BReaEEEs - —BERRAEMNEETFR
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A e
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Intellectual Property Rights

Our Group places high importance on intellectual property protection
and respects the intellectual properties of others as intellectual
property can promote innovation and progress. Our Group has over
700 registered patents and has formed the intellectual property
department to coordinate and supervise the management of our
intellectual property rights. In our daily operation, our employees and
cooperators are required to comply with the regulations relating to
intellectual property and the “Policy of Intellectual Property” and the
“Risk Aversion Plan for Intellectual Property” prepared by the Group,
and access to and transfer of core information within the Group is
subject to clear limits of authority which are only limited to specific
members of the senior management of the Group to avoid excessive
information transfer and reduce the risk of data leakage. The Group
will enter into technical contracts with third parties to safeguard the

interests of technological achievements of both sides.

Data Privacy

The Group is well aware that personal information is governed under
the “General Code on Civil Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
“Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China” and other relevant laws and regulations, which require that
enterprises shall maintain the right of use of personal information. As
a result, the Group has formulated the confidential management
policy and taken data protection measures necessary for protecting
the interests of all stakeholders. We ensure that employees only have
access to the operational data within their permission sets. We would
not allow disclosure of information unauthorised by the information
owner except otherwise required by law. During the year, the Group
formulated the “Guidelines for the Management of Personal
Information Protection”, specifying relevant management duties and
requiring the Information Technology Department to be responsible
for the security of the facial recognition data collected and the
management of relevant technical and protective measures, proper
maintenance of the database, regular troubleshooting for hidden
risk, prevention of employees’ facial recognition data form leakage,
being faked or loss, and strict safeguarding the personal data of
employees in accordance with the law. The Group reserves the right
to hold relevant persons accountable in case of the occurrence of the

abovementioned issues such as leakage.
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In addition, the Group continues to improve and maintain its
information technology system, including setting up a network
firewall to prevent external attacks or threats intruding into the
Group's systems and applications, as well as strengthening the
protection of internal data to prohibit external devices from
connecting to the Group's intranet, etc. We conduct data backup on
a regular basis to ensure we can still effectively recover our system
data and maintain normal operation in case of unforeseen events

such as natural disasters or power outages.

During the Year, the Group did not find anything which constituted
a material breach of the aforesaid and other local laws and

regulations related to product and service quality.

CONTRIBUTING TO SOCIETY

The Group actively assumes its corporate social responsibility as one
of the Top 200 Companies in the PRC and one of the top ten paper
manufacturing companies in the world. While continuously achieving
self-development over the past years, it has also made good use of
its corporate resources to support the community. We have made
huge investments in building an environmental protection business
and are keen on public welfare issues, which have earned us

numerous awards in public welfare.

Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick is the founder of Lee & Man Paper
Manufacturing Limited and is known as the “King of Paper
Manufacturing”. Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick is a dedicated
philanthropist and made donations to schools in Hainan, Guangdong,
Beijing, Guizhou, Hunan and etc. and provided subsidies for domestic
charities. He has been praised by the community and has been
awarded the China Charity Award 2005 by the Ministry of Civil
Affairs of the People’s Republic of China and the title of “Red Son

Model” by the Hainan Provincial Government.
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Community Investment

Lee & Man Paper has been walking with the Community for a long
time. During the Year, we actively contributed to the fight against
the pandemic by making donations and giving supplies to the
community. During the Year, we also continued to contribute to the
community through environmental conservation, support for the
underprivileged and youth development, in order to make progress
together with the public. Through fulfilling our corporate social
responsibility and increasing our philanthropic investment, the Group
hopes to create a better future by improving the ecological
environment, helping the underprivileged and promoting the physical

and mental development of our youth.

In 2021, our total community contribution was HK$18,337,000
(2020: HK$26,977,000) and the time spent on the activities related

to community contribution was 104 hours.

Combat the Pandemic

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19, the Group has actively
responded to Chinese government calls, we proactively fulfilling
social responsibilities and assisting in epidemic prevention and
control. Chongging Lee & Man has donated household paper worth
HK$118,000 to Chongging Yongchuan District Health Commission,
Zhutuo Town Nursing Home and other institutions. On the other
hand, Vietnam Lee & Man donated materials and funds for
prevention and control assistance to local epidemic prevention
frontline organizations and struggling families. The total amount of
donations was 439,400,000 Vietnamese Dong, equivalent to
HK$149,000. We embodied our corporate responsibilities in actions
and contributed to the prevention and control of the epidemic
quantity.
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Support for the Under-privileged

The Group cares for the underprivileged in the society and gave them
warmth by offering free lunches, caring for the health of the elderly
and giving gifts to poor families. In July 2021, many places in Henan
Province experienced heavy rains for consecutive days, and cities such
as Zhengzhou suffered severe waterlogging. Millions of people were
facing the threat of heavy casualties and property losses. The Group
shouldered its social responsibility and donated HK$1.6 million to the
disaster areas. We also guaranteed our service to ensure the
arrangements in the living, post-disaster health and epidemic
prevention of the people living in disaster areas in Henan Province.
We helped the people in Henan Province to overcome the disaster
and restore stable production and life as soon as possible.

BEE R 4
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Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, Honorary Chairman of the Group, also ZAEEZETFFEFERBE L TRTAIAE
adheres to the principle of “Great love beyond borders, persistence #§g ' AZBEIZ2FTE @ K TESE
in doing good” and has established Charity Foundation Fund for £UNU{T& =Nz - BEEESN T SENY
charitable causes. The main targets of the Charity Foundation Fund S At e@ERE - WNERERE  £F K
are the impoverished households, orphans and abandoned children. &E AREERZREFBREE @ BEDE
During the year, we visited extremely impoverished families, donated ZERQ#HER - HEBERES o

supplies to charity schools, and supported poor children’s education.

In 2021, our philanthropic and poverty alleviation initiatives also 720214 * BB L BR R KB EHE

included:

Personal donations by Dr. Lee Wan Keung
Patrick, Honorary Chairman of the Group
AEEKBEIRFTERFLUNMARE
BHgIER -

The Group donations

SERBIER

B BXTRR :

Dr. Lee donated HK$25,000,000 to Yan Chai Hospital for purchase of
large-scale medical equipment, including MRI medical equipment.

FE TR EBREBMN25,000,000 8 THEEEARNEERER
FEHE N HIRMRIBERE -

Dr. Lee donates total of HK$15,000,000 in 3 year installments to
Undergraduate Research and Innovation Scheme (URIS) launched by The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University, the donation amount in 2021 was
HK$5,000,000
ELTREBEIREN AR EME RAIFET S J(URIS)BRAAE
15,000,000 7T - B8k 5 =81 - 20214 B % /5,000,000
JT

We donated HK$1,600,000 to H.K. Federation of Hainan Community
Organizations to support flood-relief in Henan Province
AEBEELBEASIEREME,600,0008 TIEFMEAKLERLEZ
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Youth Development

The founders of the Group have spared no effort to support
education and youth development. The Group has frequently
sponsored the building of a number of education facilities, including
the Li Qiang Academy of Jiaji Secondary School in Qionghai City,
Hainan Province, which was built in 2003 with funds donated by Dr.
Lee Man Chun Raymond, and the Patrick Lee Wan Keung Academic
Building in Lingnan University, Hong Kong, whose construction was
funded by the donations of Mr. Lee Man Bun in 2011. In addition,
the Lee Wan Keung Scholarship was also established, demonstrating

the zeal of our founders for corporate social responsibility.

The Group is also concerned about cultivating the youth to become
future pillars of society. Mr. Lee Man Bun donated HK$1.20 million
to Hong Kong New Youth Energy Think Tank and sponsored
HK$300,000 to its charity show “The Sassy Princess” performed by
Fuk Sing Opera Troupe, aiming at promoting the communication of
youth organizations between Hong Kong and Mainland and
encouraging the youth to make contribution and commitment to
social affairs and public services.

SEER

REBEWEINRALEHEDHENSOFERE
MEXETNERN  BZAFREEEZLA
HEERN  BIEE2003FmENEEL
BEEENSEABIMERERETRE
GER201MMEFBREXREEREHENE

BEAASRTERHERNE  TRITE
REEEE - T
Hi¥des

AEE%
EEERL -

#BRT B3 A B

fuﬂi.ll

AEETBELLIBETFAXNRRELE
BRR - FXRELEBRRHMENETFEER
ZESHEB208ETT  YEPHEESR
(R EEEBE « =X 1EMEH)
30B LAY REFBENMBEFEEDN
Zm o REBEFHEE R R ARRSE A
BEMELELER -

= ///:/
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In terms of the education for school-age children, Mr. Lee Man Bun
donated RMB7.53 million to Yunnan Nujiang Zhou School for buying
books and sponsored HK$1 million to Hong Kong Chinese Importers’
and Exporters’ Association Charity Foundation Limited for funding
the “Reading Together” activity. The Group hopes that the children
can develop habits of reading and exploring and can cultivate rich
imagination and creativity by feeling the power of words.

During the Year, we also made a number of donations to promote
education in Vietnam, including donations for the operation of
kindergartens, primary and secondary schools in Hau Giang Province,
the construction of new school buildings, the provision of
scholarships for children from low-income families and the purchase
of bicycles for use in schools, etc. Through these measures, we hope
to nurture more talents for the community and improve lives through

knowledge.

ONG HOA XA HOI CHU NGHIA VIET NaM NubN NAWURE
s

B s wase

BEREFBEAR  AREYEMTE
PRI BRA 7538 T A R BB
HE® REDTHEZELHRAR
(AN — ALt EH B T A DS 100855
T ALBERRMENRROTE B
EXFHBAT - HREBOBE AL
) -

X

EARFEE  BATZRBHESBEE
MBEER BEBEEEERIENS
MR NERTEEELERE RSP
RiEHMRE - AERARERERRE
PEIBEEEEEERNABAERE B
BEEER  RMAEEZALEHEEZA
T AAB R EwmE -
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HKEX ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND EBRRXGIORE - L8 RERRK
GOVERNANCE REPORT GUIDE INDEX EECEIEE]
General Disclosures Relevant Information
and KPls Description in this Report
—REER REE
BRERER it HEEH
A Environmental
A B
A1 Emissions
Al BERD
General Disclosure In relation to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into | Emissions
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste:
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer.
— AR EE ERERIORERBER MRS  BERE | HI8Y
EREEVHEEESH :
(@ BER: &
(b) BTHETABEAZENEERELR -
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
A1.1 iR MR BB B - B
A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy’s indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas | Emissions
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
A1.2 BEE(SHEN) REREE(BE2)HFHRERBEHERE (A | B
WEE) M(WER)ZE(MAEBEEEN - 8ERMER
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report
- REER &
BRENER it HEEE
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Emissions
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
A1.3 FEAEEEEYASE (ABTE) R(ER)BE (A | SR
SESE - SERIEHE) -
Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Emissions
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
Al.4 FEAREEZEYRE (AMGE) R(MER)BE (WA | BERY
SEREM - SHEREHE) -
A1.5 Description of emission targets established and steps taken to | Emissions
achieve them.
A1.5 RAFTRI 2 B R R REIE L BRI LR o | B
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are | Emissions
handled, and description of waste reduction targets established
and steps taken to achieve them.
A1.6 MM EBBEERBESERZEYN AL REMPAEIZHRE | B

BEkAEIELREMENHER

A2 Use of Resources

A2 ERFER

General Policies on efficient use of resources including energy, water | Use of Resources

Disclosure and other raw materials.

—RIKE BRERER(BEEIR - KREAMRME)BBER - BIRER

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. | Use of Resources
electricity, gas or ail) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

A2.1 RENESHERER XHEEER(NE - Ah) LFEE | BRER

(ATETESAE) RBE(MAGEBEMN - BEREA
8o
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report
~BEER KR
BERENIER it HEEH

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of | Use of Resources

production volume, per facility).

A2.2 BEKENEE (WMASGESEN - BERENE) - BIRE A

A2.3 Description of energy efficiency targets established and steps | Use of Resources
taken to achieve them.

A2.3 I FrET R RE AR E B R R REDE LB RMEN | BRER
BB

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that | Use of Resources

is fit for purpose, and water efficiency targets established and

steps taken to achieve them.

A2.4 i SKEUGE KR BRI SR ERE - WERATEI LM AR | BRER
wm AR R AERE L BIZMTERIA S -
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) | Use of Resources

and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

A2.5 B GATABEEMANES (BT E) M(ER)B4AE
BAGE -

BIREM

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 BRERXARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

Environment and
Natural Resources

— R WMEBFETAHRBRARAERENEATENBR - RIENMAAER
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Environment and

environment and natural resources and the action taken to
manage them.

A3.1 M EBEHHIRBERRARERNERFZEREHENMERE
BEEERNITE -

Natural Resources

BRIEBRRAER
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report

—RKER AEHE

BERENIER it HEEH

A4 Climate Change

A4 RIR%1

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- | Cope with Climate
related issues which impacted, and those which may impact, | Change
the issuer.

— PRI EE BRI EHERRARGEHETAELETENEARKE | RIRECRY
HEEREGR -

A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues that have | Cope with Climate
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the | Change
actions taken to manage them.

A4.1 MAERLARGEHBETAELATENERARGEBES | RIS CEY
B REHTH -

B Society

B. #®&

B1 Employment

B1 f{Ef%

General Disclosure In relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and | Employment
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare:

(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer.
—RWE BTRAR

FHFHERE BERER  ILERE - RY - FTSH
& Zult - REBAREMEEREND

a) HE R

—

(b) SHBETABEATENHBEIZRAOINER -
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report

—RKER AEHE

BERENIER it HEEH

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (full-time or part- | Employment
time), age group and geographical region.

B1.1 IR EEEE(NEBERE)  FREMN bR S | BTHEE
BE SR E -

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical | Employment
region.

B1.2 RIER - FIRARN KRB DHEERKLLE - BTRAR

B2 Health and Safety

B2 @ERZZR

General Disclosure

In relation to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer.

Health and Safety

— R FHRREZ2THERERREREHEBELEEN - REEZ e
(a) BUR: R
(b) BIFHETAGBEAZENHBERLRIINER -

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities in each of the past | Health and Safety
three years (including reporting year).

B2.1 BE=F(BHRERFE)SFAITHNHABRLLE - fREEZ 2

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety

B2.2 AIGHEAIERH - R S

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | Health and Safety
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B2.3 RRPTER A B ER R 285 ANEBERTRESR | ZFERS

T °
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report
—RKER AEHE
BERENIER it HEEH

B3 Training and development

B3 HEELHEII

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for | Training and

discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

Development

—MRIKEE FRRAEERIT IEBRBENMBLRENER - fillF | HIRER
FEE ©

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee | Training and
category (e.g. senior management, middle management, etc.). | Development

B3.1 BUFIREERRI(MNERERE TREEES) SN | BILER
XiIMEEBDL °

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender | Training and
and employee category. Development

B3.2 BRUFIREERERE Y  BREETKEINTHEE - | BIIRER

B4 Labour Standards

B4 H TR

General Disclosure

In relation to prevent child or forced labour:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer.

Labour Standards

—RR = EAEAMIEET G148 TH : BT AR
(a) BE: &
(b) BEFHBETAEBEAZENHBERZRROINELR -

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | Labour Standards
avoid child or forced labour.

B4.1 iR BB Ol e AR R E T RORHIST - SITAER|

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such non-compliance | Labour Standards
practices when discovered.

B4.2 R IR ERBARHR A RIBERPTERIRE B L5 TAER|
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report

—RKER AEHE

BERENIER it HEEH

B5 Supply Chain Management

B5 ftrEHEER

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the | Supply Chain
supply chain. Management

—MRIKEE ERMHEENRREREGRBBEK - HrEEER

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain

Management

B5.1 mripEE D HEBEE - HrEEeER

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number | Supply Chain
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and | Management
how they are implemented and monitored.

B5.2 Ml EEERHEENEY  mERNTERENNHER | HEEER
A URBEBRITRERTE -

B5.3 Description of practices relating to identify environmental and | Supply Chain
social risks at every stage of the supply chain, and how they are | Management
implemented and monitored.

B5.3 M ERASFIHEESARSNRERCERARNIED - | HEEEE
AR BB TT M BERI 50K -

B5.4 Description of practices that promote the use of | Supply Chain
environmentally friendly products and services when selecting | Management
suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B5.4 R AEREHERRREESARERERMREHED - A | HEEER

K ARRATT MBS R E -
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General Disclosures
and KPlIs

—BREER
REEANER

Description

it

Relevant Information
in this Report

R E
el sz

B6 Product Responsibility

B6 EmEM

General Disclosure

In relation to health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters associated with products and services provided
and methods of redress:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer.

Product Responsibility,
Responsible Marketing,

Data Privacy

— R FAMREHEMNBRENREREREZY B  RERILE mEF - 5T
EHARBRITE BEHRE
(@) BXE: &
(b) BEFHBTABEAZENHEBREEZKLAOBNEE -

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls | Product Responsibility
for safety and health reasons.

B6.1 EEXCELEMBHPTAR2ERREAMARKNE | EmEE
L e

B6.2 Number of product and service-related complaints received and | Product Responsibility
how they are dealt with.

B6.2 BEEANEMRBRBNVIRFEE AREH X - EmEE

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | Intellectual Property
intellectual property rights. Rights

B6.3 it B A T AR R AN ERE A ARV IE 0] - A EE

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. | Product Responsibility

B6.4 it o B AR B AR B B R R e EmEE
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report

—RKER AEHE

BERENIER it HEEH

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, | Data Privacy
and how they are implemented and monitored.

B6.5 BRHRE

W HEEEHRERMLEBERE - URBEERTRESRS
K e

B7 Anti-corruption

B7 RES

General Disclosure

In relation to prevent bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering:

(a)

the policies; and

(b)

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer.

Anti-corruption

—MRIKE BN IR R -  BEFRARERN RES
(a) BR: &k
(b) ETFTHETABERZENHEBEERNLRONER -

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | Anti-corruption
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.

B7.1 RERPAHETAXEEERET D EENETHLR | RES
BB MFAGER -

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing | Anti-corruption
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B7.2 P& A R RRER - ARMBBRITRERGE - k&5
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report

~REER ES T

BERENIER it HEEH

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training for directors and | Anti-corruption
employees.

B7.3 fimESE R ETRHOREITH - R&S

B8 Community Investment

B8 #HERE

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take communities’ interests into consideration.

Community investment

— R FRAUHEBE2ERTREEMELRFTENBEREAERE | HEKRE
B R ERMNERBUE
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental | Community investment
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
BS.1 HEIEREBE(UHE BEFE BIFK BEF X | HEKRE
£ 8F)-
B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community investment
BS.2 EEITHREBABAER (S EAEM) HERE
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, aged 51, CPPCC National
Committee, SBS JP, Chairman of the Company is in charge of
corporate planning and investment projects. He has over 28 years of
operational experience in paper manufacturing and is experienced in
professional formula of paper making and product development. He
was conferred the Honorary Degree of Doctor of Laws in 2014 and
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science from the University of
British Columbia in Canada. He was awarded the “Young Industrialist
Award of Hong Kong 2002" and received an award for “2003 Hong
Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons Selection Awardees”. He is
the brother of Mr. Lee Man Bun, an Executive Director of the
Company and Chief Executive Officer of the Group and is the
brother-in-law of Mr. Li King Wai Ross, an Executive Director of the
Company. The younger brother of his grandfather is the grandfather
of Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung, an Executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Lee Man Bun, aged 41, the member of the Political Consultative
Committee of Guangdong Province, MH JP, Chief Executive Officer
of the Group, is responsible for production management, sales, daily
operation, quality improvement, repair and maintenance of
production machines and staff management etc.. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree of Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from
the University of British Columbia in Canada. He is awarded the
“Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2015" and is the Founding
Chairman of Hong Kong New Youth Energy Think Tank. He is the
younger brother of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, the Chairman and
an Executive Director of the Company and is the brother-in-law of
Mr. Li King Wai Ross, an Executive Director of the Company. The
younger brother of his grandfather is the grandfather of Mr. Lee Jude

Ho Chung, an Executive Director of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EIREREEEEN (F)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (conminuep)

Mr. Li King Wai Ross, aged 46, an Executive Director of the
Company, is responsible for the global procurement of recovered
paper, logistics planning and optimisation, as well as external affairs
for the Group. He holds a Master’s Degree in Science in Electrical
Engineering from Stanford University in USA and a Bachelor’s Degree
in Applied Science in Computer Engineering from University of British
Columbia in Canada. He has over 20 years of experience in
production management, operations and technological research and
development. He is the brother-in-law of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond
and Mr. Lee Man Bun, both of whom are Executive Directors of the

Company.

Mr. Yip Heong Kan, aged 51, is the General Manager of the Group,
is responsible for investment management of new projects, merger
and acquisition, cost controlling, accounting and taxation
management, corporate management and energy saving projects. He
holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Open
University of Hong Kong and is an associate member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 28 years of
experience in auditing & accounting and corporate financial

management.

Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung, aged 47, is the Deputy General Manager
of the Group responsible for the administration, human resources,
information technology, construction and environmental protection
related management of the Group. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Applied Science & Engineering from University of Toronto in Canada
and has over 21 years of experience in IT supervision and 14 years of
senior management experience from different multinational
companies. His grandfather is the younger brother of the grandfather
of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun.
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FTREBRE 4658 ARFRWITES
BEASRENZRBEARBEY MR
BLELEMEEREHINER - REFHX
B HEAEMEBEF TIRE LT 2L R
EXRBIMULTARBEAMBEKRTRE
SBL8 - BFHE0FLEEERE - 28
1E R B AMTAT TR A AR B © AR AR BHIT
EEFNERBL2HRREFXOREEZA
%o

RAgiE S AREELE &
BEASEHEEREEE  WEAH K
Al BHERHEERE  CEEEND
EERPEER - REBEALARARIAE
BRTEM  BATERMARER
HHEE28FRBR G EEMBEER

FRBEE 475 ARERIBELE A
BERETH  ANER BB - &2
ERREETHE - REBEANEAZR/EX
BEMBMBTIRSLEM  BRANFE
BEEEAMRERM4FHNSREERL
B MERX/SFXEE L RFIORLEHE
REHE -

EERAR AR 2021 £k 109
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ESIRSREEEEN (F)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, aged 82, GBS JP, a Non-executive
Director of the Company, is the Chairman of Virya Foundation
Limited (a registered non-profit charitable organisation), the Emeritus
Professor and the President Emeritus of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He devoted 40 years of his life to advancing university
education in Hong Kong before he retired in January 2009 from his
18-year presidency at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Professor Poon obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) Degree
from the University of Hong Kong, A Doctor of Philosophy Degree
and a Higher Doctor of Science Degree from the University of
London. He was a Postdoctoral Fellow at the California Institute of
Technology and University of Southern California. He also held the
Honorary Degree of Doctor of Humanities from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2009. He was appointed a Non-official
Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1989, received the OBE in 1991, the Gold
Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2002, “Leader of the Year Awards 2008
(Education)”. In addition, Professor Poon was appointed as a member
of the Legislative Council (1985-1991) and a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(1998-2013). He is also an Independent Non-executive Director of
Henderson Land Development Company Limited, The Hong Kong
and China Gas Limited and Chevalier International Holdings Limited.
All the aforesaid companies are listed on the Hong Kong Stock

Exchange.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EIREREEEEN (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 79, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,
Solicitors and Notaries. He is also an Independent Non-executive
Director of the listed companies, Lee & Man Chemical Company
Limited and Melbourne Enterprises Limited. All the aforesaid
companies are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.

Mr. Peter A. Davies, aged 79, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, is a retired lawyer. He has over 50 years of
experience in the legal field, practising both as a solicitor and a
barrister in England and Hong Kong. Over the years, he has been a
partner of Messrs. Deacons, Solicitors, and a Directorate Officer and
the head of the Insider Dealing Unit with the Department of Justice
of Hong Kong. He was appointed to be a notary public in Hong Kong
in 1974.

Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David (“Mr. Chau"), aged 58, and
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, has over 25
years of experience in corporate finance and was formerly a partner
of one of the big four accounting firms, Mr. Chau was a key member
who found their corporate finance division and held the position as
their Head of Merger and Acquisition and Corporate Advisory. Mr.
Chau is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales (“ICAEW"), and was granted the Corporate
Finance Qualification of ICAEW. He is also a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and was
an ex-committee member of the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. Mr.
Chau is a Senior Fellow and a director of the Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute; he is the chairman of China Strategy
Committee and the Ex-Chairman of Corporate Outreach Committee.
Mr. Chau is a member of Hospital Governing Committee of Pamela
Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital (“PYNEH") and a trustee of the
PYNEH Charitable Trust. He is also a member of Jinan Municipal
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultation Conference.

Mr. Chau is currently an independent non-executive director and
audit committee chairman of BC Technology Group Limited, China
Evergrande Group, China Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group
Limited, China Ruyi Holdings Limited, IDG Energy Investment Group
Limited and Man Wah Holdings Limited. All the aforesaid companies
are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 55, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group and the Company Secretary of the Company, is
responsible for the internal supervision, management of the Group's
financial matters and investor relationship. Mr. Cheung is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 33 years of experience in the field of
auditing, accounting and financial management. He is an
Independent Non-executive Director of China Aoyuan Property Group
Limited and DCB Holdings Limited, which are listed on the Main
Board and the GEM Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
respectively. He joined the Group in August 2002.

Mr. Wong Chi Chung Alex, aged 46, is the Administration Manager
of Chongging Lee & Man Tissue & Chongging Lee & Man Pulp, is
responsible for the daily operation and management of Chongqing
Lee & Man Tissue and Chongqging Lee & Man Pulp. He holds a
Bachelor degree in Computer Science from University of California,
Riverside in United States and has over 11 years of experience in

purchasing and administration. He joined the Group in August 2012.

Mr. Ng Hok She Harry, aged 46, is the Head of Production and
Quality Assurance of tissue paper, responsible for the tissue paper
production and product quality of the Group. Mr. Ng holds a
Bachelor’s Degree and a Master’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering
from McMaster University in Canada. He has over 19 years of
experience in engineering safety aspects management. He joined the
Group in October 2011.

Mr. Chu Kwok Lung, aged 59, is the Administration Manager of
Guangdong Lee & Man Paper, is responsible for the daily operation
and management of Guangdong Lee & Man Paper and has over 37
years of experience in manufacturing. He joined the Group in June
2006.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESRaREEERN (FE)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivuep)

Mr. Chung Wai Fu, aged 57, is the General Manager of Vietnam
Lee & Man Paper, responsible for Vietnam plant operation and
management. Mr. Chung holds a Bachelor Degree of Production and
Logistics Management and a Master Degree of Business
Administration in Human Resources Management from the University
of Southern Queensland. He has over 28 years of management
experience working in both multinational and local listed companies
in China. Mr. Chung joined the Group in November 2008.

Ms. Li Yuen Ling, aged 60, is the Senior Finance Manager of the
Group, is responsible for the Group’s finance activities, as well as
maintaining banking relationship for the Group. She joined the Lee &
Man group in 1984 and has over 37 years of experience in

accounting and finance for manufacturing operations.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

EEERE

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries and a joint venture are set out in

notes 42 and 21 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on page 133.

A final dividend for 2020 of HK18 cents per share amounting to
HK$782,396,000 and an interim dividend for 2021 of HK15 cents
per share amounting to HK$651,996,000 in aggregate was paid to
the shareholders during the year. The directors of the Company now
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK11 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2021 to the shareholders on the
register of members on 23 May 2022, amounting to approximately
HK$475 million in aggregate, subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$6,850,143,000 (2020:
HK$8,319,057,000), representing the aggregation of the share
premium, the contributed surplus and the retained profits.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 7 of the annual

report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$3,093 million (2020: HK$3,511
million) for the purpose of expanding its business. An amount of
HK$6,597,000 (2020: HK$6,858,000) was transferred from property,
plant and equipment to investment properties for generating rental
income. Details of the movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Company and a discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its results and financial position are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis,
respectively, set out on pages 8 to 11 and pages 12 to 15 of this
Annual Report. The outlook of the Company’s business is discussed
throughout this Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) and are in
addition to the matters referred to in the Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis.

1.  Economic climate and individual market
performance

The impact of economic conditions of China would affect sales
and results of the Group. The Group continues to implement its
strategies to develop and strengthen penetration of the relevant
markets. The management of the Group will continue to make
efforts to strictly control costs and manage the usage of capital
fund in order to maintain the Group’s competitiveness in the
paper industry.

In addition, the on-going US-China trade friction and recent
novel coronavirus epidemic might past uncertainty to the
Group's business performance, details of the uncertainty are
set out in the Chairman’s statement to the annual report.

M BERRE

FRN - AEBEEEYME  BERREIK
A#730.938F (20204 : 3511188
L) MIERET o A%6,597,0008 T
(20204 : 6,858,000 L) & EEH W E -
MERSEERAEERSRAZEED
X AEEYE BERIERFROE
B IBE N R e MR E17 -

RO ER KRR

RARFER - NAFFEE DR R A S E*
IRz w1 o A DA J2 B 2 48 K B 75 AR 4R
BMeEAAZRDREINRAFRESER
FNBZERBMERFI2BEEEISAEZ
BEEENBEINFR - ARAMEBRE
RAFRTRED 5150

TERBRAABRREE

BRIEmErEEBNwmhOMIBEEE
PASN - AR BIRE R AHEDI (FEEDF
622F ) ATHWEMEYNEERR KT
BREARZMT -

1. KERERELHHRR

TREEBANTEEYELARHE
MHENES AKBEEBEERR
BE - DAEERMANER TR EN TS
BiE AEEEREEREBER K
ERA R NEE AR ER LR AR
BEERENBFD

BSN - FENPRBESE RO
HAUBRBESRBAEHATELZ
EBRPSHKAEEN - THEME
ZHBERANFR 2 EFERED ©

BGERAR AT 2021 £ 115



DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conmivueD)

2.

116

Loss of key individuals or the inability to attract
and retain talent

Lack of appropriately skilled and experienced resource could
result in a delay in achieving the Group’s strategic goals. The
risk of the loss of key personnel is mitigated by regular reviews
of recruitment and retention practices, remuneration packages
and succession planning within the management team.

Customers’ credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk by the Group which will
cause a financial loss due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of
the recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
The Group only extends credit to customers based on careful
evaluation of the customers’ financial conditions and credit
history. Credit sales of products are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised for
irrecoverable amounts.

Details of the customers’ credit risk are set out in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with the relevant loan covenants.

Details of the liquidity risk are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conTinuED)
5. Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency transactions and foreign
currency borrowings, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group manages and monitors foreign
exchange exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. The Group has
entered into certain foreign currency forward contracts to

mitigate the risks as deemed appropriate.

Details of the currency risk are set out in note 35 to the

consolidated financial statements.

6. Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate bank balances and bank borrowings
and fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank
borrowings. The management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

Details of the interest rate risk are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GROUP’S ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a high
standard of corporate social responsibility is essential for building up
a good corporate and social relationship and motivating staff and
creating a sustainable return to the Group. We are committed to
contributing to the sustainability of the environment and community
in which we conduct business and where our stakeholders live.

Particulars of the Company’s environmental policies and performance
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 32 to 107 of this Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

STAKEHOLDERS" ENGAGEMENT

We obtain and understand the views of our stakeholders regularly.
This communication provides valuable feedback for our business and
assists us to understand stakeholders’ needs and assess the best way
to leverage our resources and expertise to contribute to future
business and community development.

Across the supply chain, we have taken steps throughout the year to
ensure that we operate responsibly and in the interests of our
customers, workforce, suppliers and other stakeholders.

An account of the Group’s relationships with employees is included
in the Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 12 to 15.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year, the Company repurchased certain of its own
ordinary shares through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), details of which are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements. The directors considered that the
repurchases would increase the earnings per share of the Company.
None of the Company’s subsidiaries repurchased, sold or redeemed

any of the Company’s shares during the year.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, sas jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun, mH Jp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung

Mr. Yip Heong Kan

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, G8s Jp

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Lee
Man Bun, Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung, Mr. Yip Heong Kan and Mr. Peter
A. Davies retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, Mr. Lee Man Bun and Mr. Li
King Wai Ross has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 1 April
2020, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by

either party by three months’ prior written notice.

Each of Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung and Mr. Yip Heong Kan has entered
into a service agreement with the Company for initial period of three
years commencing 1 July 2021, which will continue thereafter unless
and until terminated by either party by three months' prior written
notice.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

The term of office of the non-executive director and each of the
independent non-executive directors is the period up to his
retirement as required by the Company’s Articles of Association.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year, a permitted indemnity provision that meets the
requirements specified in section 469(2) of the Companies Ordinance
for the benefit of the directors of the Company is in force.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21 of the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange (”Listing
Rules”), the following disclosure is included in respect of the
Company’s loan agreements, which contains covenants requiring
performance obligations of the controlling shareholders of the
Company as at the date of this Annual Report.

The Group has certain loan facility agreements where it would
constitute an event of default if any one or all of Dr. Lee Wan Keung
Patrick, Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun (together
the “Controlling Shareholders”), the Controlling Shareholders of the
Company, ceases to legally and beneficially own, directly or indirectly,
in aggregate at least 51% of the entire issued share capital of and
equity interest in the Company or do not, or cease to, exercise
management control over the Company. Upon the occurrence of any
of the above events, the outstanding liability under the loan facilities

will become immediately due and payable.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES" INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests of the directors and the chief
executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), or as
otherwise notified to the Company and pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company
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Percentage of

the issued

share capital

Number of of the Company

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares {5&RQATERIT
EEpE 54 EERHE REBD L
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner 1,358,991,040 31.37%
FEXEEL BEHBEAA
Mr. Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner 1,358,991,040 31.37%
FXHSEE EmEAA
Mr. Li King Wai Ross Held by spouse 4,564,865 0.11%
TR rEE mECEBEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 100,000 0.002%
BRI EmEAA

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or chief executives or
their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its

associated corporations as at 31 December 2021.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, at 31 December
2021, other than directors and chief executives, the following
shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant interests in
the issued share capital of the Company.

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company
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Percentage
Number of of the issued
issued ordinary share capital of

shares held  the Company
Name of shareholder Capacity BFEERT MERARSRIT
BRIS &1 ENHE = BABSL
Ms. Ho Tsz Wan Held by spouse (rjote )] 1,358,991,040 31.37%
fAllEREZ L mELEEFE (M)
Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick Beneficial owner and 423,731,920 9.78%
FERET held by spouse (note ii)
HABAAL
mELEREE (FiEi)
Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen Beneficial owner and 423,731,920 9.78%
TEEBLL held by spouse (note ii)
HABAAL
mELERE (FiEi)
notes: B 5E -
(i) Under the SFO, Ms. Ho Tsz Wan is deemed to be interested on the 1,358,991,040 (i) BEFHFRBEGKA  BRMUEBLZLT
ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Mr. Lee Man Bun. REXBEENEBGB  WERAEE Z
1,358,991,040 LB A ©
(if) Under the SFO, Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick directly held 413,731,920 shares and (i) BREEFRPEKD  TERBLTEERSS
Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen directly held 10,000,000 shares, Ms. Lee Wong Wai 413,731,220t T E BB LZTHES
Kuen is the spouse of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick. Both held and are deemed to £ 10,000,000k figth - MEFEEBRBLZ T2
be interest in 423,731,920 shares. TERHELINRBE MABEIHREAEEE
423,731,920/ fx 7 AR ©
Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified — B& I #it # & & ob -

of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares or

underlying shares of the Company as at 31 December 2021.

ARaBEENSR
2021 F 12 A31BARR B ek fH7EF
AR EMAREERIAE ©
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 16 to 31 of this

Annual Report.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all

of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the auditor of the Company to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified
letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in note 41
of the Annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange. The independent non-executive
directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
the report of the auditor and have confirmed that the transactions
have been entered into by the Group in the ordinary course of its
business, and in accordance with the terms of agreement governing
such transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

ZEBUFITES

BIE EMRBIFE3. 1316 285! - BB
FRITEFCAARARAEFRE 2B
M ARBRBABEBUIFNTESHE
BIM AL e

FAERXS

BB ETRAEI14AS6E  EFSEE
RRBIZBEDIEE) » BEMRTT GFTADTT -
BEREBGIHMAGHEMNEBEERTER
R 300058 N2 [ JEEZ K EBER
BEMZEETEIRE  2REBKHA
F7405R [ BN E R LR R AR5 48 B
A 5 B R BB R | B A S B O 5 A
ERSERRE - RBENE HAKERR
ERBIE14A 56 FNARFRM 41 P
BENFEBEX S AIENEESBR NG
W BRHHBEERBERNRMN - AR
A O A AZ B K B AN R R TR P - 8
VIATEECEHNFHERER S MZH
RhReE  WEMIBAEEMETIHHE
AEEBTET BEREEZFTRIHZ
BRGER - DEBAFARERNAARRR
RERA S
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (conminueD)

Details of the disclosure connected transactions for the year are set
out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance

with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance, to which the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the

year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers were less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases and the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers were less than 30% of the Group's total sales. In
2021, the largest supplier accounted for 8.1% (2020: 7.2%) of the

Group's purchase of raw materials.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share capital
of any of the Group's five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2021.
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BERS (%)

AEENATREZBEIZFIBRANE
B BHREMELT -

B EXFmBEEN  UEREAEMRHA
BETRANRERTHRERSBERS -

BEENRG  REREREHNH

2R

BRIFERS | —HMEEESN - ARF]
ey ONCIN = PN AR ES ) RNCTL
B VURNFEERFREAKRERDRE
M AARBEETERIFAEREETHER
EANGENRS - RHEREREH °

ITEEFRHED

FR - AEBRAEEEZZFTEESR
NEBMPEEEZ30%RAEERATFEZ
LI HELRAEEBIEEZ30% -
2021F  ZEAMEBEAEERERM
$18.1% (20204 : 7.2%) °

BEEEE R H A+ R (B
EH) EAAATDETRASY% M F2
B SR A A S B KA 7 BB R A £
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Article of Associations, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
including insurance, medical cover and share options are also

provided.

The determination of emoluments of the Company’s directors has

taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations of
HK$18,337,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Man Chun Raymond
CHAIRMAN
Hong Kong

7 March 2022

BB IRE

ARBZERAMANSFAEREEMTESR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

8 M % A

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF

LEE & MAN PAPER MANUFACTURING LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its member’s liability is
limited)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 133 to 272,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including

a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B2 RS (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BEEEE

EEETEE

RREFERTHEBRBEATHEE AL
RBRUAPGAVBRERNEARRER
MEHE ELEHREENTENERES
MBEHRRREABERBETRIERN - K17
TeHELEREHEBNER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FATIMIGRIE IR BT R

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

FEW B 5 Rt 2 BB T 1

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key
audit matter due to the significance of trade receivables to the
Group’s consolidated financial position and the involvement of
subjective judgment and management estimates in evaluating the
expected credit losses (“ECL") of the Group’s trade receivables at
the end of the reporting period.

RITHANEKE ZHERZHMENEREREFFTHEARKE S
ERHEERGREMBRARZEZE RN BERRAER 2B
WE SRRz RRAEEER(TEHEEEE D FHrREEH
b & B IR B VAT -

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s net trade receivables
amounting to approximately HK$4,658,694,000, which represented
approximately 8.9% of total assets of the Group.
R2021F12A31H - SEEKE FERFFES £
4,658,694,0008 7T * IEEBAEELBI% °

Our procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of trade receivables included:
RITHEEWE ZIRFORE T e R
7

o Understanding how the impairment
loss of trade receivables has been
estimated by management and the
approval procedures for recognising
the impairment loss on trade
receivables;

o EMEREMM{EGEKE HERNX
MEEE REREKE S RIRE
BRZE/HERF

o Testing the accuracy of the ECL
adjustment made by the management
and independent qualified
professional valuer;

e AFHMEREBLBUSEREZRM
BrREAMEEBEMIERE 2L
HEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (conTiNUED) BREITBIEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FTNAGERREER

Key audit matter

HREIEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

FEW B 5 R 2 BB A1

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the
management of the Group estimates the amount of ECL of trade
receivables (excluding those backed by bills) based on collective
assessment through grouping of various debtors that have similar
loss patterns, after considering internal credit ratings of trade
debtors, aging, repayment history and/or past due status of
respective trade receivables. In calculating the ECL, the loss rates
are estimated based on comparable probability of default from
internal credit ratings through groupings of various debtors that
have similar loss patterns and recovery rate quoted from
international credit-rating agencies and adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
In addition, credit-impaired trade receivables (excluding those
backed by bills) and trade receivables backed by bills are assessed
for ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of the credit-
impaired trade receivables is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows with the consideration of expected future credit
losses.

WMERE M MEM T4 EEE  SETREERBERTE - &
BEBRUBERANTREBAAS  KEREFEBAZ
NEEETR - RE - EREHER SHERNEKRESERZ S
iR - et RKESER(TEEERBRERE) v BBEE
BELHE NAHERBEEEER  BAXRBEAREHRTR
AL BB A EREITHE - MAl BB X T @B S AE
BUEBEBRANMEEX(ERERTRMBHSIA) 2 TREER
AETHE - URBEFEERASIBNEAIFZATEEERHE
AEBMmMGE - N EEREZEKRESER(TREERRE
BERE)REZBREANEBNE RN BBEEBEEMRER
- FEREZRRESIRAZEREBEBNIREEZR
HEEEHRREEBENRECRARKRREREREBELZE
%E;Kn-l—i ©

As disclosed in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recognised a provision of an amount of HK$15,834,000 in
respect of impairment losses of trade receivables for the year.
WA BHmAMTMEE  SEFARENRE S RIFNE
BIEMR BB S R15,834,0008 T -
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Assessing the reasonableness of the
methods and assumptions used in the
Group’s ECL model based on our
understanding on the Group’s
customer portfolio and discussion
with management and the
independent qualified professional
valuer including:

ERATH EEENEFEAH
B REEBEREISERE
EEEMAw - TE EEERE
BHEEFERAZ FEARBRN
SREUEBHE

- the credit quality of the
customers, such as any
experience in default, delay in
payments, aging analysis and
historical settlement pattern;
and

- BFPONEEBEEZE - fInEFE
8 - THINR - BRIk DT
KBEAEEER R

- the provision rates, internal
credit ratings, and forward-
looking information.

- BEX RNIHEETRKLAE
MR -

Evaluating the independent qualified
professional valuer's competence,
capabilities and objectivity.
FEBILAEREXMGEM 2T
FJz N zj] &%%ﬁl’_{ °



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the

Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

130

BEE R ET RS
MEE

AITHER  RYGRAMBHREAEREDS
TEERRRFFRERMEBNE AR
RAESEIERE - YHEABEATE

MIZ BB S - AR i E W BS FBIRE R
EERRBEMIEMIELMARE - A1TH
TRARENAT - HERMEMALAE
EREERER - GEBREZSKTHR
7 BTRERERREBETERETH
Eit EX-BEAHERRAFERBEH
3 o SEERERM AT LA BREF S BE AR SRR - 40
REEEHEMEBRELERAEZE
RAEMBRRERE KRBV BERERAED

IR

M EORTE - BB B A0 #E R BRI AT AR 1
BEX-
ERBEBEEAETENOBIES

AITERTEEXANY R T EXERRE
[ o RITI% -

o R RBIFNET{ FB A R EF ok £ AR 1 8 B
Zv?éﬁﬂ%#&%ﬁﬁéﬁﬁaéﬂﬁmﬁ’ﬂ
Bk - RERMITEEFAEY
ELERE - URERTEMEEZ D
HREF IEABEMERAER -
BB R BE - RE &
TER - ERRML - OEER A
2l £ A ARGEFRERTFM
BH M EKERRADRER SRR

REERAERMERMERERR
A @ b o

o THRHEREMOANIMIES - AR
n+@%m%n+$ir 155#‘]13'5
Y EEEANMEHOEREER
BR-

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2021 Annual Report



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B2 RS (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is K.W. Yim.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

7 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

melEmREMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & 2202112431 H IFFE

2021
NOTES HK$'000
FisE THET
Revenue WA 5 32,511,417
Cost of sales Fi=R=D N (26,808,481)
Gross profit EH 5,702,936
Other income EmgA 7 828,456
Impairment losses on trade receivables,  fEWE 5 R FUREEIE -
net of reversal BRI F 58 8 (15,834)
Other gains and losses, net Hth )5 W zs R B 18 9 (71,655)
Distribution and selling expenses DERIEEEBRA (1,008,791)
General and administrative expenses BERITHER (1,564,265)
Share of result of a joint venture EIRENEEE (1,175)
Finance costs R 10 (75,389)
Profit before tax BRI ZF EWELWEE]
Income tax expense MER S 1 (542,523)
Profit for the year FEEF 12 3,251,760
Other comprehensive income Hi2mEKE
Jtem that may be reclassified HEMEEH7EZE
subsequently to profit or loss: Bm2EE -
Exchange differences arising on BEBMNEBES Y
translation of foreign operations M ER 1,044,715
Total comprehensive income FEAZERR

for the year

4,296,475

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:

UTALEEFERF(BR)

3,122,838
128,409
513

3,251,760

Owners of the Company: ERREAA :

— Ordinary shareholders —EmRRE

— Perpetual capital securities holders —KBEXBHFEHEA
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R

Total comprehensive income (expense) AT A&

attributable to: merElm(ZE) -
Owners of the Company: RRRHAA :

- Ordinary shareholders — LA

— Perpetual capital securities holders —KBEXBHFEHEA
Non-controlling interests B ER

4,167,593

128,409
473

4,296,475

Earnings per share — Basic

BRAF -EX

HK cents
AL

16 71.87

2020
HK$'000
TAT
25,867,966
(20,120,028)

5,747,938
823,685

59,961
(249,474)
(717,620)

(1,163,729)

(8,772)
(170,517)

4,321,472
(668,960)

3,652,512

2,319,219

5,971,731

3,523,823
128,707
(18)

3,652,512

5,843,107

128,707
(83)

5,971,731
HK cents
AL

80.99
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma BRI &

At 31 December 2021 #2021F12H31H

NOTES
k3

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BERZE 17
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18
Investment properties BEMHE 19
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, EEYZE « BE X

plant and equipment REBRANET 2 20
Interest in a joint venture GEbEER 21
Loan to a joint venture BEDEER 21
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories PENTY 22
Loan to a joint venture R - 21
Trade and other receivables and EWE S REMEZR

prepayments T 5RI8 23(a)
Amounts due from related companies FEUN BB N B3I 24
Bank balances and cash WITEHB LIRS 25
CURRENT LIABILITIES FEEE
Trade and other payables FENE S REMBER 26
Amounts due to related companies FERTREE A TIIE 24
Tax payable FE 18
Lease liabilities THEARE 27
Contract liabilities aAaE 28
Advances drawn on bills M:e=tE v BhIR 2

discounted with recourse a8 2% 23(b)
Bank borrowings BITREE 29
NET CURRENT ASSETS FEEEEE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EELBERRBEE

LIABILITIES
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2021
HK$'000
TERT

33,905,307
1,122,222
605,591

1,727,166
90,858

37,451,144

5,705,396
80,554

7,219,054
88,882

1,908,813

15,002,699

3,109,636
10,680
179,817
14,010
77,657

123,903
8,674,747

12,190,450

2,812,249

40,263,393

2020
HK$'000
TAT

31,890,840
1,120,714
596,563

1,030,661

87,771
71,376

34,797,925

4,350,064

6,368,191
99,390
1,184,921

12,002,566
2,630,527
16,056
252,605
17,518

108,948

303,934
5,255,174

8,584,762

3,417,804

38,215,729



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

REPBRR R (&)

At 31 December 2021 #2021F12H31H

2021 2020
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
MosE FET FHET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Bank borrowings HwITEE 29 5,386,012 6,071,631
Lease liabilities HeaE 27 53,032 56,383
Deferred tax liabilities BEIERIEEE 30 1,421,351 1,337,300
6,860,395 7,465,314
33,402,998 30,750,415

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR H#E
Share capital f&% A 32 108,291 108,666
Reserves EE 30,963,891 28,311,406
31,072,182 28,420,072
Perpetual capital securities KEBEAANEE 33 2,322,814 2,322,814

Equity attributable to owners of the VAN/NETEZ P =IN

Company FEAE 2 33,394,996 30,742,886
Non-controlling interests JEPE RS R 8,002 7,529

33,402,998 30,750,415

The consolidated financial statements on pages 133 to 272 were 1332 F272EMEMNGEETBHRED
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 7 720223 A7 B &% = & #l ) & 5% T

March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by: T WHTIIESEKERESE
LEE MAN CHUN RAYMOND ZE3 {8 LEE MAN BUN Z= 3033
CHAIRMAN /& DIRECTOR EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GERRBEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & 2202112431 H IFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRINEDTRAA
Capital Perpetual Non-
Share  Share Translation contribution legal  Special  Other Retained capital controlling Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  Sub-total securities interests  equity
i Gt |

Ba  BRBEE EXBRE HERE  ORE  BARE AMRE  EREA Nt ARG FERBR RREE
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
Tén  TAr TAr TEr TEr TR TEL TEL TR TR TR TEn

(note ) (notel)  f{noteil)  (noteii)  (note)
(ishv) (e Omshi) o o) (i)

At 1 January 2020 #202081718 109,170 30,858 (1588301) 12,55 97 (2999)  (12,060) 25210170 23,759,487 2322814 319 26,082,620
Profit (loss)for the year EERFI(ER) - - - - - - — 35383 35383 128707 (18) 3652512
Buchange differences arising RERNER
on translation of foreign ErERER
operations - — 2319284 - - - - — 2319284 - (65 2319219
Total comprehensive income En@zE
(expense) forthe year Wa(xt) - — 2319284 - - - — 35383 5843107 128707 (83) 5971731
Shares repurchased and cancelled (B ;

s (504) - - - - - - (9357)  (95861) — - (95861)
Dividends recognised as distributions BE2£% k2
(note 15) Ra (M) - - - - - - — (1,086,661) (1,086,661) - — (1,086,661)
Distrbution paid on perpetual ~ KEERESE(
capital securtes (note 15} AR5 - - - - - - - - - (128,707) - (128707)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WENELR - - - - - - - - - - W%
At 31 December 2020 #20208128318 108666 30858 730,983 12,552 97 (2999 (12,060) 27551975 28420072 232814 7,529 30,750,415
Profitfor the year ERER - - - - - - — 312288 312288 128409 513 3,251,760
Bxchange differences arising BERNER
on translaton of foreign EE/ENEE
operations — — 1,044,755 - - — - — 1,044,755 - (40) 1,044,715
Total comprehensive income ERE2ENE
for the year - — 1,044,755 - - - — 3122838 4167593 128409 43 429475
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

mE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

xR (E)
HE2021F12A31HILF/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRIEATREA
Capital Perpetual Non-
Share  Share Translation contribution legal  Special  Other Retained capital controlling Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  Sub-total securities interests  equity
R X&

Bx  BORE EXRE LERE  0EE KRR HeRE  EFEA Nt OEAR% FERER RREE
HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
TRt Thr TR TAr AL TR TEr  TEn TR TR TR TER

(note ) (notel)  f{noteil)  (noteii)  (note)

(ishv) (k) (sti)  (hesi) ()

Shares repurchased and cancelled ~ [RDER Rit

(note) (i) B7) - - - - - - B 61090 - - (B1091)

Dividends recognised as distributions #2542 k&

(note 15) (Ms3E15) - - - - - - — (1434390) (143439) - — (14343%)

Distroution paid on perpetual X EEAZERf

capitl securities (note 15) AR(HE15) - - - - - - - - - (128,409) — (128409

At 31 Decernber 2021 R021E12R318 108291 30858 1775738 125%2 97 (2999 (12,060) 29,159,705 31,072,182 2322814 8,002 33402998

Notes: B 3

(i) The capital contribution reserve arose from the disposal of subsidiaries in prior (i) HEFRBDBEFEANREERSKERD
years to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group’s then ultimate holding A-REEMBEARLEMBERFMG -
company.

(i) In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the (i)  RERFIEDRE A EI - AR A RFT A0 HY
Company'’s subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of BRARRDEAFIEREDIKE - EEETD
the annual net profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the NEZMAM5%NSRIEREZELER BE
subsidiaries, until the reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiaries. The AMEEMBARBRAN— LRI ZEAR
reserve is not distributable to the shareholders. ETEDRERTER -

(i) The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the (i) R HERIEAKEN 200349 A KHEHENR
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group pursuant to the BAENHNERRNRAEERSEEARRF ]
corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal value of the WREEBEMBATHRDEENES -
Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition.

(v)  The other reserve arose from the acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries (V) F b iR F =AM E QR 2 FFEBER
from their non-controlling shareholders in prior years. WHEERNK B AR RERSEE

(v) During the period from 12 October 2021 to 1 December 2021, an aggregate of (V) 720219104120 %2021 12 51 A H

14,983,000 ordinary shares of the Company were repurchased at an aggregate
cost of HK$81,091,000. Subsequently, the repurchased shares were cancelled on
29 December 2021, and accordingly, the Company’s share capital was reduced
by HK$375,000.

AHBEOARFL®AL14,983,0008 - A
P 7<81,091,000/% 7T © 88 [ A% 1% BE 15 74 2021
F12A29B s - Bk - ARBRAR D
375,000/ 7T °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERETMER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & 2202112431 H IFFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXK
Profit before tax B 5 AT 22 A
Adjustments for: B
Finance costs B 7% B, 7R
Depreciation e
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE BERZEZ
plant and equipment, net 18 % 58
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE M B A B2 Was
Interest income FEWA
Net loss (gain) from fair value changes of ~ #T4 4RI T AR A (EE
derivative financial instruments FET1E (W)
Impairment losses on trade receivables, EWE 5 RFORERE -
net of reversal MR B
Share of result of a joint venture JElEEEEER
Operating cash flows before movements BEESEHHN
in working capital KEESME
Decrease in inventories FE R
Increase in trade and other receivables and  FEUTE 5 & H #h B 2
prepayments TE AT FRIE G N

Decrease in amounts due from related
companies

Increase (decrease) in trade and
other payables

(Decrease) increase in amounts due to

related companies

i M 9328 25 ) BOB R

JFEAT B 5 N E At BRRIE
CRLA)

RN EERRRAECED)
=il

Proceeds from and settlement of EETESRTE
derivative financial instruments FriS 38

Cash generated from operations REEBEENT

The PRC Enterprise BT B ETEH
Income Tax (“EIT") paid (TEMBER])

Withholding tax paid B IR

Interest paid [ERREIRS)

NET CASH FROM REEKEMB
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReFHE
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2021
HK$°000
TRET

3,794,283

75,389
165,251

78,341
(21,264)
(30,726)

35

4,078,318
265,913

(1,154,680)

10,508

369,883

(5.376)

(35

3,564,531

(553,008)
(30,694)
(189,054)

2,791,775

2020
HK$'000
TAET

4,321,472

170,517
171,449

5,010
(34,506)

(4,851)

(59,961)
8,772

4,577,902
720,587

(744,061)

21,359

(150,886)

393

4,848

4,430,142
(534,637)

(201,225)
(311,545)

3,382,735



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

mERERER (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & 2202112431 H IFFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Net cash outflow on acquisition of
subsidiaries

Payments for right-of-use assets

Loan to a joint venture

Additions to investment properties

Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary

Proceeds from disposal of property,

REEH
BEWE  WERE&E
BEWE  WER&E
FrftaT &
W B AR 2
e mHFE
@Fﬁﬁéﬁq?ﬁ%’\
EREEX
%ﬁi‘%ﬁ&ﬁ%%
HEMBARZESRAFEE
LEWE - BFE REE

plant and equipment FriS 508
Interest received B U H B
NET CASH USED IN REZE A
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RE&FE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REER
New bank borrowings raised MESRITEE
Advances drawn from bills discounted MBREZBHIREE
with recourse AR
Repayments of bank borrowings ERRITEER
Dividends paid ERE
Distribution paid on perpetual capital EfKEEARE
securities
Payments on repurchase of shares EAENSE e
Repayments of lease liabilities BEBEER
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) RESEB TS (FTA)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ReFsE
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN RERREEEYRMORD)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHNZzHER
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR RELEY
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES EZR# B~ &
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHR2EAER
THE END OF THE YEAR, ReZEY -
represented by bank balances and cash RITHBR RIS

2021
HK$'000
FERx
(2,312,766)
(991,819)
(391,280)
((EAE))
(3,250)
(189)
113,162

61,855
30,726

(3,506,711)

16,680,084

414,774
(13,993,418)
(1,434,392)

(128,409)
(81,091)
(23,177)

1,434,371

719,435

1,184,921
4,457

1,908,813

2020
HK$'000
TAET
(2,331,651)
(988,412)
(16,134
(19,577

(2,279

)
)
)
(1,834)

4,535
34,506

(3,320,846)

12,188,975
539,840
(13,197,717)
(1,086,661)
(128,707)

(95,861)
(13,607)

(1,793,738)

(1,731,849)

2,919,462
(2,692)

1,184,921
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R SRR MR

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 & Z2021F12H31H IFF/E

140

GENERAL INFORMATION

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries collectively referred to as the
“Group”) is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2013 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). As at 31 December 2021, Dr. Lee Man Chun
Raymond, Mr. Lee Man Bun and Dr. Lee Wan Keung, Patrick
directly held 31.37%, 31.37% and 9.55% of ordinary share
capital of the Company, respectively. The address of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company is disclosed in the Corporate Information section of

the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and a joint venture

are set out in notes 42 and 21, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of

the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent

Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS ~ Reform — Phase 2
4 and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decisions of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the

International Accounting Standards Board.

Except as described below and in note 38, the application of
the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the

disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

P PR AT B 58 B TS 3 25 2
B (& BB REER )

RAFEREERNEETEB
b e el

RAFE  AEBEHEXERBS
BEFHAE([EEEMIAE])
EMAER2021F1 A1 2 & FH
6 2 5 2 HA fE 58 ) AR A T B A 4B
FIRABMBHRELR  URELRE
B

BEREVBRE
R 1658
(BT A)

BEMBHE 1
HERIFE 9 - —E R
BB GER
£395% - BE
B s RS AR
FI9% - BB
B s RS 2R
FATEREFB
g el
165k (BFTA)

Covid-1948#
HE %

goh s REBECD EA BRI ®RE
EURBZEG([ZBEE)WERE
RTE e

BN X KM GE38PT AL H SN - MAE
ERBKETEENBEREENY
REBARFE RBEFEOHT BN
RARFBER,/ AL EEETBHRE
B BEMETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

=)

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments relate to changes in the basis
for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets,
financial liabilities and lease liabilities as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, specific hedge accounting requirements
and the related disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“HKFRS 7).

The Group's variable-rate bank borrowings indexed to Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") will continue to
maturity.

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements. Additional disclosures as required by
HKFRS 7 are set out in note 35.

EREEBITREMBREE
AT EBUBREER ] (&)

RAEAFERHERNEBITEE
MW EER (F)

ERBEBMBHMELANESR - BE
GEPERIE3 - BEMBHRESE
AIET75% - BEMBERELLFEIR
REEVBHREERE 165 (EF]
RV FIFBEERE-F_FER]Z
TE
AEERAFEERNERZFER
Ko ZFEITRNERN K EER
E BEHHEAZKREREE
MBEHRESENET RS TA - KF
(BB HREEAFE7E ) HERH
BEERIBETCSREE @
BELHEREZANRESREN
HEEHEHRE

AEEHEBRITER(EFBIRT
[ S 47 S8 ) iS A B 2 HR o

BREITHREGMBREAMER
2 FERUBREENETRARE
HER SN BR B FE35 -
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RE B RRMEE (E)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the
Committee — Cost necessary to sell inventories (HKAS 2
Inventories)

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision,
clarified the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs
necessary to make the sale” when determining the net
realisable value of inventories. In particular, whether such costs
should be limited to those that are incremental to the sale. The
Committee concluded that the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale should not be limited to those that are
incremental but should also include costs that an entity must
incur to sell its inventories including those that are not

incremental to a particular sale.

The Group's accounting policy prior to the Committee’s agenda
decision was to determine the net realisable value of inventories
taking into consideration incremental costs only. Upon
application of the Committee’s agenda decision, the Group
changed its accounting policy to determine the net realisable
value of inventories taking into consideration both incremental
costs and other costs necessary to make the sale, including
carriage outward charges in addition to incremental costs. The

new accounting policy has been applied retrospectively.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and

performance.

FERARIET BB EREE
A(TEBMERELER ) (#2)

RAFEREERNEETEB
MW EER (F)

ERZESZRAT -HEFEM
XA (BBGHERE2RFE)
pd -2

M2021568 ZESEBREZRE
AERBERBNETFEENERF
B EDEEITIHE TR 2 mEt K
KRIZHRA - RER - BEEKARE
ERNEEZEERKK - ZEER
B ETHEMB ZMTRATE
RAREERA  BNERIEEE
EFEVEREZRAN(BELIER
HREEHEREZAA) -

AEBREZEEGHERBRARTEAZES
BRRABETFECIUERFEKE
ERIEENA RERZEERE
RER  AEBERESFHE

REEFE 2R FEKEEY
ERARETHERT 2 HMKA
(BRISER AN - BIEINEBA) o
MEsTRREBAER -

ERZEERRARATHAKE ZH
BRARERRETBEBERLE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG FERARIER BB KR EE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS A([H B ERELER 1) (#)
("HKFRSs") (continueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but B 2815 1B 18 R 4 Y 35T R 2 1E
not yet effective I BB HREEA
The Group has not early applied the following new and AEBEVEEFEEANUNTEEMEA
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet HARERBIFET REETEBYB
effective: s AR
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the BTG RE R A %) &I
related Amendments’ AEBIE 175 1sE]°
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BEMBWE HSERZ
Framework? AEBIZE 357 $R
CCHEN)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BAEVBRES wEEEE
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its ZERIZE 10595 & iR/
Associate or Joint Venture* BB grrER| A& RAZ
E285 (1BFT ) FﬁZéEHﬂ
B AT
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent BEMBRE 202146 A
Concessions beyond R ZE165% 30H% 2
30 June 2021 CCHEN) Covid-1948
EHsER
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as BB ER BESEAR
Current or Non-current and F1UBETR) Bk IERED
related amendments to Hong PE
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)° BEESH
HMER]
(20204 )°
Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting Policies® BB ER EETHEERZ
HKAS 1 and HKFRS FIRRES =’
Practice Statement 2 B 15 3R 5 £ R
BEBREE2HR
(1BRTA)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting BB g ER EHEET 2
Estimates’ EXSACCHES) EE’
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets BEA LR 15— 5
and Liabilities arising from a F125(BRIAR) ELEZEE
Single Transaction® E=Re=1
ZIEER A’
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and BB ERTER Wz WE &
Equipment — Proceeds before F16 (BRI AR)  RE—HTE
Intended Use? &R 2 7
B E?
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of BB AR EEHEE
Fulfilling a Contract? 375 (BRI A) ﬁ%g;ﬁ?ﬂz
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to ERMBHREED H2018FF
HKFRSs 2018-2020? (BT ) 20204 A HF
2 EBIMG
s AR
F &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTinuED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities
as current or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that:

(i)  the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met
at the end of the reporting period, even if the
lender does not test compliance until a later date;
and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. FERAKREBITEBMEREE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS A (BB HREER]) &)
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but & A8 45 1B 8 R A R FT AT R A 1E
not yet effective (Continued) IR B ISREER (F)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as ERGHEUNEIR(BITR)BEES
Current or Non-current and related amendments to BERREBHFTBRIGEE B2 E
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (Continued) FELFEMIEET (20205 ) (42)

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option e EEMWAGBAREAETEI A
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer HEFHEZZREEETRAN
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do BWMRATRETHS  EE
not affect its classification as current or non-current only EREATEGTLEAE325
if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity 2MITA 23 HEEES
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: BHRBRALAR  ZEK
Presentation. BT EREDERNBNIE

RE °

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a LN - BAERBESTHEABEGTE

consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the B SRRERT A MIELEET - LAfE

corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion. HERE BRI — 2 Mism & o

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's right to defer settlement 2021128318 - AEBIEEE

for borrowings of HK$5,386,012,000 are subject to compliance & E5,386,012,00058 TR HEFI 7B

with certain financial ratios within 12 months from the BTHERBEEI2ERARANE T

reporting date. Such borrowings were classified as non-current THEL & - RN ANEEN20215612 A

as the Group met such ratios at 31 December 2021. Pending BSVHFEABLEX  WEMEES

clarification on the application of relevant requirements of the HRIIERY  FREHENHEH
amendments, the Group will further assess the potential RENERR  KEBBRILHB
impacts of the amendments in relation to the borrowings with REMPAZENEEE - LT EEET
financial and other covenants. The impacts on application, if WEEXEZ -HERNTE(WA)

any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated BN AL B R RAERE BB W

financial statements. xR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTinuED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts
are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information
relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is
itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s
significant accounting policies. The impacts of application, if
any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty — that is, the accounting
policy may require such items to be measured at monetary
amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead be
estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting
estimate to achieve the objective set out by the accounting
policy. Developing accounting estimates involves the use of
judgements or assumptions based on the latest available,
reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in

HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes (“HKAS 12")
so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary

differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
for leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the relevant assets and liabilities as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to relevant assets and liabilities
are assessed on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will
recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability
for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated

with the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application
permitted. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are subject to the
amendments amounted to HK$69,337,000 and
HK$66,296,000, respectively. The Group is in the process of
assessing the full impact of the application of the amendments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

REMBRRNEREER
FTESEEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 3.1 REMBRERNEHEE

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FESTTHE®E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuED)
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 3.1 REVBBRNERELE(ZE

financial statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristic of the asset
or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16"), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories,

or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that

would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminueD)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

. has power over the investee;
o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

REMBHRRVERELER
TESTBERM)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the

date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling

interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting

policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

RERBEEGE)
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Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented B AR IFIEREREAE
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which EriERIHZY - 2FER
represent present ownership interests entitling their RiIFARE=SHEREQRS
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the BREAUZFEABRLEAINEE
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation. FE o

Business combinations or asset acquisitions ¥BEtEEWE

Optional concentration test A 128 £ o JZ 8 55

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross
assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting
from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the
concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets is
determined not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M| KRMEE (&)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FESHBE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XTESHERE)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions ¥BEMNEERE(E)
(Continued)
Asset acquisitions

BEEWE

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies
and recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price
first to financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective
fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is
then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the

date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to
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EEAHELANEEENEE

goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Wz o

Investment in a joint venture BEPERE

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties AENER—ERXRTH &
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to SHEEGZLTHENETHESR
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is ZHRLRHNFEE - HEEZE
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an HAE—EBeHNMERZEZ
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the ZH - EENAEMRBEEIEA
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the REZFNE T —BRAERER

B -

parties sharing control.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

GREAMERRNEREER
SETEER(#)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)

Investment in a joint venture (Continued) BELEREE)
The results and assets and liabilities of joint venture are BRPEZEBREEREBRE
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements TIRER A AGE T

using the equity method of accounting. The financial HBERRN - BEREINERNE
statements of joint ventures used for equity accounting ERENMBREDEARE
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies EERUERREURZR S RS
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in T PATE R A 8 — & 5T IR T 4R

similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of a joint
venture exceeds the Group's interest in that joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the joint venture.

RoRE#EDL AERER
BERERA BRI R A6 A
RHER &E&ﬂ%%$w$
SERHEZABEEZES
A@%E%A°D$Elfﬁ
BELEZEBRBHEARZA
BrRZEDS(AEREME
BLERAKERZAELE
ZEEFBcRMED) A
AEETBRERBEENGZE—
FEE EeRAKEEEL
EERBEEETHEZAED
EXMRBEZBERAT » T
RSN -

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using EEDERENREWIEEFTK
the equity method from the date on which the investee REELEZARAEREAN

becomes a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment
in a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss

in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FESHBE &)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)
Investment in a joint venture (Continued) BELEREE)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently

increases.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the joint venture that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEFBEE)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an

asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
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performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Revenue from sale of packaging paper, pulp and tissue
paper is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of goods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the

contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or

another systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)
Leases (Continued) HEE)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBELREA(F)
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: CRAEEEKABTE

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives

received; and

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
The right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are presented within “investment

properties”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9") and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments

and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the

lease is not readily determinable.
The lease payments include:
o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed

payments) less any lease incentives receivable; and

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEREFEERAE)

Leases (Continued) HEEZ)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEFEAEAFN (FF)

Lease liabilities (Continued) HEBEE)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are REWBEEEZ  HEaE®RT

adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments. BHERBENRIEFE -

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a FEHRTIBR  AEEE

corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use I EHEEBA(RYHEBEF

assets) whenever: REEEFDETERE)

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in e HHIDEBESITREER
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in ZRHMEEE - ERERT
which case the related lease liability is remeasured HEEEBEENENT
by discounting the revised lease payments using a EE R OB RER
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment. EEFTHENFITHRRE

EtE o

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item AEBHHEEGENGEMH

on the consolidated statement of financial position. MRARABILIEEB PR ©
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B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XTESHERE)

Leases (Continued) HEE)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBELREA(F)

Lease modifications HEEN

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate FEEBHEEECRARRES

lease if: ZHEE

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by o (EMUEMEESHE - MA
adding the right to use one or more underlying —IANZIARBEE &
assets; and A &

e the consideration for the leases increases by an o TASMKEEHNEEHEIE M
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price BB BIRAERE - WHZ
for the increase in scope and any appropriate BYEBETEMANEE 2
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the AR R TE S R 1E
circumstances of the particular contract. e

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a MEESERIEARRBE LA

separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability EmME  AREZENEEZ

based on the lease term of the modified lease by TREAPME S E B Bl 2 18 5T

discounting the revised lease payments using a revised IR = KA 5T 1 & ST IR K

discount rate at the effective date of the modification. EHAEHERE -

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease AEEREHFAEHEARMA

liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the MHEEREEEEHERERAE

relevant right-of-use asset. RARR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

GREAMERRNEREER
FESHBEK#)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESHEBEAE)

Leases (Continued) HEE)
The Group as a lessor KEEERHHEANA
Classification and measurement of leases MEZHENTE

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were
not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

Operating leases

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

GREAMERRNEREER
FESHBE &)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEFBEE)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of and on
the retranslation of monetary items, and on the
retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign operation),
which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal or partial disposal of the Group's interests.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).
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e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are

reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of
capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss

in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit
scheme are recognised as an expense when the
employees have rendered services entitling them to the

contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the

benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)

after deducting any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax

currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’
because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference

arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FESHBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XTESHERE)
Taxation I
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B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and interest in a joint venture, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interest
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they

are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable

to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities

resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the

same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production of goods or for
administrative purposes, other than freehold lands and
construction in progress, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at

cost less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Construction in progress in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are

ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in

proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is
presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the cost model. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and

equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its
use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-
occupation, any difference between the carrying amount
and the fair value of that item (including the relevant
leasehold land classified as right-of-use assets) at the date
of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in revaluation reserve. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to

retained profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than freehold land and construction in
progress) less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 TESHERE)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals

and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual

value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or

loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 TESHERE)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income are recognised in
profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs

for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other

income”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 TESHERE)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if

any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which

the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-

generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE B AR M ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

GREAMERRNEREER
FESHBEK#)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESHEBEAE)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of
the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

REMBHRRVERELER
TESTBERM)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEFEERE)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or
a group of cash-generated units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a
first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sales. Cost necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental

costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation

or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESTBERE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 TESHERE)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter

period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M| KRMEE (&)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESTBERE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 TESHERE)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRITE(4#E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE &)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that

the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESTBERE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 TESHERE)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9 (including trade and other receivables, loan to a joint
venture, amounts due from related companies and bank
balances.) The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as

well as the forecast of future conditions.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HMEMKRERNEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FESHHE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 TESHERE)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIEE)

Financial assets (Continued) THEE &)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TREEREE)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade AEERTERERE S RN

receivables. REFEBEEEHE -

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss MATBEEMIA  AEBEDLE

allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a ER1N2MABEBHEERER

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, EEERE BRIFBVHEER

in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The BEERBBEEEM  KEH

assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised RIERKE B TEEEBE - &

is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk HTREERARIHEREES

of a default occurring since initial recognition. BHERBVEERERER

WA R SR R = A R E Y
e

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (i) =ERRBEZEM
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased ML B L REREEE
significantly since initial recognition, the Group [BL B 2 75 AR G NAF - AR
compares the risk of a default occurring on the SRR BEEHemRT
financial instrument as at the reporting date with B ER 2 BN
the risk of a default occurring on the financial A Hem T AEA
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In BRZRBRIELER - fEH
making this assessment, the Group considers both FHEEE - NEBRKEE
quantitative and qualitative information that is CRERBEBNEERE
reasonable and supportable, including historical MER - BEBATLRK
experience and forward-looking information that is mEBILBK AN A
available without undue cost or effort. 152 ATEEE R -
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

REMBHRRVERELER
TESTBERM)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EEEFHEHEE)

Financial instruments (Continued) TRITE(E)

Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) %Eﬁﬁ@?)ﬁi@(%)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) (iy EERKBEZIZNE)
In particular, the following information is taken into Bgms  UWTAFHE
account when assessing whether credit risk has BERREEEZEMME
increased significantly: EEER

an actual or expected significant deterioration T HE MR (R

in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HMEMKRERNEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FESHHE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 TESHERE)

Financial instruments (Continued) TRMTE(E)

Financial assets (Continued) THEE &)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TREEREE)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) (i) EERRKRBEZEMNE)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above Emawm DA AT 2 BRI
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk ]+ BEE AR EER
has increased significantly since initial recognition 30Kk AKBRRERE
when contractual payments are more than 30 days ERK B Vs R RE
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and EBM - BRIEAERES
supportable information that demonstrates BRBEEBBENENSES
otherwise. B -

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that BENYN  EeREER
the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased HEBHHEEREREE
significantly since initial recognition if the financial Bz - REBARRZE
asset is determined to have low credit risk at the MEEZEERRBVS
reporting date. A financial asset is determined to TR LAZR L B FE IR AN o
have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, firli ) & Bl & B /Y 32 4 R B
i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its BE i) ERARLRD
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term EORITHRETEmEE
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business WENREREREE &
conditions in the longer term may, but will not i) KRR OB R E B
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to AN E B AR - B —
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The E - OREERARITER
Group considers a financial asset to have low credit BEMEHNRERERT
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating e - BlizeBmEEW
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood EEREEERR -ES
definitions. MEERABRINDEE
ARABEEHERTERN
[RERR]  AEER
RZTHEEBEEER
Bz o
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit

risk before the amount becomes past due.
(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is

more appropriate.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESTBERE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 TESHERE)
Financial instruments (Continued) TRTE(E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE &)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) CREEREE
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (i) EERESHEE
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or EIHAFIRENSHE
more events of default that have a detrimental LEMEEMETARKE
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that EREAETMEE  Ze
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a BMEEAEERE - &5
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable BEFERBENEERRE
data about the following events: AT =42 ] BREE
(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or (@) BITASERAT
the borrower; TEREV A
(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past (b) E# - BINE# sk
due event; BHEY
() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic () EBEFRAZERA -
or contractual reasons relating to the BB B E AR
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted HoEBELREN
to the borrower a concession(s) that the RE - & TERA
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or —REFRATEE

BEES X

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower (d) B AF ] HE®E
will enter bankruptcy or other financial WMEXEMYBKE
reorganisation. 4 -
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

GREVEBRRNEREER
FESTBE &)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 TESHERE)

Financial instruments (Continued) TRMTE(E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE &)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) CREEREE
(iv)  Write-off policy (iv) HSHEREE

EREMBTHFIFR
B B B R R N 3 A R
EEKEFHIE - Pl E
HFHEETBRAED
EAWERF - 0B
BB SRS E28TY

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the

case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in

profit or loss.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the

weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.

3.
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B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESTBERE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 TESHERE)

Financial instruments (Continued) TRMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE &)
Derecognition of financial assets SIREREMEE

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of

direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual
obligation for the Group to deliver cash or other financial
assets or the Group has the sole discretion to defer
payment of distribution and redemption of principal

amount indefinitely are classified as equity instruments.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale,
issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity

instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2021 £ Z20214 12531 H 1FFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESTBERE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 TESHERE)

Financial instruments (Continued) LRI AE(E)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) cHEERER(E)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost WEEK Az SR B E

Financial liabilities including bank borrowings, amounts
due to related companies, trade and other payables and
advances drawn on bills discounted with recourse are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the

effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results

may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

4.

B et HIE & (A st T AR
AEZFTERR

PR AR E 2 & 5T BUR (50
H3E - ARAEEZFHRGEEB

I

HitRREREECEERAEBZ
FREEED A E - et RBR& - &
FhEFAREBBRRIDEERBEL
BEEMBEASHEZIEE - B
ERATBEA RN FLET -

BEt RAAARR D RSEE LT
EH - MBS G IBIERE
ETERI A - AIRZBREER
fE7] - BRI R E R A KK
KEARE - BIRMERT ROR R AR HERR

P& PR 5 B B A (B 2 )

NTAREARBAEERNERASES
ABRRBETCFELN - BEREH
BHREATEHATHEREATE
WEASFE  ETERES R
HIE (RT3 e

BOERAR AT 2021 £ 193



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mE

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

194

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Control over Shunying Pulp and Paper Company Limited
(“Shunying”)

Note 42(iii) describes that Shunying is considered as an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group although the Group has
only 49% ownership interest in Shunying, with the remainder is
legally owned by Mr. Lee Man Bun (a director of the Company)
and Ms. Roletta Lee Man Ching (a sister of Dr. Lee Man Chun
Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun) as to 36% and 15%,
respectively, and they are collectively referred to as the
“Cambodian Registered Owners” who entered into a series of
documents including, amongst others, shareholders’
agreements, loan agreements, share pledge agreements
(collectively referred to as the “VIE Documents”) with the
Group for setting up variable interest entity structure in respect
of Shunying (the “VIE Structure”).

Pursuant to the VIE Documents, Cambodian Registered Owners
agreed to, inter alia, maintain their shareholdings in and share
capital of Shunying; comply with the directions of the Group to
appoint and remove at any time any directors of Shunying; act
in accordance with the directions of the Group to exercise their
voting rights in the directors’ and shareholders’ meetings of
Shunying; and grant to the Group for all rights, interests,
benefits and powers attaching to their shareholdings in

Shunying.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4. BERESEHE R EFHT A

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Control over Shunying Pulp and Paper Company Limited
("Shunying”) (Continued)

The Cambodian legal adviser of the Group advised that the VIE
Structure does not violate the Cambodian laws and the Group
is allowed to enter into contracts and documentations to

safeguard its investment and obtain control over Shunying.

Based on the aforesaid arrangements under the VIE Documents
and Cambodian legal advice, the directors of the Company are
of the view that the control and enjoyment of economic
benefits of Shunying have been conferred to the Group and
Shunying is, therefore, accounted for as an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group and the financial statements of
Shunying are consolidated in the consolidated financial

statements of the Group.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses collective assessment to calculate ECL for the
trade receivables (excluding those backed by bills). In calculating
the ECL, the loss rates are estimated based on comparable
probability of default by internal credit ratings through
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns and
recovery rate quoted from international credit-rating agencies
and adjusted for forward-looking information. Such calculation
of ECL has involved subjective judgment and management
estimates. At every reporting dates, the loss rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. In addition, credit-impaired trade receivables
(excluding those backed by bills) and trade receivables backed
by bills are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables

are disclosed in notes 23(a) and 35(ii).

4.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2021 Annual Report

B et HIE & (A st T AR
AEZFTERRE)

A THABERE 2T EZERR(E)

FEYE SR IEREERBEE
AEEREBYEE ZEFFARERFN
A ERYPEEER - Rt EEH
EEBRE - BREREABES
AR AT L REAMEETEER
MALLEEOMETBESAER
DEERA REEXR (BERERF
MEBISIR) 2 NRER AETT
D ARAEEERERENS
bttt ERMEEERSRE
BHELERENMGE  RE—R
SHH - eBXRFMEEBEREEERE
RIEMEEROEL - lih - FER
BEZRBEZER(TEEBEREE
RE)RARBREMZBIKE 55K
SRERFFHEREERSE -

EHEEEEREBY A NE/LA
EHR - - ARAREEBRBERAE
B B W B 5 IR R B B BT RE23(a)
K 35(ii) 1 5



B B R AR M A ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Recognition of deferred tax

As at 31 December 2021, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised on tax losses of approximately HK$161,000,000
(2020: HK$192,000,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the expectation for future profit streams changes, a
recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be
recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a

recognition takes place.

As at 31 December 2021, no further deferred tax liabilities have
been recognised on the undistributed profits of certain group
companies in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") after
2008 as the Group has planned to retain those profits in the
respective entities for their daily operations and future
developments since distribution of profits for the year ended
31 December 2018 by certain PRC subsidiaries. In case there is
a change in such plan, additional tax liabilities will arise, which
will be recognised in the profit or loss for the period in which
the management intends to declare such profits in the
foreseeable future or the Group’s future development plan is
amended, whichever is earlier. Details of the above

unrecognised accumulated profits are set out in note 30.

4.
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5.

198

REVENUE

(i)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers

Types of goods
EmER

Segments

7 &8

WA

(i) REFEFAENHWBADH

2021
HK$"000
FTERx

Sales of packaging paper
(including linerboard and
corrugating medium)

HEBRR
(BIEF TSR R FAS T AR)

Sales of tissue paper

HERTEMR

Sales of pulp

$HE AR LR

Packaging paper
BEM

Tissue paper
B

Pulp

AR

27,552,928

4,730,160

228,329

32,511,417

Timing of revenue recognition
WA TERE 2 B

A point in time

—{IERF Pl B

32,511,417
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fan

5.

B Y HHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

REVENUE (conminueD)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers

The Group sells packaging paper, tissue paper and pulp
directly to customers.

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been delivered
to the specific location (delivery) as agreed in the sales
contracts. Transportation and handling activities that
occur before customers obtain control are considered as
fulfilment activities. Following delivery, the customer has
full discretion over the manner of distribution and price
to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and
loss in relation to the goods. The normal credit term is 45

to 90 days upon delivery.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8

Operating Segments, based on information reported to the

Company's executive directors, being the chief operating

decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purposes of resource

allocation and assessment of segment performance, which

focuses on types of goods delivered. The Group’s operating

and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

are as follows:

Packaging paper — Kraft linerboard, test linerboard,

coated duplex board, white top linerboard and high
strength corrugating medium;

Tissue paper; and

Pulp.

5.

WA (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER (&)
Segment revenues and results DEM AR X &
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results LT AEREERARESHE D 2
by operating and reportable segments: REBWRAREEDT -
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZE2021F12A310LLFE

Packaging Tissue Segment
paper paper Pulp total  Eliminations Consolidated
BEE HER US4 ABas Esf g8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THR TR TER THR THER THER

REVENUE KA
External sales HoMEE 27,552,928 4,730,160 228329 32,511,417 — 351417
Inter-segment sales PEZEEE — - 1,067,611 1,067,611 (1,067,611) -
27,552,928 4,730,160 1,295940 33,579,028  (1,067,611) 32,511,417
SEGMENT PROFIT 2HEH 3,481,329 334,130 7516 3,822,975 3,822,975

Net loss from fair value TESRIEA

changes of derivative DRBEHIER

financial instruments (35)
Unallocated income KB WA 99,334
Unallocated expensesand K282 FX R

net exchange losses ERFER (51427)
Share of result of EihEEhE

ajoint venture %5 (1.175)
Finance costs B (75,389)
Profit before tax BRI AN 3,794,283
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER (&)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEBUW AR ELE ()
For the year ended 31 December 2020 B ZE2020F12831HLFE
Packaging Tissue Segment
paper paper Pulp total  Eliminations Consolidated
BEK B AE HBEE HH ga

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000
TET TRET TRT TRL TBT TET

REVENUE O
External sales “opEE 21,517,453 4,316,831 33,632 25,867,966 — 25,867,966
Inter-segment sales Nl MEE — — 795,202 795,202 (795,202) —
21,517,453 4,316,831 828,834 26,663,168 (795,202) 25,867,966
SEGMENT PROFIT IHEF 4,166,032 513,188 3,006 4,682,226 — 4,682,226

Net gain from fair value {74 S BT A

changes of derivative DRhEE

finandial instruments Fieas 4,851
Unallocated income AOBZBA 149,128
Unallocated expenses and KDz H L K&

net exchange losses [ = (335,444)
Share of result of ElEaErE

ajoint venture E5 (8,772)
Finance costs BBAA (170,517)
Profit before tax B3 A 4,321,472
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the D2 & ET IR B 3 AT At
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. ZAREESFHHRE R 2 HAEF
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment EXDEFTHMAR - My &SR
without allocation of net (loss) gain from fair value changes of RETESRMITARNRBEZEF(F
derivative financial instruments, rental income, interest income, BIE - WA - FERA - E
net exchange losses, share of result of a joint venture, finance HEEE REBheadhEEE B
costs and other unallocated administrative expenses. This is the BRAREMASBEITHRER it
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource DREZERERREERERDE
allocation and performance assessment. MERBRFEMEFHRZAEFE o
Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates. D2 EEE NIRRT HISERE

g o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

202

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuep)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

by reportable segments:

As at 31 December 2021
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

Consolidated total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

R2021512A831A
DEEE
ARz RE

Dkt
=

$HoWp
$ oo
w m
N

3
o
&
m
i

Packaging
paper
HK$°000
THERT

40,410,980

1,609,974

DEBE R ()
THEERAE

AT RBEAIREDHBE D 2 AKHE
BERBEDN

Tissue
paper Pulp Consolidated
BER RE =a
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THERT TERT TERT
8,240,520

1,893,530 50,545,030

1,908,813

52,453,843

186,328 1,828,613

17,222,232

19,050,845

Packaging Tissue

paper paper Pulp  Consolidated
[ BHEK N N
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET

As at 31 December 2020 ®2020%12831H
Segment assets DEWEE 35,988,909 7,802,914 1,823,747 45,615,570
Unallocated assets RANECEE 1,184,921
Consolidated total assets AR EE 46,800,491
Segment liabilities DEEE 1,217,394 416,833 19,866 1,654,093
Unallocated liabilities Koz aiE 14,395,983
Consolidated total liabilities meraE 16,050,076
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER (&)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) DHMEEREE(E)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and REZDBRREERSHBEIBEE
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated R MEEEASE TEE (R
to operating segments other than bank balances and cash, and TEBRRRESBRIN ARAEBEY
all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than tax D TEESM(EMNTIE - RITE
payable, bank borrowings, advances drawn on bills discounted B WEE#IEBRUBRBEMNR
with recourse, deferred tax liabilities, construction fee payables, RIEMIEEE BN ITE - HAh
other payables and accruals. FETRRIB R FEFT B AR o
Other segment information Hith 5 ZBE H

Packaging Tissue
paper paper Pulp Consolidated
BHEEK BEE ¥ o)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
For the year ended BHZ2021%
31 December 2021 128318 LEE
Amounts included in the HESBEZEY
measure of segment profit DHEERLE
or loss or segment assets: AT :
Interest in a joint venture REENE 7R 90,858 90,858
Addition to non-current assets 3 8 & E 15 0
(note) (BF=E) 2,960,197 403,664 3,405,259
Depreciation of property, mE - BER
plant and equipment BlEp s
and right-of-use assets BENE 1,230,849 227,199 67,455 1,525,503
Loss on disposal of property,  HEWME - BiE &
plant and equipment HiEZER 25,929 52,236 176 78,341
Impairment losses on trade Y E SRR E
receivables (excluding (TREBREE
those backed by bills), &) (ke &)
net of reversal (25,490) 41,448 15,834
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER (&)
Other segment information (Continued) Hithy BER (£F)
Packaging Tissue
paper paper Pulp  Consolidated
BEK BHER RAZ Ne)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
For the year ended HZ2020F
31 December 2020 12A31BLEE
Amounts included in the SHENHERER
measure of segment profit DHEEBRE
or loss or segment assets: AT &% :
Interest in a joint venture REENEZER 87,771 — — 87,771
Addition to non-current assets 37 84 E 18 0
(note) (M) 3,086,899 330,366 47,773 3,465,038
Depreciation of property, ESN =5
plant and equipment R R AR
and right-of-use assets BEWE 1,087,420 186,001 69,009 1,342,430
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BER
plant and equipment R EE 4,738 272 — 5,010
Impairment losses on trade FEWE 5 R 5B E
receivables (excluding (TBEREEERE
those backed by bills), #E)(FNRER)
net of reversal (59,961) — — (59,961)
Note: Amounts included additions to property, plant and equipment, right-of- Mz SEeEFLEYE BERSE A
use assets and deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and BEELRBEVE BEMEKETET
equipment. & o
No other amounts are regularly provided to the CODM but not BMEEAMSB NI THRETFEEL
included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment BREEMETERFEET =0 BB
assets. HHDHEENEEF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER (&)
Revenue from major products REFTEEMHBA
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its LNTAREEREFEZEERHEA
major products: AT

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET

Packaging paper (including linerboard /8 5% 4% (/6 3% 4= % 4K [
and corrugating medium) TASAR) 27,552,928 21,517,453
Tissue paper M 4,730,160 4,316,881

Pulp AR 228,329 33,632

32,511,417 25,867,966

Geographical information 458 K

Approximately 92% (2020: approximately 98%) of the Group's AEBZWALI2% (20204 : 4
revenue were derived from external customers in the PRC. The 98% )R EFEINBES - AEEF
remaining of the Group's revenue were mainly derived from BBAETEREFRAE RBED
external customers in Malaysia and Vietnam. HNERE P o

Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding AEEFRBEE(TEEERE
financial assets) is presented based on the geographical E)BERDZREEFNEHRY) -

location of the assets.

Non-current assets
FRBEE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT TET

The PRC other than Hong Kong and R - B KR PRI

Macau 28,348,644 27,349,921
Malaysia S2RF S 5,774,858 4,713,285
Vietnam Wrg 2,413,625 2,393,838
Hong Kong, Macau and others E8 B LEHM 914,017 269,505

37,451,144 34,726,549
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continvED) 6. DEPER (&)
Information about major customers FRIEREFZER
None of the Group's customers contributed over 10% of the AE S PR ERATERAEERR
Group’s total revenue for the current and prior reporting PEAEEBUAEIRI0% °
period.
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HftA
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THET
Value added tax and other tax refund IBERGR R R E AR 544,666 435,118
Income from supply of steam and HEZERLENFRA
electricity, net 42,842 62,083
Income from wharf cargo handling, net 4% & 7% 58 &5 & )% g A 37,901 21,990
Interest income from banks RITH B WA 30,726 34,506
Others H A 172,321 269,988
828,456 823,685
8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TRADE 8. EWEZRIREREE
RECEIVABLES, NET OF REVERSAL FR B3 F 58
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net impairment losses (reversal of BEBEFEORERERE)
impairment losses) recognised on: 7
— Trade receivables (excluding those —EWE G ER
backed by bills) (TEEBEEEERE) (59,961)
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 35(ii). BB R R IE B KT FE35() °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 9. HiFWR=mKEE
2021 2020
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Net foreign exchange losses ERFEE (14,543) (249,315)
Net (loss) gain from fair value changes of $T4 ¢ &b T B A B4 &)
derivative financial instruments F (BB W (35) 4,851
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE  mERDREY
plant and equipment, net FEE (78,341) (5,010)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HBAR WS 21,264 —
(71,655) (249,474)
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BARE R AR
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest expense on lease liabilities (note 38) & & &5 5 & B (Ki:138) 3,192 2,836
Interest on bank borrowings and advances $R1TfE & R KB R 2 ZiEakL
drawn on bills discounted with recourse RIBAT FF B 189,054 311,545
Less: amounts capitalised to property, plant JF % : 1% - BERZRHEZ A
and equipment PN e (116,857) (143,864)
75,389 170,517
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose from the FRZERCEERRTIR —RE
general borrowings and are calculated by applying capitalisation BERES TWUNEEKEERIZ
rates ranging from 1.17% to 1.66% (2020: ranging from BEARLFEMNEBHI117%E1.66%
1.92% to 3.78%) per annum to expenditures on qualifying (20204 : H11.92% £3.78% ) &f
assets. & o

Ea
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. MEHZH

208

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Income tax recognised in profit or loss: RERANERZFEH
Current tax NERFRIE
—The PRC EIT —HhEBEMREH 359,107 564,543
— PRC withholding tax on dividend — DR E 2 PRI
distribution 30,694 201,225
— Other jurisdictions —EHfthr AR 78,618 —
468,419 765,768
Over provision in previous years RFBEEE
—The PRC EIT —HRBEEEMRFH (8,257) (1,967)
Deferred tax (note 30) RIERIE (M13530)
— Charge (credit) to profit or loss —FTABA)ER 82,361 (94,841)
Total income tax recognised in profit or loss 71825 N FER 2 48 FI 1574 542,523 668,960

The Group's profit is subject to taxation from the place of its
operations where its profit is generated and is calculated at the
rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The PRC

The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to corporate
income tax at the rate of 25% (2020: 25%) except that six
(2020: six) of these subsidiaries are entitled to preferential rate
of 15% (2020: 15%) for the Group's financial year ended 31
December 2021.

Hong Kong

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated

assessable profit for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTinuED) 1. MEHZE &)
Macau A

During the year, Macau Complementary Tax are calculated at
12% on the estimated assessable profits. For year ended 31
December 2020, the Macau subsidiaries incorporated under
Decree-Law no. 58/99/M are exempted from Macau
complementary tax (Macau income tax) as long as they comply
with the relevant regulations and do not sell their products to a

Macau resident.

Vietnam

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam Corporate
Income Tax at a rate of 10% during the year ended 31
December 2021. They are entitled to a corporate income tax
exemption for four years from the first profit-making year and
a reduction of 50% for the following nine years. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Vietnam subsidiaries are
entitled a reduction of 50% of Vietnam Corporate Income Tax
rate of 10%. No provision for Vietnam Corporate Income Tax
has been made for year ended 31 December 2020 as the

Vietnam subsidiaries entitled tax exemption for that year.

Malaysia

The Malaysia subsidiaries are subjected to Malaysia Corporate
Income Tax at a rate of 24% during the year ended 31
December 2021. No provision for Malaysia Corporate Income
Tax has been made for year ended 31 December 2020 as the
Malaysia subsidiaries did not have assessable profits subject to

Malaysia Corporate Income Tax during that year.

Other jurisdictions

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

FR BB ABIRGFTERBTR
FILA12%EFE - #H £20206F 12 A
B1ALEFE - BFNBARIRES
58/99/MSEE S M A L - HER
REARPFIHAB CRPIAER) -
AR AHBETHBERBETSEM
BEATERHEEER -

4]

REZE2021F12A31BILEFE - @
M B RRIBERI0O%H REMEE
TEMSEN EZEEEEEAR
MEERTUFERRDEMGSH
MBEBNES0% R E - 8220214
12A3MBIEFE  WERBEAR =
B10%BRAEEMSHBENS0%
B c  HRBENBARRERE
2020F 12 A31H L FEZH K
% MY EAZFETROBLE
FISHiR M o

BRA DR

BRAEMNB AR REZE20215F12
A3 B IEFEER24% T R 5N S
REAEREMSER - BRBRA R
BB AR RE Z2020F12 8318 1k
FEYESKADLCEMBHZE
ABBF - WA EABZFETRS
RPGIR D FEFTIS R -

HiREZEBE

HiaABE®EEEMHEIZNA
MARZEBRER CHEFE -
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M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTinueD) Iy R )
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit FARBHLERESRAEERE
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and fib 2 E U R FBVBR T AT B AL AR 0
other comprehensive income as follows: ™

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Profit before tax % T B & F 3,794,283 4,321,472
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% FERRE25% 2 Bk
(2020: 25%) (note) (2020%F : 25%) (Fff&E) 948,571 1,080,368
Tax effect of share of loss of a joint venture E{F AL EBENHTETE 294 2,193
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AT BB E
for tax purpose 53,153 209,756
Tax effect of income not taxable BERBHBANT B2
for tax purpose (12,733) (25,338)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AIERARMEEENRETE 241 975
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses @ AR ERA
previously not recognised MG EED *FMW SR B (13,500)
Effect of tax exemption granted to R E R
Macau and Vietnam subsidiaries ZE%G%%Z?RE’J%’E (144,587)
Effect of concessionary rates granted to FEEA ﬁﬁ%@ =
the PRC subsidiaries MEM 2 (319,690) (452,440)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries — # B fth Bl A R 4 E Y
operating in other jurisdictions MEARIMTRBENZE (105,556) —
Over provision in previous years BT FEBRERE (8,257) (1,967)
Tax charge for the year FRBBRZ 542,523 668,960
Note: This represents the domestic income tax rate in the jurisdiction where a s : WRERARBRBAM D RHLEMEZ
substantial portion of the Group's operation is based. RDERER 2 BHPTISTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. FE&A

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$°000
FTEx TR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after & [Z ZFA&&H K (T A) ¢
charging (crediting):

Directors’ emoluments (note 13) EEME (FIFE13) 47,050 41,725
Staff salaries and other benefits, BTIHE MHEAMBAH -

excluding those of directors TEIEES 1,584,427 1,192,593
Contributions to retirement benefit RIKEFFEIHE

schemes, excluding those of directors TREESE(ME3)

(note 31) 136,674 68,596
Total employee benefit expense BEERAFEX 5 1,768,151 1,302,914
Capitalised in inventories EFEAXR (1,235,846) (877,613)

532,305 425,301
Auditors’ remuneration 1% ELAD Bl &

— Audit services — I BR 7 9,839 9,119

- Non-audit services —IEZEUR T 1,812 1,931
Cost of inventories recognised as expense  F& K AN FER A 26,808,481 20,120,028
Depreciation of property, W BEREHBINE

plant and equipment (note 17) (FFEE17) 1,486,381 1,307,308
Depreciation of investment properties TEEITE (MIFE19)

(note 19) 24,818 22,646
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 18) f& A& EITE (M:£18) 39,122 35,122
Total depreciation PEEE 1,550,321 1,365,076
Capitalised in inventories EfFEAXR (1,385,070) (1,193,627)

165,251 171,449
Gross rental income from wEME 2B BIRA

investment properties (34,833) (30,744)

Less: direct operating expenses incurred for J& : —FERNEAR LU AR
investment properties that generated BYEZEELERY
rental income during the year 378 366

(34,455) (30,378)
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

13. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 13. EERERIHITEMS
OFFICER'S EMOLUMENTS

FREFLERATENHESRE
EALEMRR R RBERGIRELT

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and

Companies Ordinance, were as follows:

Other emoluments
Hinif <

Contributions

Salaries to retirement

and other benefit
benefits schemes
Fees ek RIREA Total
He Hit gl HEE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TRz TR FET
2021 2021
Executive directors HITEE
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond FXHEEL 18,000 18,000
Mr. Lee Man Bun FREE
(Chief Executive Officer) (BEHTE) 16,227 18,000
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FRBEE 5,000 5,000
Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung (note i) B A (T3 1,898 2,250
Mr. Yip Heong Kan (note ii) Emg s (i) 1,648 2,000
Non-executive director FHITEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong BERIHER
Independent non-executive directors B IHHITEE
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRRAE
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviest
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BEK L E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

13. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 13. EEREREITEME &)

OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (conTinuED)

Other emoluments
HEinfi <
Contributions
Salaries  to retirement
and other benefit
benefits schemes
Fees &R RIREF Total
e HHEH BE SN )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET FTET FTHET FTABL
2020 2020F
Executive directors HITEE
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond ENEEL 17,625 - - 17,625
Mr. Lee Man Bun FXWTE
(Chief Executive Officer) (BE#HTE) 14,963 2,662 - 17,625
Mr. Li King Wai Ross TRBRE 4,282 393 - 4,675
Non-executive director IHTEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong BRI 450 - - 450
Independent non-executive directors B HEHTEE
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony THETE 450 - - 450
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies’t £ 450 - - 450
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David B 450 - - 450
38,670 3,055 - 41,725
notes: BisE -
0} Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung was appointed as an executive director of the () FHEREER2021F7TATVREZER
Company on 1 July 2021. AARRITES -
(ii) Mr. Yip Heong Kan was appointed as an executive director of the (i) HERBHEENR2021F7A1BEZTA

Company on 1 July 2021.

KRRMITES -
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Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

13.

214

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (conTinuED)

The executive directors’, non-executive director’'s and
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group and

for their services as directors of the Company respectively.

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond is also the Chairman of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those

for services rendered by him as the Chairman of the Company.

Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung was the deputy general manager of
the Group before the appointment as an executive director of
the Company on 1 July 2021. Before appointment as an
executive director of the Company, his salaries rendered are

included in staff salaries.

Mr. Yip Heong Kan was also the general manager of the Group
before the appointment as an executive director of the
Company on 1 July 2021. Before appointment as an executive
director of the Company, his salaries rendered are included in

staff salaries.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office. No directors waived any

emoluments during these periods.
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FRHITES FRTEFRBYL
FRTEEZHMSTIESES T 1M
DRARBARBRAEEEEETBHR
ERARRBEZNREZME -

FXRBEARASARRAERE - Lt
BEZMeBREFEREFMER
B IR 2 B o

R AR2021F7 1R ER T
RARNRNTESNAREEE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 14, AfuGEME AL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the rEBEEaMEzRAMAL - He
Group, four (2020: three) were directors of the Company PUAZ(20204F « =) RARRIESE
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 13. MEMSERAMFEI13EE - A&
The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid individuals, aHeAB(BIEEZEER) ZATHE
including directors, were as follows: UM

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FAT

Salaries and other benefits FokEMmEN 46,550 44,975
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 3R /K& | 5+ 214t 2k 18 18

46,568 44,993

The emoluments were within the following bands: e N F 5 AR :

2021 2020

No. of No. of
employee employee
BT A BT A%

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,00178 7 %2,500,000/8 7T = 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 7£%3,000,000/% 7T 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,0017&7T%5,000,000/8 7T 1
HK$17,500,001 to HK$18,000,000 17,500,001/ 7T 218,000,000/ 7T 2

5
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

15. DIVIDENDS/DISTRIBUTION TO PERPETUAL 15. RE KEBEEXRFH 20K
CAPITAL SECURITIES
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Dividends recognised as distribution to REDIKT LK
ordinary shareholders: BREZRE
Final dividend of HK$0.18 in respect HZE2020F12A31HILEFE
of the year ended 31 December 2020 Z AR BT T mAR
(2020: final dividend of HK$0.13 in 0.188 7L (20204 : & ZE
respect of the year ended 201912 A3MHILEFEZ
31 December 2019) per ordinary share RERNE B mA
0.13/7T) 782,396 565,063
Interim dividend of HK$0.15 in respect HE2021F12A31HILEFE
of the year ended 31 December 2021 ZHER BT @A
(2020: interim dividend of HK$0.12 in 0.15%8 (20205 : &#ZE
respect of the year ended 2020F 12 A3MHILEFEZ
31 December 2020) per ordinary share RHIR B m AR
0.12/7T) 651,996 521,598

1,434,392 1,086,661
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=

BB AR MY RE (AR)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

15.

16.

DIVIDENDS/DISTRIBUTION TO PERPETUAL
CAPITAL SECURITIES (conTinuED)

A final dividend of HK$0.11 per ordinary share in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: final dividend of
HK$0.18 per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31
December 2020) has been proposed by the directors of the
Company and is subject to approval by shareholders at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

In addition, the Company has made a distribution on perpetual
capital securities of HK$128,409,000 (2020: HK$128,707,000)
to the securities holders during the year ended 31 December
2021.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the earnings per share is based on the profit
for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$3,122,838,000 (2020: HK$3,523,823,000), ordinary
shareholders for the year, and weighted average number of
4,345,151,304 (2020: 4,350,762,262) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

No diluted earnings per share in both years was presented as
there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during
both years.

15.

16.

2

(%)

RFEFH 2Dk

.
KB

EEEHRIREHEHZ2021F12A31H
IEFERAREFSERRONBT
(20204 : H =2020F12A318 1t
FERHAKRES L @MAR0.18BT) -
WEFRETERERIANSIE -

A - REE2021F 12 A31 B E
B ARRAIPKBEEAREFFHIED
43 K 128,409,000 7% 7T (2020 F -
128,707,000 7C) TESFFEA A °

BRER

BRAEMDIEARREE AEER
FEFF3,122,838,000/8 7T (2020
4 :3,523,823,00087T) « KEE
LR R R F RS ETTIEER N
7 ¥ 15 £ 4,345,151,304 B (2020
4 :4,350,762,2620%) BEETE -

B A PR E A R S | R TT 8 2 B
Bl AT E2SRETR
Rl o
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. 1% - BERZ®E
Plant,
Freehold machinery,
lands and furniture,
owned fixture and
properties Leasehold Motor  equipment
KAER Computer improvements vehicles M #%8 Construction
TR system HENE andyacht %% EE  inprogress Total
FEN%E BERZR %8 RERER RERRE HEIR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FhT FHT FHET FET
cost 223
At 1 January 2020 2020614318 7,418,240 62,849 536,823 130,226 25,199,823 4,276,920 37,624,881
Exchange realignment EXEHAL 280,703 2,810 25,114 3,637 1,509,907 159,332 1,981,503
Additions WNE 13,745 501 1,102 14,538 55,794 3,425,451 3,511,131
Transfers 23S 116,552 520 7,100 4,661 548,652 (677,485) -
Transfer to investment BRERENE
properties (Note 19) (BIzE19) - - - - - (6,858) (6,858)
Disposalswritten off e /e (876) - B) (2,384) (17,825) (239) 21327)
At 31 December 2020 202046128318 7,828,364 66,680 570,136 150,678 27,296,351 7177121 43,089,330
Exchange realignment EREHES 348,408 3,830 21,714 9,271 852,737 (94,444) 1,147,516
Additions NE 126,863 1,831 1,932 644 124,466 2,837,320 3,093,056
Transfers BE 284914 18,999 5,780 18,756 1,670,918 (1,999,367) -
Transfer to investment BRERANE
properties (Note 19) (BzE19) - - - - - (6,597) (6,597)
Disposals/written off HE /MR (75) - 23) (11,050) (164,224) (52,040) (227.412)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HRBAR
(Note 43) (GEZE)) (30,477) - - - (1,893) (24,675) (57,045)
At 31 December 2021 2021124318 8,557,997 91,340 605,539 168,299 29,778,355 7,837,318 47,038,848
DEPRECIATION wE
At 1 January 2020 #202061A18 2,326,534 53,926 299,604 63,998 6,704,091 - 9,448,153
Exchange realignment EREHES 111,843 1,487 14,863 2,289 324,329 - 454,811
Provided for the year FREE 343,420 4,742 27,002 11,064 921,080 - 1,307,308
Eliminated on disposals/ e/ MRS
written off (788) - - (1,962) (9,032) - (11,782)
At 31 December 2020 20206128318 2,781,009 60,155 341,469 75,389 7,940,468 - 11,198,490
Exchange realignment ERENAE 132,743 2,253 16,777 (9,746) 407,147 - 549,174
Provided for the year FRRE 368,372 6,214 28,394 12,913 1,070,488 - 1,486,381
Eliminated on disposals/ HE /MRS
written off (26) - ) (8,913) (78,270) - (87,216)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HRBAR
(Note 43) (Fit7E43) (11,772) - - - (1,516) - (13,288)
At 31 December 2021 2021124318 3,270,326 68,622 386,633 69,643 9,338,317 - 13,133,541
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2021 #202146128318 5,287,671 22,718 218,906 98,656 20,440,038 7,837,318 33,905,307
At 31 December 2020 202046128318 5,047,355 6,525 228,667 75,289 19,355,883 7177121 31,890,840
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. 3% - BE K& #)

(CONTINUED)

notes: BT

(i) The above owned properties of the Group represent owned properties on (i) bl AN EE R Y TR B ERAE
land under medium-term lease in the PRC. Bt F2EAEME -

(ii) Certain owned properties of the Group are erected on land in the PRC (i) AEBEETHBEVERRNDART
with respect to which the Group has not been granted formal title of SEEAEAEZPBE LM E o »
ownership. At 31 December 2021, the carrying value of such owned 20215 12A31H  ZEREVEZER
properties was HK$993,623,000 (2020: HK$1,303,495,000). In the H 18 4 993,623,000/ 7T (2020 4 :
opinion of directors, the absence of formal title to these owned properties 1,303,495,0008 L) - EBER /R
does not impair the value of the relevant owned properties to the Group ZEREMELABARITEREE
as the Group has paid substantially the full purchase consideration of EREFAENXER  ERAEAKEDX
these land use rights and the probability of being evicted on the ground RNABOBEZS LibEAEIRER
of an absence of formal title is remote. The directors of the Company also LA R ik TE =4 75 48 0 38 6 1 5 B0 3 Y
believe that formal title of these owned properties will be granted to the e RMTEM - ERNHEEETAN
Group in due course. REBGERTRZERAEMEZEXE

BiE o

@iy~ Certain portions of the owned properties have been leased to a related (i) HAEVEERETIS>CBFUOM T
party as disclosed in note 41 and independent third parties. These owned i —BEALRBIE=7 - ANE
properties were not reclassified as investment properties as the leased EXPWMTIRE  ZEREWEALRD
portions are insignificant. BRIREWME -

(iv)  Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and (iv)  BokAZERIMRAEZIEIN W% -
equipment other than freehold lands and construction in progress over W= K Rt R AR RISREER
their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated FRTEET AT A LA B AR SHIR I B LA
residual values, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per SHRAS - FEMNT ¢
annum:

Owned properties 20 to 50 years BEME 20E504F

Computer system 10% B R 10%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of HEWMEEE TEE G /Y8 AR

the lease, or 20 years H20F R

Motor vehicles and yacht 5% -20% AE R 5%%20%

Plant, machinery, furniture, fixture 313% — 20% BRE - HES R 3% ZE20%
and equipment EEFKERZHE
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021 M2021E12H831H

Carrying amount REE

As at 31 December 2020 M2020E12H831H

Carrying amount REE

For the year ended B E2021F12A31H
31 December 2021 LLFE

Depreciation charge (note 12) T & &M (Ki:X12)

For the year ended B £2020F12H31H8
31 December 2020 EFEE
Depreciation charge (note 12) & & A (Miz£12)

18. EREEE

Leasehold Leased
lands properties
HELH HEWE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET

1,052,155 70,067

1,047,502 73,212

21,873 13,249

Total
att
HK$'000
FHERT

1,122,222

1,120,714

35,122

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31HLLEE

2021
HK$"000
TERx

Total expense relating to short-term leases 45 HATHE & A& &t

33,549

Total cash outflows for leases HEZREREA 69,876

Additions to right-of-use assets 2 A& EE N

26,118
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (conTinuED) 18. ERBEEE (&)

For both years, the Group entered into leases for certain of its
staff quarters and office premises. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 1 year to 19 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the

period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where
its manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office
buildings. The Group is the registered owner of these property
interests, including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire these property
interests.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all
leasehold lands except for leasehold lands with carrying
amount of HK$13,794,000 (2020: HK$13,560,000) in which

the Group is in the process of obtaining.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff
quarters. As at 31 December 2021, the portfolio of these
outstanding short-term leases is similar to the portfolio during
the year ended 31 December 2021 with the corresponding
short-term lease expense disclosed above.

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$12,968,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets in respect of leased properties
amounting to HK$12,968,000 during the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: lease liabilities of HK$29,234,000 are
recognised with related right-of-use assets in respect of leased
properties amounting to HK$29,234,000).

RREFE  AEBERETFELIR
ERMAEYMETLEE - HES
KB EMENNFE19FFZ - HE
MER T BB HEEY - WBEEE
B B R R G o REEEEE
REHE AR EGHERR F AR - A&
EEAGHZEBRREENIIES
4 7 HAR -

go s AEBHAEBEETELE
REMEZIERBTFRERLE
F o AEENLFYEEDE (BIEE
MEELH) 2ERFAA - BAL
EWEERRIEL —RMEBENK -

TEBEMEMEHRE L2
T ERET  BRTEEMEA
13,794,000 & 7t ( 2020 &
13,560,000 T) < HE Tt K&
B EAEREEGEF °

AEBERBEIBE T L EBA
o R2021F 128318 WERT
ERMASEA I EXATIEE
HE2021F12A31BIEFEHES
HEEERZMEE -

o - REE2021F12 8318 1
FENEBEEMEZFEREEE
12,968,000 8 Tt E v HMEBE
12,968,000/ 7L (20204 : B E
W2 FREEE29,234,000%8 T
B HEAE29,234,0008 T2
WHER)EWER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

18.

19.

222

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (conTiNUED)
Restrictions or covenants on leases

As at 31 December 2021, lease liabilities of HK$67,042,000 are
recognised with related right-of-use assets in respect of leased
properties amounting to HK$70,067,000 (2020: lease liabilities
of HK$73,091,000 are recognised with related right-of-use
assets in respect of leased properties amounting to
HK$73,212,000). The lease agreements for leased properties
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests
in the leased properties that are held by the lessors. Leased

properties may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out commercial and industrial properties
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 1 to 10 years, with unilateral
rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by lessees
only. Majority of the lease contracts contain annual lease

payment that are fixed over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease
contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and lessee’s

option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.
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19.

EHEEE (&)
HERHREZY

20215128318 - BHEEWEY
FR#EEET0,067,0008 TERBE 2
FEBE67,042,000 T WHER
(2020 : HAEMEZFREE
E73,212,0008tE@B o HERBE
73,091,000/ L E HHER) - BRiE
HEDN HEVEZHERET
BB LAARBRBCHEEERNE
MRE HEEETARERE
HIRA® -

REWM=

AEEREBELEHERE ANHEL
HEEERIXYE HEBENH
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTINUED)

19. BEWE (&)

HK$'000
FHET
CoST R
At 1 January 2020 7202061 81H 642,982
Transfer from property, plant and equipment ~ EEHBEY ¥ - HKE K BE
(note 17) (PBFEE17) 6,858
Additions NE 1,834
Exchange realignment [EHEHHEA 29,899
At 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H 681,573
Transfer from property, plant and equipment ~ ERE B WM - BE RRE
(note 17) (PBFEE17) 6,597
Additions NE 189
Exchange realignment ENEFHEE 31,648
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12H31H 720,007
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2020 720201 A81H 58,646
Provided for the year FARE 22,646
Exchange realignment ENHEHHEE 3,718
At 31 December 2020 7202041283108 85,010
Provided for the year FNEE 24,818
Exchange realignment fEHBEMAES 4,588
At 31 December 2021 72021512 H318 114,416
CARRYING VALUE AR E B
At 31 December 2021 M2021%F12A31H 605,591
At 31 December 2020 720204128318 596,563
During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain property, REZE20215F12A31HIEFE -
plant and equipment situated in PRC with carrying amounts of HREREBCHNEMERE KE
HK$6,597,000 (2020: HK $6,858,000) was transferred to {8 /3 #6,597,00078 7T (2020 % :
investment properties upon completion as the management 6,858,000 7)) 2 A TRNFEZ
had changed the use of the properties. MHE BERZXBCEBTREY

%o
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)

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

19.

224

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTinuED)

The fair value of the Group’s commercial properties at 31
December 2021 was HK$152,372,000 (31 December 2020:
HK$145,307,000). The fair value of the commercial properties
has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by EE S
MEME T EETEBR AR (2020: EERFIFEHME T
BEFEAMRAR), an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group using the market
comparable approach, with reference to recent market prices
for similar properties in similar locations and conditions, where

appropriate.

The fair value of the Group's industrial properties at 31
December 2021 was HK$500,505,000 (31 December 2020:
HK$494,481,000). The fair value of the industrial properties
has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by EE &S
MEME T EETEBR AR (2020: EERFIFEME T
BEEAMRAR]), an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group using the income
capitalisation approach by reference to the rentals of all lettable
properties and capitalisation rate observed by the valuer for the
similar properties in the locality and adjusted based on the
valuer’s knowledge of the factors specific to the respective

properties.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties with
the fair value hierarchy being level 3, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use.

All of the Group's investment properties are located in the PRC.

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-

line basis at the following rates per annum:

Land and buildings 20-50 years
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AEERNEEMER2021F12 A
31BZAREA152,372,000% T
(2020412 A31H : 145,307,000
BIT) o FEME AR EREER
CSEEBEZBUAEREEME
MEEMMNEHE THEEFES
PRAAE (20204F : EERFIE 1 E

THEEFEERAR)  EHHIHHT
BEAZ2ERREMENIULE &

AR (M58 PR ) 2 3T B T 35 (B AR 1F
ZfEESH -

AEERITEMER2021F12 A
318 272 # 8 /A500,505,000% 7T
(2020412 A31H : 494,481,000
BIT) c TEWMEZ AR BREBER
CEEERECBUAEREEMBE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

20. DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF 20. BEVX - BERZBEHRA
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT HE
The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the Il e—rAEEBRTHEERE
acquisition of property, plant and equipment for new MEBENYE BERKBHE
production facilities. The related commitments for acquisition ®oBEVE BELRHBNEH
of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in note 37. AEPERMIEE37HEE -

21. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE/LOAN TO A 2. FELERR RELEE

JOINT VENTURE =
2021 2020
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
Cost of an unlisted investment in joint  R& &% 7K EHIRERAK
venture (note i) (BT 98,343 98,343
Exchange realignment ERENAS 2,462 (1,800)
Share of loss and other comprehensive  FE{5E518 R H fh 2 2

expenses (9,947) (8,772)

90,858 87,771

Loan to a joint venture (note ii) HEPEER(METI)
— current —n -
- non-current —IERE 71,376
71,376
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

271. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE/LOAN TO A 2. BELERER SEDLEE

=% =

JOINT VENTURE (conTINUED) (&)

notes: B EE

0} Details of the Group’s joint venture and its subsidiary at the end of the (i) RERRNEE &L 0ERENE
reporting periods are as follows: NAFHBENAT :

Place of Proportion of
Name of joint venture incorporation issued and fully paid
and its subsidiary Form of entity and operations up capital held by the Group Principal activity
RELERANBARER BEp RIREELY REERECRTRERRALE TEEH
Directly Indirectly
HE B
2020
%
Joint venture:
RERE:
Southern Hill Company Limited Limited incorporated  Hong Kong - Investment holding
HEBRAR BRARMKY i REER
Its wholly-owned subsidiary:
H2ERERERR:
hEEXRERAR Limited incorporated  The PRC 50 Provision of port facilities
(Ruichang Lee & Man BRARKY HE REEDRE
Logistics Company Limited)

(i) On 31 December 2021, the amount represented the principal amount of (ii) MR2021F12A831H » Z&£BAER
the loans of RMB57,799,000 (equivalent to approximately K& AR¥57,799,0007T (18 E R4
HK$70,486,000) (2020: RMB55,086,000 (equivalent to approximately 70,486,000 7T ) (20204 : AR
HK$64,053,000)) and interest receivables of RMB8,255,000 (equivalent to 55,086,000 7T ( /8 & 7 #9 64,053,000
approximately HK$10,068,000) (2020: RMB6,297,000 (equivalent to Br)) REKFE ARKS,255,000
approximately HK$7,323,000)), which were unsecured, bore interest at 7t (2 & 71 4710,068,0007% 7t ) (2020
3.4% (2020: 3.4%) per annum and were repayable on 31 December F: AR®6,297,000 L (FHERH
2022 (2020: 31 December 2022). 7,323,000 7T)) + Ty KR - R EF

#K3.4% (20204 : 3.4% )&t 8« WHE
72022412 A31H (20204 : 20224
12A31R)EE -
22. INVENTORIES 22. FE
2021 2020
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Raw materials B 3,835,648 3,427,090
Finished goods 25K 1,869,748 922,974

5,705,396 4,350,064
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

23@. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND ). EWE S REMIRRUKTE
PREPAYMENTS S8
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables FEWE 5 R 3,702,983 3,296,960
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (90,622) (71,041)
3,612,361 3,225,919
Trade receivables backed by bills EERBEREWE ZRER 922,430 963,275
Trade receivables backed by bills BB = 2 RRABRE R 2
discounted with recourse (note 23(b)) EUE SR (MF:E23(b)) 123,903 303,934
4,658,694 4,493,128
Prepayments and deposits for purchase B& & REFEM KB NG &
of raw materials 821,764 789,629
Other deposits and prepayments Hih il & MBI FIE 440,920 276,615
Value-added tax receivables FE W 3% (8 i IR 604,352 374,610
Other receivables & LT L A BR 3k 693,324 434,209
7,219,054 6,368,191
As at 1 January 2020, trade receivables net of allowance for R2020F1 A1H » REEFAEHH
credit losses from contracts with customers amounted to JEWE SEZF (MR EEHEREF
HK$4,116,083,000. £8)/54,116,083,000/& JC ©
The trade receivables backed by bills are mature within 12 EEBREHCERESIERE RS
months from the end of the reporting period and are aged KRB 12EAREE - BHEEH
within one year based on the invoice date. HGERER RI1E A ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12A31HILFE

23@. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (conTINUED)

228

notes:

@

(i)

(iif)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit sales are
made to customers with a satisfactory and trustworthy credit history.
Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. The Group
allows its customers an average credit period of 45 to 90 days. The
following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (excluding those backed
by bills) presented based on the invoice date.

23(a). BN E 5 & Lt BR XA K
TFRIR (#)

GEE
()

AEBRERERMFZLA - ST A%
BEEPHNEELAEREEAFER
B FEHEERSRTREELHREN
BF  BEFPEERETHMTURN - A
SEETEPNTHERSARASHE
90H - UTRRERAMEIN 2 REE
SER(TEEEREERE)NRERD
#r o

Aged: AREQ -
Not exceeding 30 days TiiE30H
31-60 days 31-60H
61-90 days 61-90H
91-120 days 91-120H
Over 120 days 1208 &

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT THT
2,484,000 2,295,207
815,845 639,587
145,587 97,206
36,425 58,014
130,504 135,905
3,612,361 3,225,919

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group's trade receivables
balance (excluding those backed by bills) are debtors with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$312,516,000 (2020: HK$291,125,000) which are
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$166,929,000 (2020: HK$193,919,000) has been past due 90 days or
more and is not considered as in default as the Group considered such
balances could be recovered based on repayment history, the financial
conditions and the current credit worthiness of each customers.

As at 31 December 2021, the trade receivables (excluding those backed
by bills) of an aggregate carrying amount of HK$997,334,000 (2020:
HK$747,393,000) were secured by customers’ property interests and
machinery being held as collateral.

Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

(if)

MR2021F12A8318  AEERKE
FGEAREHR(TREEEZEEEE)
REEREES £312,516,000% T
(20204 : 291,125,000 L) 2 &%
RRE RO EEE EXaBRESRE
. 5$0166,929,00058 7T (20204 -
193,919,000/ t) B @ BA90 K s A |k
RAWBEREY FEALSERET—F
FZBAERDE  MBERRIRETE
Bk RBUEFAEHT FLAKE

MN2021F 12 A318 - BEEMEAH
997,334,0003% 7T.(20204F :747,393,000
BT ZEREZER(TRESZEE
HE) BABFZMEERS RKER
HRIEAER -

WHNEREEERDEERITENE

HK$ BT
United States Dollar ("US$") Ern([Ex])
RMB AR

WE S REMBRAT -
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT TAT
21,025 19,847
5,500 55,325

225 -

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set
out in note 35(ii).

(iii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

23b). TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS Bh) EMEEEE

The following were the Group’s financial assets as at 31 LT AREER20214F K20204F
December 2021 and 2020 that were transferred to banks by 2AMENREERERAUEHE
discounting these receivables on a full recourse basis. As the BRI ZEMEE - ARNAEHE
Group has not transferred the significant risks and rewards A K A 1 55 U BR SR A 2 1B KD
relating to these receivables, it continues to recognise the full SRBRERER  WHEERER
carrying amount of the receivables and has recognised the cash FEWRR 2 HMREE - WiEE
received on the transfer as a collateralised borrowing. These IR SRR ABERER - E
financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the Group's TREERAERZEEMBIRR
consolidated statement of financial position. FABE S A BR -

Trade receivables backed
by bills discounted to banks
with full recourse

LURITH 2B REZ
FEHEURERZ
EWE SRR
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Carrying amount of transferred assets EEEENRASRA
(note 23(a)) (FzE23(a)) 123,903 303,934
Carrying amount of transferred liabilities ~ ##:% & (FH) IR 2 58 (123,903) (303,934)
Net position FEEAR MR -
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24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 24. EW({T)EBE R RIFKIE
COMPANIES
Amounts due from related companies disclosed pursuant to RIBEBRREGRDIE622G T AR
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap 622G are as o B AR RIBMNT ¢
follows:

Name of related company Terms 2021 2020
BEATER 3 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Lee & Man Chemical Company Limited Unsecured and non-interest

and its subsidiaries (“"LMC Group”) bearing

(note a) EEH LR E
BX{tIBERAGREKERT

(M T&E ) (KzEa) 13,695
On Wah Environmental Protection Unsecured and non-interest

Technology Company Limited bearing

("OnWah") (note b) EEH LR E
ZERRHMEBRAA

([Z% |)(M3Eb) 85,695
ShunYilnternational Trading Unsecured and non-interest

Co., Limited (“Shun YiInternational”) bearing

(note b) EEH LR E
Shun Yilnternational Trading Co.,

Limited (IShun YiInternational |)

(P 5Eb) 79,174 -

88,882 99,390

The amounts due from related companies represent trade JE W [ 3 R B FRIR 4R FE WOR XX T
balances due from LMC Group, On Wah and Shun Yi % & « % ZE K Shun Yilnternational
International. The amounts are unsecured, interest-free, with 2B oS  RERIAREEM
credit period of 45 days and are aged less than 45 days. ®E - EEHA4SKARRDN4S

X o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED

25.

COMPANIES (conTinuED)

notes:

(a) LMC Group is beneficially owned and controlled by Mr. Lee Man
Yan, an associate of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man
Bun, the directors of the Company.

(b) These entities are indirectly controlled by Ms. Lee Man Ching, a
sister of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun, the
directors of the Company.

(c) Details of impairment assessment of the amounts due from related
companies are set out in note 35(ii).

The amounts due to related companies represent trade balance
due to LMC Group. The amounts are unsecured, interest-free,
with average credit period of 30 days and are aged less than
30 days.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less.

Bank balances and cash that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant group
entities are set out below:

24. B () BEERBNE (&)

25.

(a) BXTITSEMARREERFTEEL
REXHEEZHBEAFTXREEER
A R o

(b) FHEERHMALREFTEIERELRT
SO, e 2 SR ik SRR E XA T R
2 o

(0  EREDERRRAZMEFEFBRR
B 5E35(ii) ©

ENBEARRERENEXT
SENESES ZEREAEKR
B 28 FHEEHAR30KAEK
B R30K -

RITERERE

RITHEBREBACERAEEFTED
BeMREHBRIEASAARNE
HISRITIF AR -

VINEREEERDEERETE
MIRTTREBERESFHIIMT

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$°000
TRERT TR

HK$ BT

us$ ETT

Euro (“EUR") Bt (T8 ])
RMB AR

5,165 2,784
27,978 33,568
34 47

331 1,974

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out
in note 35(ii).

RITHEBRZBENFEFBEEHNME
35(ii) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

232

26.

FEAY B 5 R H AR AR R

Trade payables (note (i)

e & 5 Bk X (BT RECD))

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TET
1,673,234 1,455,188
464,008 483,478
612,413 472,108
359,981 219,753

3,109,636 2,630,527

AEEBNENEZHAREEERRE
ZHETHENESRE  HPARE
BEER2021F12A31HAMEBEER
BE1TERM(E 1,079,741,0005% 7T (2020
1 926,293,000/ 7L ) 2 EIEUER
BEE  WEBHRIABRNESRE R
AAEBRITERZRIBAEHEEML
12z BR B 4 FE 73 1% 0 0 AR TR AR 1 4R AT
Mo M EE— ST -

BEoHBE FHRREH308E1208
TE - UTARBEHRIZEZAHE
HNZRHESREBRERZRRDN -

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET TR

926,901 644,824
279,882 290,524
235,635 252,961
190,296 118,145

40,520 148,734

1,673,234 1,455,188

Construction fee payables FERT TR
Accruals &R
Other payables H th & < FRIE
notes: B &E
(i) The Group’s trade payables included trade payables under supplier (i)
finance arrangements in which the Group has issued bills with the
carrying amount of HK$1,079,741,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$926,293,000) to the relevant suppliers for future settlement and
continues to recognise trade payables as the relevant banks are obliged to
make payments only on due dates of the bills, under the same conditions
as agreed with the suppliers without further extension.
The average credit period taken for trade purchases ranges from 30 to
120 days. The following is an aged analysis of the above trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.
Aged: ARER
Not exceeding 30 days TEEiA30H
31-60 days 31-60H
61-90 days 61-90H
91-120 days 91-120H
Over 120 days 1208 E
(i) Trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies other than (i)

the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

VINEREBRERERERTENE
NESREMBRAT

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHT

HK$ BT
us$ E
EUR BT
RMB AR

29,427 2,931
1,259,404 969,893
1,585 7,268
8,020 8,488
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ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

27. LEASE LIABILITIES 27. HEEE

31 December 31 December

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
12H31H 12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Lease liabilities payable: EREESE:
Within one year —&FR 17,518
Within a period of more than one year HiR—FELRMmE 2 HE
but not more than two years 10,127
Within a period of more than two years BRMFEIRAF 2 HBE
but not more than five years 10,749
Within a period of more than five years HE R F 2 B 35,507
73,901
Less: Amount due for settlement with B I2EARESEZSE
12 months shown under TN =NECIRN
current liabilities (14,010) (17,518)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1218 A4 &S E 2 58
shown under non-current liabilities RIEEBBENR 53,032 56,383

BOERAR AT 2021 £38 233



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28. BHNEE

KEEP 2 BYGK

Receipts in advance from customers

2020

HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET
77,657 108,948

As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$81,395,000.

Contract liabilities represent receipts in advance from customers
for unsatisfied performance obligations and are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs its obligations by the
customers obtain the control of the goods under the contracts.
At contract inception, performance obligation is expected to be
satisfied within one year. Contracts with customers with
unsatisfied performance obligations have expected durations of
one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward
contract liabilities and how much relates to performance
obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

MR2020FE1A1H - ABEEA
81,395,000/ 7T °

BRABHERBEEFPHARATKED
BEEZEWRZE  LEAEETK
BHMBENETHEPERERZ
THERERSBA - EEHFR
B BEHBEEERE-FATK -
ABETENEETZEPANZEY
FERAR—FHUAT - REEEY
BHREEBFISH A DT
ZERBTRNZXHBERALKRE

o

TRINTIRAFE 2 WAERT
BEZOBENABAEREBRAZLE
BEMHEC TR ZIBENEE -

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx TR

Revenue recognised that was included B REEAHNBEFENESHZ

in the contract liability balance at the W ARER
beginning of the year

108,948 81,395
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021412H31H 1L F/Z

29. BANK BORROWINGS 29. SR1TEE
The Group’s bank borrowings, all of which are unsecured, AEEZRTEE (2 AER
comprised: )8

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH T FHET

Bank loans IRITER 13,797,828 11,098,063

Bank import loans FITEOER 262,931 228,742

14,060,759 11,326,805

The bank borrowings are repayable as follows: $R7T{& B 8B HHMT

Within one year or on demand —FAHEERK 8,674,747 5,255,174
More than one year, but not exceeding BR—FELRME

two years 1,711,483 3,075,032
More than two years, but not exceeding BEMFELARAESF

five years 3,674,529 2,996,599

14,060,759 11,326,805
Less: Amount due within one year shown B YR AREBER
under current liabilities —F R E|EIRIE (8,674,747) (5,255,174)

Amount due after one year —F & HRIE 5,386,012 6,071,631
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12A31HILFE

29. BANK BORROWINGS (conTiNUED)

236

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

29. IR1ITEE (#)

Fixed-rate borrowings

Variable-rate borrowings

mi
\
/

Jd A
i

i
i

AEEEERBHAT
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx TR
- 1,618,589
14,060,759 9,708,216
CACIVELE 11,326,805

notes:

@
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s variable-rate borrowings carry
variable interest rates ranging from HIBOR plus 0.75% per annum to
HIBOR plus 1.31% per annum (2020: ranging from HIBOR plus 0.75%
per annum to HIBOR plus 1.31% per annum).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no fixed-rate borrowings (2020:

ranging from 3.40% per annum to 3.75% per annum).

The weighted average effective interest rate of the Group’s bank
borrowings are as follows:

Fixed-rate borrowings ES
Variable-rate borrowings R

HK$7,279,231,000 (2020: HK$2,694,742,000) in bank borrowings of
HK$8,674,747,000 (2020: HK$5,255,174,000) which are repayable
within one year contain repayable on demand clauses.

(if)

R20214128318 » AEBEFEEE

FERABBRITRAERBMO.75%F
N1.31% (20204 « FEERHEBRT
FEFEMO.75%ZEMN1.31%) °

M2021F 128318 AEBEVETE
BEE(2020F : FEEXH3.40%E
3.75%) °

AN BRTT A FRA NI T8 B R R 1
T

2020

3.43%
1.36%

AR - FREEOHRITHERX
8,674,747,000 # st ( 2020 %
5,255,174,000/% 7T )+ 2 7,279,231,000
770 (20204 : 2,694,742,0007% 70 ) &
BREKBEZIERK -
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

30. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 30. EEBIEEE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised TRAFZEBREEREBEEER
and movement thereon during the current and prior year: RNEEREFEZEE

Undistributed

earnings
Accelerated ofthe PRC
tax subsidiaries
depreciation Hh B ffY
InERIE DREZ Total
wE KOEBER aFt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHET
At 1 January 2020 20201418 1,185,063 259,848 1,444,911
Charge (credit) to profit or loss £t A (3 A ) 1825 106,384 (201,225) (94,841)
Exchange differences EH =% 582 (13,352) (12,770)
At 31 December 2020 20209 12831H 1,292,029 45,271 1,337,300
Charge (credit) to profit or loss &+ A (A )83 112,342 (29,981) 82,361
Exchange differences ME 3 =% 746 944 1,690
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12H31H 1,405,117 16,234 1,421,351

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$161,000,000 (2020: HK$192,000,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of such losses for both years
due to unpredictability of future profit streams. As at 31
December 2021, tax losses of approximately HK$39,000,000
(2020: HK$36,000,000) attributable to the PRC subsidiaries,
approximately HK$67,000,000 (2020: HK$84,000,000)
attributable to the Vietnam subsidiaries will expire at various
dates up to and including 2022 (2020: 2022) and nil (2020:
HK$37,000,000) attributable to the Malaysia subsidiaries will
expire at various dates up to and including 2026, and tax losses
of approximately HK$18,000,000 (2020: nil) attributable to the
Cambodia subsidiary will expire in 2026. The remaining tax
losses of approximately HK$37,000,000 (2020:
HK$35,000,000) attributable to the Hong Kong subsidiaries
may be carried forward indefinitely.

M2021%12A318 » AEEHAKS
R AEEIN R RAF 2 FiEE
1 494161,000,000/8 7T (20204 -
192,000,000/ 70 ) - AR EIATE
ETARRAF M - M EFE LR
ZEBBERERBEERBEE - 1
2021412 A31H » 439,000,000
# 7T (20204 : 36,000,000/ 7T ) 3
B EKE AR - 467,000,000/8
7t (20204 : 84,000,000 7T ) 3K
BEMEHBAR  BREZTBE
20224 (20204 : 20224 ) 2 % @
TERBHEEE  AEZHEIT(2020
# :37,000,000/870) kR 8 F K7
THEBRAR  HREZLEIE2026
FrZETRABEHEE - mMREE
B8 A &) 2 F 7%5 B3 18 49 18,000,000
I (20204 « ££) R 2026 F 3
BB TEEWNBARZHEE
18 #9 37,000,000 3 7T ( 2020 4 :
35,000,000 7T ) 1% A & BR B Hb 45
ﬁ;i; o
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30.

31.
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DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (conTinuED)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to
retained profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
HK$13,039,638,000 (2020: HK$10,612,731,000) as the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS
Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustees. The Group contributes monthly the lower of
HK$1,500 or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the
MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The only obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme is
to make the required contribution payable on the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
HK$136,674,000 (2020: HK$68,596,000) (note 12) represents
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates

specified in the rules of the schemes.

31.
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RIBEFBIMEMSHE - B20085F
TATEREFREMEB R RIMA
FIE RS MNEATENT o FEH B
NAIBEFAEFE $£13,039,638,000
#T (20204 : 10,612,731,0007%
TL)EEZEREZBUENGREME
WMRFTIRELEHE  AAEEAE
FIEREERENSRARGRER
BRI Al R ARG T & Bl 5 o

RARE R ET
REMFKEE

AEECERERMAARERRERR
VY-HREEE o REEE
MEERASENEESHRETSR -
AEBAEEAEENES - XK
B 21,500 THE A HFKAN
5% @ MBIEERE - MRiED 2
WK EERZ MR-

AEEHRESAANE—TEIH
EERRFEEFELATERMAER -

FEMBARREAMNER DS ES
BT 2 M 0 B R E R R KR A
itEl - PEMEARERERT 2
METADL - FRKENE S
FAEREHNZA - REEHIRIK
B BN -SEERRELEE

R -

RIBEPER 2B 136,674,000
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32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. B
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EBERYE &5
Note HK$'000
it TR
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 2020 1H18 »
at 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 2020F12A318 Rk
and 31 December 2021 2021%12A31H
F%0.025F LA LK 8,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 7202051818
at 1 January 2020 F0.0258 LR LB 4,366,808,000 109,170
Share repurchased and cancelled B BB Rt 88 (i) (20,166,000) (504)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2020612A31B &K
at 31 December 2020 0.0258 TR L B 4,346,642,000 108,666
Share repurchased and cancelled Htn B8 Bl 2 it 88 (i) (14,983,000) (375)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2021%E12A31H
at 31 December 2021 HHk0.0258 L) E @R 4,331,659,000 108,291
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32. SHARE CAPITAL (conTiNUED) 32. BA (%)
Note: feE -
(i) The Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as (i) RABRBERAEEE & 2RHNAT :
follows:
2021
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each BRI ER expenses)
Month of #5R0.0258 T Highest Lowest AHERKRE
repurchases BE AR 2EBR BE RIE (EEE)
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
BT BT FER
October 2021 20214108 1,018,000 5.49 5,580
November 2021 2021F 118 7,965,000 5.46 43,135
December 2021 2021412 A 6,000,000 5.39 32,376

14,983,000 81,091
2020
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each TR HEE expenses)
Month of Fh%0.025%8 7T Highest Lowest AHBEMNRE
repurchases EeEAH 2 & 58 &K (BEFE)
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT B IT FET
March 2020 2020438 20,166,000 5.09 4.28 95,861
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

33.

34.

PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES

On 29 May 2019, the Company (the “Issuer”) issued US$300
million perpetual capital securities at an issue price of 100 per
cent which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Distribution is
payable semi-annually in arrears based on a fixed rate of 5.5
per cent per annum. Distribution by the Issuer may be deferred
at its sole discretion. These perpetual capital securities have no
fixed maturity and are redeemable in whole, but not in part, at
the Issuer’s option on 29 May 2024, or any distribution
payment date falling thereafter at their principal amounts
together with any accrued, unpaid or deferred distributions.
While any distributions are unpaid or deferred, the Company
will not declare, pay dividends or make distributions or similar
periodic payments in respect of, or repurchase, redeem, reduce,
cancel, buy-back or otherwise acquire any securities of lower
rank.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include the bank borrowings and lease liabilities as disclosed in
notes 29 and 27 respectively, and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
various reserves and perpetual capital security.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

33.

34.

KBEARGE S

M2019F 54298 + KRR ([#17
AD)BEIT T 300X T KEERFE
% LA100% B B 1T B R B X FT I
e EBRPIRNEBEERTFES 5%
BEE LR SIR o BT AR BITAR
EBDIREL - WEXKBEEARES
IR EE R A R IT AR
BR2024F5 298 s BER T M
KRB BAAS S mERFTEE
o R HIRE DR K EEARE
HF2Y(WHEHH)ER - EFEAH
EIDARNSKEL - RARHIAE
& R E AR B Sk 1E 2R 3Bt 4 R
BHURMTEHMAR - ER - B -
HURL ~ 5T - EEESE A ERRIE
BRI FES o

EXRERERE

AEBEREEANERAEEDN
ERAURELERET  WEBKE
BEHERESL RERFE ARRH
RmEH o AEEHNBRBBRESR
HEEF -

AEENEAGEBRRBER B
BRED IR 29227 H B 2 R1T
EERBEERE  URAQRERE
FEAEGRERZ (BREBTERA
ZRMBIKBELRES) °

ARREETHRBRITERER - 1F
RBEN—8D  BEFEEREEANK
AAREZEEREROAR - R
BREENESR  AEESBEBIKM
BB~ BEATEN AR R R [ A DA K%
THEXEQNREFHELRERBER
R -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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(i)

(i)
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Categories of financial instruments

35. €@ T A

(i)

Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEEKANEREE
Financial liabilities EHMER
Amortised cost KR

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include loan to a
joint venture, trade and other receivables, amounts due
from (to) related companies, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, advances drawn on bills
discounted with recourse, lease liabilities and bank
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(ii)

SRTEER
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
TH& T FAET
7,430,267 6,283,024
16,692,565 13,805,214

MEREERNRBE

$Egmigﬁﬁlﬂﬁ%A
TEER BUWESREM
;o Y () BE R AR
E‘ﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁ\%ﬁﬁ

HREMENR  HEREZER
EMEEMR  HERBERR

TEE - 2RIANFBENE
M ERE  HEZF2RMIA
EEmAREETSAR(E
?ﬁ%@ﬁﬁ&ﬂ%ﬂ ®)  EEME

KRB & E - a0 &M
nx—rﬂﬁhmﬂlﬁ%@@]ﬁ/\—ry
EEEEERETZSIAR -
VARER B B A RO R E & Y
ik e
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

(a)

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency transactions, which
expose the Group to market risk arising from
changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to
mitigate the foreign currency risk, foreign currency
forward contracts are entered into by the Group for
certain material foreign currency transactions.
Management monitors other foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider the use of

hedging instruments when the need arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s significant
monetary assets and monetary liabilities, excluding
intercompany balances, that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entities at the reporting dates are as
follows:

Monetary assets (note):

35. R T H (%)

(ii)

BREREERNREE

(%)

5 Rk
(a)

HK$ BT
Us$ ETT
EUR BX 7T
RMB AR

BERAR AR 2021 F£3R]

B 5
AEBHFHEINERS <
7N 8 B 7R AR N [ R A
FolENTHERR - 87
BRSNS RS - A E L
ETERINEZHET LI
BEHAR - EEERE
DB RAEMIMNERRR - A
ERRMEBRERE T
Ao

REBRHwE B I IEAE
HEEERYEEEE

ZEBEWEERERA
& (&2 A R BRSM)
MAREER T -
BERAE M) -
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FTAT
26,190 22,631
33,478 88,893
34 47
556 1,974
243



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

=)

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(@)

Currency risk (Continued)

Monetary liabilities (note):

35.

HKS BT
us$ =
EUR EroT
RMB AR

ST R (&)
(i) BERREEBNREE
(&)
miZREE (&)
(a) B (E)
EBaEfE)
2021 2020
HK$’'000 HK$'000
T8 Ttz
29,427 2,931
1,259,404 969,893
1,585 7,268
8,020 8,488

note: The above amounts exclude HK$/US$ amounts where the Mist: Pl eEABIEHBER
functional currency of the relevant group entities is US$/ BB EE BET B
HK$ because HK$ is pegged to the US$, as a result of TRABTETE®E A
which the exchange exposure is not significant. B TTEE TN - E L
I KE KRR o
In addition, intercompany balances denominated in AN - LASNEESHE 2 BB
foreign currencies are as follows: NEERAEHRAT
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT FET
Assets BE
HK$ BT 357,053 362,817
us$ e 38,646 39,711
EUR LT 86,005 76,707
Liabilities =R
HK$ BT 273,449 241,668
us$ e 90,513 130,007
EUR BT 86,005 76,707
RMB AR® 4,386,768 5,588,744
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuED) 35. TR (#)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) HEREBEEEIRBEEK

policies (Continued) (%)

Market risk (Continued) MR (&)

(@) Currency risk (Continued) (a) EMWmEpE(E)
Sensitivity analysis BURRE DT
The Group is primarily exposed to the fluctuation of REEFZERHE B TRE
HK$ and US$ versus RMB. TRARERBTE -
The following tables detail the Group’s sensitivity to TR AN K BT E
a 5% (2020: 5%) increase and decrease in the HPRERAIBRT - 4
exchange rates where the functional currencies of HMEEERB I NEEE R
the relevant group entities against the relevant BMEMBBENNEEE &
foreign currencies to the extent that the exposures F & TBE5% (20204 -
have not been hedged. Besides, the Group has had 5% ) B BLELE o Ith AN -
intercompany balances in RMB to finance foreign BBRTFEENUR  A&EH
operation since previous years that, in the opinion AARIMARKESREE
of the directors of the Company, these balances INEBIREES - AR
have formed part of the net investment of the EERR - REEROE
Group in that foreign operation and such impact RAEEEHZEIINEB 2
has also been considered in this sensitivity analysis. FREN D MEE
Should these intercompany balances be failed FENEERAFRED T
qualifying as part of the net investment of the FERE - WizEAaHE
Group in the future, significant decrease in the BN AR AT EERKR
Group's post-tax profit would be resulted. 5% REEFRE 2 55
(2020: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when BERAEENRER
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key FIRMER L © 5% (2020
management personnel and represents F:5%)REAMEE
management’s assessment of the reasonably EIEABERINE E bR
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The FANBRELE - BT
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign BEMINEERTSIEA
currency denominated monetary items (including BEEENIE L AT (4 o BURK
intercompany balances denominated in foreign Eo REERINEHE
currencies) and adjusts their translation at the year WARENEBEBER (B2
end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. On LASNEE BB 2 WEB A BT
this basis, there will be an increase/decrease in K)o WRFHRFEER
post-tax profit and equity where the functional H o LAR M ANEE [E 2
currencies of the relevant group entities strengthens 5% Z8) o LU EET -
against the foreign currencies by 5%, and vice EREEEER IR
versa. B INEFAES% - Fiig

BF R w8 R
Do RZ IR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(@) Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

35. R T H (%)

(i) BERREEBNREE

(%)

iR (&)

(a)

(Decrease) increase

in post-tax profit

B&BEF O ) B

2021
HK$"000
TERx

HK$ BT (3,702)
us$ ETT 55,432
EUR BT 5
RMB AR 12,727

(b)  Interest rate risk
The Group’s bank balances carry floating-rate of
interests and have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rates. However, the Group
considers that the bank balances are within short
maturity period, and the fluctuation in interest rate
and the cash flow interest rate risk arising from

bank balances are insignificant.

The Group's fair value and cash flow interest risks
mainly relate to fixed and variable rates borrowings
respectively. The Group has not entered into any
interest rate hedging contracts, but considers that
the interest rate of bank borrowings is relatively
stable and so no interest rate swap was used to
hedge the exposure to interest rate risk in current
year. The management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.
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2020
HK$'000
TET

(b)

B (&)
FRE DM (E)

Increase in other
comprehensive income

Hib 2 mE KA EM

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTEx TAET

170,732 162,791

P& R
REBRITHERIIES -
HRBRITHISH XK -
RITHEBAR RS RER
KR o R - AERER
RZIRITHER I AR
Hi - BWEESRITAEERSIHREY
MERBH LB REN K
R RE -

AEBEZRARERRER
ENRERERDRIEE
BMIREERM - A&
B 3 428 5] 32 AT AR ) = O
B4 ERABRITEEN
FERIBEIBTE - TAER
F R PARI 2 4 i 4 b
xR - BEEEET
XEBiEEREARRE
EEHPEANNN A
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuED) 35. @M TR (%)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER

policies (Continued) (%)

Market risk (Continued) miZEE (&)

(b) Interest rate risk (Continued) (b) FEE R (&)
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined TIHBRE DT IRBER
based on the exposure to interest rates for non- WEBARIETET AT
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting KRBT o BLFELRTT
period. For variable-rate bank borrowings, the BE oW HEBRERARS
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability HRRBENEBEREZFY
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was BAREBANMER - FIFIE
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points ek S0 E B AY A
increase or decrease in interest rate is used when mMEEERABERN X
reporting interest rate risk internally to key BEREREANNE - BT
management personnel and represents BEMNENEIER] LE
management’s assessment of the reasonably B RTAE -

possible change in interest rates.

For bank borrowings at variable-rate of Bt A 2014,060,759,0007%8 7T
HK$14,060,759,000 (2020: HK$9,708,216,000), if (2020 % : 9,708,216,000
interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower BL) 2 ZBIRITEEM
and all other variables were held constant, the = WF=E TS0
Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 AR MAAEHME S
December 2021 after taking into account the BAE - REBEHE2021
capitalisation of borrowing costs using the FI2A3MBLEFENN
capitalisation rates ranging from 1.17% to 1.66% BRAMEH RAE R
(2020: ranging from 1.92% to 3.78%) per annum FHEHI1.17% E1.66%
would decrease/increase by HK$9,047,000 (2020: (2020F : N TF1.92% =
decrease/increase by HK$3,067,000). 378% ) it B2 E ARG
=N S R i
9,047,000 7T (2020 % :
B/ ¥ hn 3,067,000 %
TT) e
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

248

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables, amounts due from related
companies, bank balances and loan to a joint venture.
Save as certain trade receivables disclosed in note 23(a),
the Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its

financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model under
application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually or
based on collective assessment. In this regard, the
directors consider that the Group’'s credit risk is

significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the

counterparties are banks with good reputation.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Accordingly, the Group’s concentration of credit risk is

considered minimal.

35. R T H (%)

(ii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35. R T H (%)
(i) MBEREEBNREEK

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In addition to the credit risk on trade debts, the Group is
also exposed to concentration on credit risk on its loan to
a joint venture. Because the Group's involvement in the
management of joint venture, the Group is in a position
to monitor their financial performance and would take
timely actions to safeguard its assets and/or to minimise
its losses. Accordingly, management believes that the
Group's exposure to the credit risk associated with loan

to joint venture is low and ECL, if any, is not material.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Trade receivables and

(%)

EERR MR ERF G (&)
BRTEESEBHNEERR
S ARERAEEEER L
FHEETEERAR - RA/ALE
E2EAEMERNEE  AF
EHREEEAMBRANMLE
YA R RFITHARERLE
Ek/SREEE - Bt &
BEEMGEAKEERTAED
XEFSIENEERARBE
mMEMEEER(WHE)LTE
x o

A& E 2 REREE R R AR B R
HBEEATER

amounts due from
related parties
Internal creditrating  Description [ E 5708 Other financial assets
nEBEETR WE RIEKEES B EhemAE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL - not credit-impaired
9N and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired NEAABHEEFE-FEEHE
HFRENERBREETRERAREE RORBEERE-
FEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but ~ Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL - not credit-impaired
BEORI R g usualy settle in ful not credit-impaired REAREEEBE-FEEAE
EEABEHARENERR QL HER  KIRHEEER-
FESRE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired
Bl credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired RERREEER-FEERE
information developed internally or BAEHEESE-
external resources FEERE
BBANFEEERIINTERET B NiakE
ARG SEREE M
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired
Eis credit-impaired credit-impaired RIBHEEFR-FERE
REBELAEENEERE RABHEERE-
EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtoris ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
e in severe finandial difficulty and the HUBHER SRR R

Group has no realistic prospect of

recovery
FRBRLERALRSBENHRER

AEETEERLEYEE

BERAR AR 2021 F£3R]
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuED) 35. @M TR (%)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) MBEREEENRBER
policies (Continued) (%)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) FERR EBETS (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRAFMAZTEREEEIEN
Group’s financial assets at amortised cost which are M2 ARENEHEK AT EZ
subject to ECL assessment: TREEEERR
12-month
or 2021 Gross 2020 Gross
External Internal lifetime ECL carryingamount  carrying amount
Notes  creditrating  credit rating REARE S 2021% 2020%
M NEEERR RIREER BHEEER BREE BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TETL TETL
Trade receivables 23(a) N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL 3,630,360 3,290,540
W E SER TER (Bsx2) (Not credit-impaired
under collective
assessment)
Ky RHEEER
(BEEETE
FEEER)
Loss Lifetime ECL 72,623 6,420
B (Credit-impaired)
KyRHEEER
(FEBB)
3,702,983 3,296,960
Trade receivables backed by bills - 23(a) Low risk (Note 2) Lifetime ECL 922,430 963,275
BREARRUEFEN (R (W&2) REBDHEERR
Trade receivables backed by bills ~ 23(b) Low risk (Note 2) Lifetime ECL 123,903 303,934
discounted with recourse il (W&2) RIEHEEER
EMERRREHRERL
EWE S%H
Amounts due from related 24 N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL 88,882 99,390
companies TER (W&2) kaRHEEER
BB R AN
Bank balances 25 Low risk N/A 12-month ECL 1,903,209 1,182,115
RITHER (R TER NEARHEEER
Loan to a joint venture 21 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL 80,554 71,376
RELEET TER (1) NEARHEEER
Other receivables 23(a) N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL 693,324 434,209
EWE R TER (1) NEARHEEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuED) 35. @M TR (%)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) MBREREERNREER
policies (Continued) (%)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) ZER R FRERTS (&
Notes: MEE
1. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group 1. REE SRR RE R ETH
uses past due and repayment information to assess whether credit BYRERUREERBR SR
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. ERIMERNBEERMBEIR
Not past due/No fixed
repayment terms
FBHEWETEERGENR
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Loan to a joint venture BEREER 80,554 71,376
Other receivables H A YRR 693,324 434,209
2. For trade receivables and amounts due from related parties (trade 2. ThEUR B 5 BR TR N UK B8 & R
nature), the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 H(ES5MHE) AEEEAS
to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for credit- BB REERIE IR BT
impaired trade debtors and those backed by bills, the Group EAR G EBEEEBRETEE
determines the expected credit losses on the other debtors by BEE BREEREZEBAR
using a collective assessment, grouped by internal credit rating. BEBEREN  REEHHEM
Credit-impaired debtors and those backed by bills are assessed on BEBARBEETGEEABEER
individual basis. The average loss rates of trade receivables (not AREREEEEBEEER -
credit-impaired) (excluding those backed by bills) for the year FEREBEZEHAREREER
ended 31 December 2021 was 0.5% (2020: 1.96%). ERERELEFME - BE2021

FNRANBLEFEZERES
ER(FEEEBE) (TeEAZE
BIEIEE) FHEBEE05%
(20204 : 1.96%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35. R T H (%)

BREREERNREE
(&)

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (ii)
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERBNOBER G (&)

Notes: (Continued)
2. (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has

been recognised for trade receivables (excluding those backed by

M (&)

2. (%)
TERERUEREZRA(TE
EARBRERE) CERAKETE

bills). HMEEREBE2#8 -
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
REHEH HEEHY
FEEER FEEE Total
(EfEERME) (F8RE) ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHT
As at 1 January 2020 A2020F181H 118,890 17,034 135,924
Changes due to financial F2020F1A81H
instruments recognised HREBITEmES :
as at 1 January 2020:
— Impairment losses recognised ~ — (B E5 1B HER 58,929 - 58,929
— Impairment losses reversed — R 1B &5 18 o 4 (118,890) - (118,890)
- Write-offs — 88 - (10,614) (10,614)
Exchange adjustments & X A% 5,692 - 5,692
As at 31 December 2020 A2020%612A318 64,621 6,420 71,041
Changes due to financial F2021F1A1H
instruments recognised HREMTEmMES :
as at 1 January 2021:
— Impairment losses recognised ~— — (& 5 1B HER 15,717 64,738 80,455
— Impairment losses reversed — A E B R & (64,621) - (64,621)
Exchange adjustments ERTAEE 2,282 1,465 3,747
As at 31 December 2021 A2021%12A318 17,999 72,623 90,622
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep) 35. @I R ®)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights.
The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The
table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve

at the end of the reporting period.

BERAR AR 2021 F£3R]

(%)

MEE SRR

SERRBESARME @ A
SEERLRFEAEREAS
AEEEERMESD - AR
BRSRENDFEZRER
ReEBEYKE BEEEBESR
RITIEEZERBRIL R E

FERRHE -

TERFLAAKE SR A EOER
TEREEBE - TRIDBEAR
SEEENRFARAERAZS
REBEEARNRRSREED -
BEME - M &R EIEKF
RZ|ITEE  HERERT
BRZA  TwRTELERE
TTEEER - HMIFITES R
BEZEH B REZETENER
BHEE - TRERBEMER
rXeHREeRE HXERE
Lt FEBRZFBNE - RHT
REBREHEHRAOF K dh
AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35.

254

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables

Weighted Repayable on
average  demand or
effective less than
interest rate 1 month

ERAz EEREX
nEFSE  RORMER
% HKS000

il THT

31 December 2021 20215124318
Non-derivative financial 374 2R&E

liabilities
Trade and other payables  E[TZ 5 REMES 1,723,900
Advance drawnon bils  FEZEENE S

discounted with recourse  BEERE 123,903
Amounts duetorelated  ERBEAAZE

companies 10,680
Bank borrowings RiTRE

- Variable-rate —%8 . 7,529,164

9,387,647

35. R T H (%)

(ii)

1-3 3 months
months to 1 year

18388 3EARME
HKS'000  HKS'000
- TEL

515,507 257,816

1,145,719

515643 1,403,535
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BREREERNREE

(%)

mEBEERR (&)
B EE &K

Total

1-5  undiscounted
years  cash flows
AR

1258 REREAH
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T

2,497,223
123,903
10,680

5386012 14,061,031

5386012 16,692,837

Carrying
amount at
31 December
2021

20215
128318
ZEEE
HK$'000
T

2497223
123,903
10,680

14,060,759

16,692,565



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuED) 35. TR (#)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (%)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER (£)
Liquidity tables (Continued) THENE DK ()

Weighted  Repayable on Carrying
average  demand or Tot  amountat
effective less than 13 3 months 1-5  undiscounted 31 December

interest rate 1 month months to 1 year years cash flows 2020
2020F

ERAE  ERLER AR 12A3A

mEYEE ASMER 1R EAEIA 125 ReRgedt  ZEKEE
% HKS000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKFOO0  HKS'000  HKS'000
ARl T T TEL T T T

31 December 2020 20205124318
Non-derivative financial Ffj4E4REE

liabilities
Trade and other payables  [EFTZ 5 R Eflk - 1,600,690 344,679 213,050 - 2158419 2158419
Advance drawn on bils i EZEENER

discounted with recourse BB H - 303,934 - - - 303,934 303,934
Amounts due torelated  EREEAFZE

companies - 16,056 - - - 16,056 16,05
Bank borrowings R/iTRE

- fixed rates —%8 343 29,114 450,567 889,056 - 1,635,737 1,618,589
Bank borrowings RiTRE

- Variable-rate —%8 1.36 2,936,054 - 706,936 6,269,518 9,912,508 9,708,216

5,152,848 795,246 1,809,042 6269518 1402665 13805214
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fRE B AR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

256

35. R T H (%)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (%)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER (£)
Liquidity tables (Continued) THENE DK ()
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause MAEREERERBGERZR
are included in the “repayable on demand or less than 1 TEER M EBASW
month” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at AT EZRERSK DM
31 December 2021 and 2020, the aggregate 8 A1z E8E - R20215F &k
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank loans 202012 H31H » &R
amounted to HK$7,279,231,000 and HK$2,694,742,000 TERZATRAZRED
respectively. Taking into account the Group’s financial R A& 7,279,231,000 & 7T &
position, the directors of the Company do not believe 2,694,742,0007 7T ° £ & &
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their REBZHBHRR - EFHE
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. B RITPKRATEITEBNE
The directors of the Company believe that such bank B ERAEENRER - &
loans will be repaid after the reporting date in accordance EHE - ZERITEEBRA
with the following scheduled repayment dates set out in REBBZERBERBHEM
the loan agreements: HMEERBHEERAT
Bank borrowings subject to repayment on demand clause B 75 FE SRR FUR R 2 SRIT 18
based on scheduled repayments: ERHETEENRE
Weighted
average Total
effective Less than 1-3 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month months to1year  cash flows amount
ERAE LS}
MEFHE  SMER  1E3ER 3BAZIE BEHBAH REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Rl FhR FhR FhR FhR FhR
Asat 31 December 2021 7202112 3318 126 5773655 168612 1348053 7090320 7279231
As at 31 December 2020 #2020 12A31H 136 1,141,263 214,506 1,347,473 2,703,242 2,694,742
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(ii)

(iii)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate
approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby
HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had variable-rate
bank borrowings that are linked to HIBOR, the Group
had confirmed with the relevant counterparties HIBOR

will continue to maturity.

Fair value

Fair value measurements recognised in the
statement of financial position

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values at the end of the
reporting period. The fair values of the financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost have
been determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on a discounted cash flow analysis,
with the most significant inputs being the discount rate
that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

35. R T H (%)

(ii)

(iii)

BERAR AR 2021 F£3R]

BREREERNREE
(&)

FlREERE
BEBATIRRFEHEH
(THONIAD) B HEE BB B
RITRAEFEZBERAR -
WHRAEKIEEBRITRAE
HE - BBERAZHEFR -
Bt BERTRAERER
HONIAH & I 17 -

MR2021F12A31H » A& H
BHEBBRITEERSEHH
FERITEE  AEEKDHE
HEZXZHFHEREBRT
AEFSEGEBEZIIE -

RE
R BIRR KRR 2 A A ER

o

il

ARBEERR NEAVH
BRABBERAARZERE
ERTBRARZERERNR
THREEERQRA(E - AHH
RAAGRZEBEEREREA
BZARBEEREENITRA
ERENMORARTEERILE
EERRERZHABER
RRZ 5% F 5= ERROT

S
T4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

36. OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessor

During the year ended 31 December 2021, rental income in
respect of industrial properties, office spaces, certain shops and
staff quarters and plant and machinery in the PRC was
HK$66,286,000 (2020: HK$62,167,000), net of negligible

outgoings. Leases are within one to ten years.

36.

meEmEy
SEAERBHEA

REE2021F12A31BIEFE -
EEATENTIEDE WRE &
THBNMEIBE RKRE & #E
MASBA(ENBRHBTZEZR
%) 566,286,000 T (2020 4 :
62,167,000 7m) - HEH A —F
E+F

RHEEZBKRRERE

Minimum lease payments receivable on

leases are as follows: (e UNNE
Within one year —FRA
In the second year MREBE_F
In the third year RE=F
In the fourth year REMF
In the fifth year REREF
After five years AFE

37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

37.

Capital expenditures contracted for but not gt 2 5T 418 R A4 & B 7

provided in the consolidated financial WMEPREBEEHAER
statements in respect of acquisition of Y - BEM&EN
property, plant and equipment =N

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
T FET
55,980 61,455
53,457 61,961
53,537 63,582
51,905 65,060
39,417 64,419
33,593 92,161
287,889 408,638
B A EIE
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
3,296,857 3,045,976
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 38. REREETBELENERE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TREFMIEAEEHBEETHE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash SMEEED  BREBESRIIFRS
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for 2y mMEITDEENABEILIER
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified EHREBXNAKRBRERERDBEAER
in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash SECZEAERENERAREGD
flows from financing activities. FriszBEeneE -
Advances Distribution
drawn payable
from bills onperpetual
discounted capital
with recourse securities
WEZEL Lease Bank  Dividend e |
EBEE  liabilities  borrowings payable ExE% Total
BRR  HERE #TRE EHRE EH DR ait

HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TEr  TERL TEL TEL TR TiEL

(restated)

(note)

(EE5])

i)
At1 January 2020 R2020%1 410 461,824 53392 12,335,547 - - 12,850,763
Finance cost recognised (note 10) BBRAED(H3E10) - 2836 - - - 2836
Additions byl - 29,234 - - - 29,234

Non-cash settlement of discounted bills  ER £ &N B RIE L &
with recourse REE (765,418) - - - - (765,418)
Exchange realignment EiEHEA 67,688 2,046 - - - 69,734
Financing cash flows BERLNE 539,840 (13,607) (1,008,742) (1,086,661) (128,707) (1,697,877)
Dedlaration of dividend ERRE - - - 1,086,661 - 1,086,661
Distribution of perpetual capital securities X EAAZ% 4R - - - - 128,707 128707
At 31 December 2020 P2020€12A8318 303,934 73,901 11,326,805 - - 11,704,640
Finance cost recognised (note 10) BBRARA(ME0) - 3192 - - - 3192
Additions by - 12,968 - - - 12,968
Non-cash settlement of discounted bills 334 BN ZE VB

with recourse REE (606,222) - - - - (606,222)
Exchange realignment EFEHEA 11417 158 47288 - - 58,863
Financing cash flows HARERE 44,774 (3177) 2686666 (143439 (128409 1515462
Declaration of dividend ERRE - - - 1,434,392 - 1,434,392
Distribution of perpetual capital securities X EE A% 5k - - - - 128,409 128409
At 31 December 2021 120215124318 123,903 67,042 14,060,759 - - 14,251,704
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (conTinueD)

39.

260

note:

In application of the agenda decision of the Committee in relation to Supply
Chain Financing Arrangements this year, the Group changed its accounting
policies retrospectively by presenting the cash received from discounting bills to
bank with recourse under financing activities in the consolidated statement of
cash flows and the settlement of the related receivables are disclosed as non-cash
transactions.

Effects of this change in accounting policies on the consolidated statement of
cash flows are as follows:

Proceeds received from discounting bills which did not qualify for
derecognition previously included under operating activities of
approximately HK$540 million have been reclassified and presented as
cash inflows under financing activities for the year ended 31 December
2020, which resulted in decrease in net cash from operating activities for
the year ended 31 December 2020 by approximately HK$540 million, and
increase in net cash from financing activities for the year ended 31
December 2020 by approximately HK$540 million; and

The effects on settlement of the relevant receivables on maturity of the
discounted bills with aggregate amounts of approximately HK$765 million
have been disclosed as non-cash transactions for the year ended 31
December 2020.

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s
acquisition of property, plant and equipment was settled
through transfer of deposits paid in the prior years to the
extent of HK$705,734,000 (2020: HK$1,106,741,000).

During the year, advances drawn on bills discounted with
recourse of HK$606,222,000 (2020: HK$765,418,000)
have been settled through bills discounted to the relevant
financial institutions.

During the year, the Group entered into new lease
agreements resulted in additions of right-of-use assets
amounting to HK$12,968,000 (2020: HK$29,234,000)
and lease liabilities amounting to HK$12,968,000 (2020:
HK$29,234,000).

38.

39.
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RERMETBHEENRE (A

FEE
RERZESAFERRNHERREREZE
RRTEE  AREEPERES IR DR
AHERERTIRAETY2IIMERERE
BEIR T RITATR DN 2 30 & A R o 48 540 B B UK
RBERBERIFRERS o

B BREPHGEARERERZFZENT

. REEFBHETHABETIFEKILE
HRER 2 BB RIBELS.4E
BLTEENSE - LI RABEZE2020
FNANBLEFEREZH ZR SR
A BEEEEHMERSFERDL
5.4{8%T 0 MEE2020F12A318 1t
FEMETHMBHRSFEENDS.4
AT &

D HZE2020F12A831BILFE » #B5EY
BI6SEBT IR EREIEREHE
HRERFEBEZ Y EERBERIERER
% o

FRERS

(i) #H=2021F12A31HIEF
B AEBRBYE BE
REHEABERERNBAREF
EENZE&EN 84
705,734,000 7T (2020 % :
1,106,741,00087T) °

[

(i) FR- MHEREZMBAZEERE
~ 7 606,222,000 jT (2020
£ : 765,418,000/ 70 ) 2@
MAEEe KB RERE
(I

FACAEBITUFEE
MEERENMEAEE E
12,968,000 % 7T ( 2020 & :
29,234,000 ) Rl EAE
12,968,000 % 7T ( 2020 4
29,234,000/ 7T) °

(iii)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

40. INFORMATION OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. A1 BB FR R E B
THE COMPANY

A summarised statement of financial position of the Company RARP20214F £ 20205F12 A 31
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: BzW iR ZaanT -
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries NG E =) 637,977 637,977
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE Y bt /B8 & R 5RIR 6,634,625 8,645,496
7,272,602 9,283,473
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG e 2,010,871 1,467,290
Other receivables & AT EL A BR 5Kk = 1
Bank balances IRITHE B 4,514 4,230
2,015,385 1,471,521
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables JE A1 L A BR 3R 6,739 4,457
Net current assets TEEEFEE 2,008,646 1,467,064
Net assets FEE 9,281,248 10,750,537
Share capital % A% 108,291 108,666
Reserves (note (i)) & (HEEG)) 6,850,143 8,319,057
Perpetual capital securities (note i) KB B ATE FH (M) 2,322,814 2,322,814
Total equity arEs 9,281,248 10,750,537
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12A31HILFE

40. INFORMATION OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40.
THE COMPANY (conTivuED)

KRB BARRER (&)

notes: PeE -
(i) Movements in reserves (i) HEEH
Share Contributed Retained Total
premium surplus profits reserve
&5 4 (8 BB BIF&H 1RiEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

At 1 January 2020 20201 A1H 30,858 634,977 5,170,683 5,836,518
Shares repurchased &7 B 1Bl K% 45

and cancelled - - (95,357) (95,357)
Profit and total comprehensive FERF K

income for the year HEmE - - 3,793,264 3,793,264
Profit and total comprehensive KEEARFFHFE AN

income for the year attributable to FEAMN KA EKZE

perpetual capital security holders - - (128,707) (128,707)
Dividends recognised as distributions #5243 E AL AL R

to ordinary shareholders DIRZIRE - - (1,086,661) (1,086,661)
At 31 December 2020 2020128318 30,858 634,977 7,653,222 8,319,057
Shares repurchased &7 B 1Bl K% 45

and cancelled - - (80,716) (80,716)
Profit and total comprehensive FEANRBEZENRE

income for the year - - 174,603 174,603
Profit and total comprehensive KEERFHFE AEL

income for the year attributable to FERAF R E2ERZ

perpetual capital security holders - - (128,409) (128,409)
Dividends recognised as distributions #5243 AL AL R

to ordinary shareholders DIRZIRE - - (1,434,392) (1,434,392)
At 31 December 2021 202146128318 30,858 634,977 6,184,308 6,850,143

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference RARZEHBAETIANRN T FEH2003
FOAZEBEMAMBREZHERARZ
BEREEFERERARARZKEM

BOTZBRAEEZZHE -

between the aggregate net tangible assets of the subsidiaries acquired by
the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in September 2003 and
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

40. INFORMATION OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. AP B ARRER (&
THE COMPANY (conTivuED)

notes: (Continued) M« (48)
(ii) Movements in perpetual capital securities (i) KBEEREFERZEE

HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2020 7A2020F181H 2,322,814

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year attributable to KBEERFBHIFE AR
perpetual capital security holders FERMRBEZE K 128,707
Distribution paid on perpetual capital securities B KEERFF DK (128,707)
At 31 December 2020 7A2020%12A31A8 2,322,814

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year attributable to KEBERFFHIFE AR
perpetual capital security holders FERBMRGEZE W 128,409
Distribution paid on perpetual capital securities B KEEREFF DK (128,409)
At 31 December 2021 720216128318 2,322,814
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

41. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 41. HEARBEEALRE

DISCLOSURES

TR ASEERBAL(ETAL
R R B AR BB T AR R AR AR 1 R R S
ALVETERR S - FREZFA

During the year, the Group had significant transactions with
related parties, certain of which are also deemed to be
connected parties pursuant to the Listing Rules. Significant

Shun Yilnternational (as defined in note 24)

Shun YiInternational (£ 2 R.i324)

Raw materials purchased by the Group

SEBERMH

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2021 Annual Report

833,846

transactions with these parties during the years are as follows: THTHEAZ SO ¢
(i) Related and connected party transactions (i) HEARBEALRS
2021 2020
Name of party Nature of transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
BEALER REME THET TET
Lee & Man Industrial Manufacturing Finished goods sold by the Group
Limited (note a) EEHERK R
BYEXABRRF (M) 605
Income from supply of steam and electricity
REZRRENZBA 533
Raw materials purchased by the Group
SEEERH 5,676
Lee & Man Paper Products Company Licence fee expenses incurred by the Group
Limited (note a) EEFARELH
By gmARAR (M) 3,441
LMC Group (as defined in note 24) Income from supply of steam and electricity
B TRE(ERRME24) RERRRENZBA 82,867 72,052
Raw materials purchased by the Group
SEBEERH 184,031 124,993
Rentalincome in respect of office spaces
NGl ON 2,168 1,817
Steam and electricity fee paid by the Group
EECNERREERBE 85,966 76,218
Rental fee paid by the Group
SEENES 2,623 2,092
Winfibre Group (note b) Agent fee paid by the Group
Winfibre5 & (F13tb) EEEAREE 41,731 53,815
OnWah (as defined in note 24) Raw materials purchased by the Group
ZE(TERMT24) SEBERH 8,254 267,423



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

41. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 41, HERBEEALRE &)
DISCLOSURES (conTinuED)
(i) Related and connected party transactions (i) HBERBEALRS (&)
(Continued)
Notes: B 5
(@) The entity is indirectly wholly owned by the spouse of Mr. Li King (@) RERBATEBEEZERMBOK
Wai Ross, who is a daughter of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a TAR2021F12 31 B HEEF
9.55% direct ordinary share holder of the Company as 31 BARRNAF.55%EBEIRRRFE
December 2021. Mr. Li King Wai Ross is a director of the BET R )EEE2EHRS °
Company. TRBEERRDAES o
(b)  The entities are ultimately controlled by Mr. Ng Yu Hung, a step (b) ZEBEMFERB (02021
brother of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick. Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick FI2AMBEEEFAARA
directly held 9.55% ordinary share capital of the Company as at 9.55% % BAKAL A ) 2 # 7 B {h
31 December 2021. TR FERATES
(if) In addition to the above, on 27 June 2021, pursuant to (i) B ECRritoh - 72021456
the “Share Acquisition Agreement” dated 21 June 2021, A278 © R B H A&2021
Able Might Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary Fe A2 A Z B R WE
of the Company, completed acquisition of: (i) 49% equity KApRlzBEZEMNB A
interests in Shunying from Mr. Lee Man Bun at cash 7] Able Might Limited 5& X
consideration of US$490,000; and (ii) the loans advanced T E - WA BEERE
by Mr. Lee Man Bun and Ms. Roletta Lee Man Ching to 490,000 3 7T M) 2 3R 5 A& i
Shunying amounting to US$37,598,840.82 and B8 Shunying 49% A% # (i) XA
US$13,192,694.54, respectively, at cash consideration 4 R EA £ 50,791,535.36
aggregating to US$50,791,535.36. Further details of this ETKRBEXREERT X
acquisition are set out in notes 4 and 42 (ii). 182 + 5 5l 8 T Shunying

2 B 337,598,840.82% T &
13,192,694.54 % 7T » It T UK
BrE-DSHBIHNMTIR
42(iii) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

41. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 41. ‘BB BEEA TIHE (2)

DISCLOSURES (conminuep)

(iii) Related and connected party balances (iii) MHERBEALER
Details of the Group's outstanding balances with related RNEEEMEHEALTREIT AR
parties who are also the connected parties are set out in EATZREREHRFTHEIEL
the consolidated statement of financial position and note RE SRR R R EE24 o
24.

(iv) Compensation of key management (iv) EEEEERSFHMN
personnel
The remunerations of the directors and other members of EEREMETEEREXNER
key management during the years were as follows: FAZMEIAT :

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Short-term benefits EHEAE T 50,702 46,775
Post-employment benefits BRIREF 18 18

46,793
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REPBHRRMWE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021412H31H 1L F/Z

42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. ZRTREEMBARFE
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December AAREEZMBERAINR2021F &
2021 and 2020 are as follows: 202012 A31BMEERT -

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of

establishment/ issued and fully paid

registration share capital/

and operations registered capital Proportion ownership
Name of subsidiary AL/ RY/ BRARMERARE/ interest held by the Company Principal activities
HEARZR BUREEHE g ARARBEARLA IERH

Directly Indirectly
B 53
2020

Able Advance International Limited British Virgin Islands (notei) ~ Ordinary shares - US$4 - Investment holding

EBRRBS (M) RR—1ET RERR
Able Might Limited ("Able Might")  Hong Kong Ordinary share - HK$100 100%  Investment holding

(3 LBR—10087 RERR
Grand Fortress Global Limited British Virgin Islands (note i)~ Ordinary shares-US§100 100%  Investmentholding
BERERERAR ABRAES (M) LER—100%7 RERRK

Lee & Man Industries Company Limited  British Virgin Islands (notei) ~ Ordinary share - US$ 1 100%  Investment holding

EREEs(H) LERk—1%n REBR
Million Profit Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares - HK$100 100%  Investment holding
EEREERLAT i LRAR—100%T RERR
Vantage Dragon Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares - HK§2 100%  Investmentholding
FEERAR i LRk—2ET RERR
Lee Kwok Trading Limited Macau MOP100,000 100%  Procurement of raw
(formerly known as Lee Kwok 7R $2FI%100,000 materials
(Macao Commercial Offshore) RERH
Trading Limited)
MEEZERAA (HREAE
(RFEFEZRE)EHERAR)
Wang Kei Trading Limited Macau MOP100,000 100%  Procurement of raw
(formerly known as Wang Kei A $2FI%100,000 materials
(Macao Commercial Offshore) RERH
Trading Limited)

LEESARLT(HREE
(RPEREZRR)E5ERAR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021412H31H 1L F/Z

42 . PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. ARRFENB LA RFHB &)
OF THE COMPANY (conTinUED)

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of

establishment/ issued and fully paid

registration share capital/

and operations registered capital Proportion ownership
Name of subsidiary ML/ %L/ BRTRARKAEE/ interest held by the Company Principal activities
HEARAR BRREELY &R ADRFEEEELH IEER

Directly Indirectly
B B
2020

REEVEIRERAR The PRC (note i) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturingand
(Dongguan Lee & Man Paper E (Fsii) US§156,480,000 trading of paper
Factory Co. Ltd) HhEr— REEERES

156,480,000% T

BREVESAERAA The PRC (note i) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturingand
(Guangdong Lee & Man Paper R (W) US$683,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) HhEs— REEERES

683,000,000% T

ITHEELER AR The PRC (note i) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturingand
(liangsu Lee & Man Paper B (R i) U5$393,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Company Limited) HAMEs— REEERES

393,000,000%

IRENERERAH The PRC (noteii) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturingand
(Jiangxi Lee & Man Paper B (H3Hil) US$200,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) HEA— RELERES

200,000,000% T

EREVERARAR The PRC (noteii) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturingand
(Chongging Lee & Man Paper HE (Wiski) US$352,430,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) fEs— RELERES

352,430,000% T

EEEVHRERDA The PRC (noteii) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturing and
(Chongging Lee & Man Pulp B (HsHii) US$ 172,830,000 trading of pulp
Manufacturing Limited) HMEA— HREERES

172,830,000% 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021412H31H 1L F/Z

42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (conTinUED)

Place of incorporation/
establishment/

Nominal value of
issued and fully paid

42. XPBEEMB L AFSEE)

registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership
Name of subsidiary ERRYL/ &Y/ EETRARKARE/ interest held by the Company Principal activities
HEARAR BEREERY Eai-e ARAFSRARLA E:3 3
Directly Indirectly
E# 53
2020
RN EERERERRAA The PRC (note i) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturingand
(Chongging Lee & Man Tissue B (F3Hii) US§425,000,000 trading of tissue
Manufacturing Limited) Hfar— products
425,000,000% 7 FEBEERRS
Jenson Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share - HK§ 1 100%  Manufacturing of
ERERERLA A Lak—18T pulp board
FiRLE
Best Eternity Recycle Technology Malaysia Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturingand
Sdn. Bhd. SRED MYR3,184,147,261 trading of paper
(BERRHBEERAR) itfhar— REEERES
3,184,147,0615%
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing  British Virgin Islands Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturingand
Limited EERAES US$303,000,000 trading of paper
Rl S REZERES
303,000,000%
Shunying Kingdom of Cambodia Registered capital - - Production plant
("Cambodia”) (note ii) US$1,000,000 under construction
RERIB(RER]) (st in) sFHEx— ERPEERR
1,000,000% 7
Notes: Bt
[0) These companies operate in Hong Kong. (i) ZENRERBEE -

(ii) These companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the

PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12A31HILFE

42 . PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (conTinuED)

Notes: (Continued)

270

(iii)

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited

On 27 June 2021, pursuant to the “Share Acquisition Agreement” dated
21 June 2021, Able Might completed acquisition of: (i) 49% equity
interests in Shunying from Mr. Lee Man Bun at cash consideration of
US$490,000; and (i) the loans advanced by Mr. Lee Man Bun and Ms.
Roletta Lee Man Ching to Shunying amounting to US$37,598,840.82 and
US$13,192,694.54, respectively, at cash consideration aggregating to
US$50,791,535.36. Besides, Able Might and Cambodian Registered
Owners (as defined in note 4) (who hold 51% equity interests in
Shunying) entered into VIE Documents for setting up variable interest
entity structure of Shunying. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
are of the view that the control and enjoyment of economic benefits of
Shunying have been conferred to Able Might and Shunying is considered
as an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Further
information is also set out in note 4.

On completion of Able Might's acquisition of Shunying, Shunying did not
commence any operation/business and proposed to purchase a piece of
land in Cambodia for construction of factory and port and its major assets
and liabilities of Shunying represented a refundable deposit for purchasing
land use right in Cambodia and loans advanced from Mr. Lee Man Bun
and Ms. Roletta Lee Man Ching. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company concluded that Able Might's acquisition of Shunying is
accounted for as asset acquisition.

42. XPBEEMB L AFSEE)

Misk : ()

(i)  FA2021F6H278 - RIEBHAE2021
FeA21BZBRIGF - AAREES
& Mt B A 7] Able Might Limited 58 B¢
s : () AR £ B 490,000% LA
2= 3O 78 A WBE Shunying 49% R &
KA B &R EE $£50,791,535.36%
TZWHEZSOR £ RFELZ L5 B
B4 F Shunying 2 E3X37,598,840.82
X 7T ] 13,192,694.54E 7T © W 5h >
Able Might BRI RE LD EA A (EE
B H5E4) (E45 A Shunying 51% % 1)
FEI A E A EE Y - I Shunying
MEREEEEERE Al ARRES
RA - ShunyingZ IEHIREREZEE 2 &5
Fz5 2 &% F Able Might » M Shunying##
VERARRZBE2EWB AR - #£—
HE BRI 54 o

Able Might 58 AX #& #& Shunying %% -
Shunyingit KFIR ML 555 - I
BRRBEBE BRI A IEERREE
E#&O - ERShunyingz T Z2EE K
BEABERBREY THEREZ TR
BRe RFOREERTEL LT EN
ZEF A NRARERZERA
Able MightYt#EShunying A BR & & & I

fE o
Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition REBEREIANEERARE
HK$'000
FHIT
Refundable deposit ARERS 391,280
Bank balances and cash IRITEMREER S 6,845
Loans advanced from Mr. Lee Man Bun and FORFERFEZLRNT
Ms. Roletta Lee Man Ching to Shunying ShunyingZ &5k (394,321)
3,804
Loans advanced from Mr. Lee Man Bun and FORFERFEL RN T
Ms. Roletta Lee Man Ching to Shunying purchased B Shunying 2 &3¢ 394,321
Total consideration transferred EERANE 398,125
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition of Shunying WHBShunying TEE ZFHRER M
HK$'000
FHIT
Consideration paid in cash UNR&ZRHRE 398,125
Less: bank balances and cash acquired W T 2 SRITRER R IR E (6,845)
Net cash outflow FHRE M 391,280
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

42 . PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. RABEEMWEB LA RIFE &)
OF THE COMPANY (conTinuED)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in FRIEBEERRIEZELRE
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect EXENEERAGENARRDTMNE
the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details NAl-BEFRA  HNLEMHBA
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of ANFBEFEANTENTE -

the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at RERIFAEMER - SHEAQ
the end of the year, or at any time during both years. AMEARNAREENEEES
43. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 43. HE—RBHE A A
In 8 December 2021, the Group disposed of its entire 100% of 202112888 » XEBELEE
equity interests in EFEX/LEHHARAR ("EIRILE"), EREAEXLEHHEAFR DA
its principal activities involved in research and development on (TEFEbE ) 228 100% X #
chemical fibre and property management, to an independent T-EZBIUE=ZF BHeRER
third party at a cash consideration of HK$118,380,000. The net 118,380,000 87 ' ZRFAIZEE
assets of EEFE{L4 at the date of disposal were as follows: XBLRMBELLBEERDES
B EALCERNLEERRFEE
LU
Consideration received: 2 WAAE :
HK$'000
FHETT
Cash received EWRE 118,380
Analysis of assets and liabilities which control KREEZHEZEERBBIN
was lost:
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment (note 17) WE - BB REEME17) 43,757
Right-of-use assets FREEE 31,675
Other receivables JREE L L A B K 16,466
Bank balances and cash RITRBR IR ® 5,218
Net assets disposal of HeE 7 BEE 97,116
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # Z2021F12H31HIFFE

43. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (conTINUED) 43. HE—RBHEB AR (&)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & Mt B A B aE
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration received EWRE 118,380
Net assets disposed of HEZFEE (97,116)
Gain on disposal HE s 21,264
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEEEZFRERA
HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration HeRE 118,380
Less: bank balances and cash disposed B BEHERITERKIAS (5,218)
Net cash inflow FIRERA 113,162
44. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 44, H{EBEEIE
For the period from 3 January 2022 to 28 January 2022, an M2022F 138 E202241 A28H
aggregate of 11,659,000 ordinary shares of the Company were HiR - AR REIA R 11,659,000
repurchased at an aggregate cost of HK$63,220,000. fig & imA% - 48R /63,220,000
5T e
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5th Floor, Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Tel: 2319 9889 Fax: 2319 9393
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